
THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

The definitions and interpretations commencing on page  12 of this Circular apply throughout this Circular, 
including this cover page (unless the context indicates otherwise).

Action required by PN2 Shareholders

This entire Circular is important and should be read with particular attention to the section entitled “Action Required 
by PN2 Shareholders”, which commences on page 7.

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take arising from this Circular, please consult Singular Services, 
your banker, legal advisor or other professional advisor immediately.  If you have any questions regarding this 
Circular, please contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 on weekdays from 07:00 to 18:00 (excluding public holidays).

PN2 and its advisors do not accept responsibility, and will not be held liable, for any action of, or omission 
by, Singular Services including, without limitation, any failure on the part of Singular Services, to notify any 
beneficial owner of PN2 Shares of the transactions set out in this Circular or to take any action on behalf of 
such beneficial owner.

Equity Express Securities Exchange Proprietary Limited (“EESE”) takes no responsibility for the contents of this 
Circular or any other documents published by PN2 and any amendments or any supplements to the aforementioned 
documents. EESE makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any of the aforementioned 
documents and expressly disclaims any liability for any loss arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part 
of the aforementioned documents. EESE’s approval of this Circular is not to be taken in any way as an indication of 
the merits of the issuer or of any of the PN2 Shares and that, to the extent permitted by law, EESE will not be liable 
for any claim whatsoever.

Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2006/015187/06)
Ordinary short code: EXPN1

Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2006/036320/06)
Ordinary short code: EXPN2

CIRCULAR TO PN2 SHAREHOLDERS

regarding, amongst others:

• a Scheme of Arrangement in terms of section 114 of the Companies Act, proposed by the PN2 Independent Board 
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• the delisting of PN2 Shares from EESE (the “PN2 Delisting”); and
• proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI;

and incorporating:
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• a report prepared by the Independent Expert in relation to the Scheme, prepared in terms of section 114(3) 
of the Companies Act and regulation 90 of the Companies Regulations;

• a statement of Dissenting Shareholders’ Appraisal Rights in terms of section 164(2) of the Companies Act;
• extracts of, amongst others, sections 114 and 115 of the Companies Act, dealing with the approvals 

required for fundamental transactions (which include Schemes of Arrangement), and section 164 of the 
Companies Act, dealing with Dissenting Shareholders’ Appraisal Rights; and

• pro forma financial information for PN1 and a report prepared by the Independent Reporting Accountant in 
relation to such pro forma financial information.
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available on the PN2 website (www.phuthumanathi.co.za) during the same period. Copies of this Circular are available in the English 
language only.
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

In 2006 and 2007, Naspers Limited (“Naspers”) undertook one of the largest B-BBEE transactions in South Africa 
by enabling the acquisition of a stake in MCSA by black investors. Naspers arranged, structured and funded the sale 
of a 20% interest in MCSA to black investors through PN1 and PN2 (collectively, the “PN Entities”). Through the 
PN Entities, MCSA has provided long-term, far-reaching benefits to B-BBEE shareholders with nearly R12 billion 
paid in dividends since inception. In 2018, to underpin the MCG and Naspers commitment to broad, socio-economic 
transformation and B-BBEE, Naspers and MCG allocated an additional 5% stake in MCSA to the PN Entities for no 
consideration. The PN Entities currently hold a 25% shareholding in MCSA. In this regard, PN1 holds 16.7% of 
MCSA’s ordinary shares, while PN2 hold 8.3% of MCSA’s ordinary shares. Both the PN Entities are public companies 
listed on EESE, a securities exchange specifically created to look after the needs of B-BBEE schemes. The PN Entities 
are holding companies created to hold MCSA ordinary shares on behalf of their shareholders and to receive and 
distribute dividends to their shareholders.

The proposed Scheme involves a simplification of the current PN structure whereby PN1 will acquire the entire 
issued share capital of PN2. PN2 will be delisted from EESE and subsequently wound up and deregistered. The PN2 
Shareholders will be given shares in PN1 in exchange for their shares in PN2. PN1 will continue to be listed on 
EESE. In consideration for their shares in PN2, PN2 Shareholders will receive one new PN1 Share in exchange for 
each PN2 Share held.

It is envisaged that a combination of the PN Entities will simplify the administrative burden and lead to a reduction 
of ongoing costs of administration relative to the underlying asset base (being the combined pool of MCSA shares 
to be housed in PN1 following completion of the Scheme). In addition, a combination of the PN Entities, will allow 
MCSA to apply the “modified flow through” (“MFT”) principle (in terms of the applicable B-BBEE Legislation) to the 
combined PN Entity, if it is verified that none of the PN shareholders have themselves applied MFT in the calculation 
of their own black ownership. This would allow MCSA to improve its direct B-BBEE ownership percentage.

Given the benefits to all parties of a single combined PN entity, MCG has recommended a merger of the PN Entities 
to the board of directors of each of the PN Entities. Should both the board of directors of each of the PN Entities be 
agreeable to the proposed Scheme, the most efficient and tax neutral way to combine the PN Entities is for the PN2 
Independent Board to propose a scheme of arrangement (“Scheme”) to the PN2 Shareholders, which if approved will 
result in the combination of the PN Entities into a single entity. The Scheme is separate to the MCG Offer and the 
MCG Offer is not conditional on the outcome of the proposed Scheme between the PN Entities.

Given the benefits to all parties of a single combined PN entity and having regard to the opinion of the 
Independent Expert that the terms and conditions of the Scheme are fair and reasonable to PN2 Shareholders, 
the PN2 Independent Board recommends that PN2 Shareholders VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme. All the PN2 
Directors to the extent that they own or control PN2 Shares, intend to VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme.
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WE SET OUT BELOW RESPONSES TO FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS WHICH MAY ASSIST YOU WITH 
YOUR DECISION ON WHETHER OR NOT TO VOTE IN FAVOUR OF THE SCHEME

What is a scheme of arrangement?

A scheme of arrangement is an agreement between a company, acting through its board of directors, and its 
shareholders. A scheme can be used to effect the merger or combination of two companies. This Scheme is being 
implemented to combine PN1 and PN2. To do this, PN1 will acquire all the shares in PN2 from the PN2 Shareholders. 
The PN2 Shareholders will be given shares in PN1 in exchange for their shares in PN2. PN1 will continue to be listed 
on EESE. In consideration for their shares in PN2, PN2 Shareholders will receive one new PN1 Share in exchange 
for each PN2 Share held.

How was the exchange ratio of one PN1 Share for one PN2 Share determined?

Both PN1 and PN2 own the same underlying asset, being shares in MCSA. The ratio of the issued share capital 
of PN1 and PN2 relative to their shareholdings in MCSA is the same. The value of a PN1 Share is therefore in all 
material respects the same as the value of a PN2 Share.

Why is the PN2 Board proposing a Scheme? What are the benefits of the Scheme?

The combination of the PN Entities will result in one listed entity with a single share price. The combination of the 
two PN Entities will simplify the administrative burden and lead to a reduction of ongoing costs of administration 
relative to the underlying asset base of PN. In addition, a combination of PN1 and PN2, will potentially allow MCSA 
to apply the MFT principle to the combined PN Entity in the calculation of its own black ownership. This would allow 
MCSA to improve its direct B-BBEE ownership percentage.

Why does the PN2 MOI need to change?

Various amendments are required to be made to the PN2 MOI in order to facilitate, among others, the implementation 
of the MCG Offer. Additionally, as MCG was unbundled from Naspers Limited, various references to MIH Holdings 
Limited (“MIHH”) (a Naspers Limited group company) and to the preference shares issued to MIHH must be removed 
and, in certain instances, replaced with references to MCG in order to be reflective of the present shareholding of MCSA.

In terms of the Companies Act and the PN2 MOI, any amendments to the PN2 MOI will require shareholder 
approval by way of special resolution and accordingly, the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is required in order for PN2 
Shareholders to consider and, if deemed fit, approve the proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI.

Why do I have to vote on the Scheme?

A general meeting of PN2 Shareholders needs to be held for the purpose of considering and voting on the resolution 
required to approve and implement the combination of the PN Entities, which includes enabling PN1 to acquire the 
PN2 Shares from PN2 Shareholders. A separate resolution has also been proposed to make certain amendments to 
the PN2 MOI in order to accommodate and effect the MCG Offer.

How do I vote?

If you want to vote on the resolutions to be considered at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, you may either:

• contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 on weekdays from 07:00 to 18:00 (excluding public holidays) to advise 
how you wish to cast your votes (or abstain from casting your votes) at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and 
thereafter Singular Services will cast your votes (or abstain from casting your votes) in accordance with your 
instructions; or

• make use of the online voting platform to indicate how you wish to cast your votes (or abstain from casting 
your votes) at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and thereafter Singular Services will cast your votes (or abstain 
from casting your votes) in accordance with your online instructions. This online facility is free of charge and 
is available on the internet. To make use of the voting facility, PN2 Shareholders are required to register for the 
service, via the EESE Website at www.EESE.co.za. You will use your username and password to login to the voting 
platform. PN2 Shareholders will also be able to view and download a user guide explaining how to use the online 
process on the Company’s website as well as on the EESE website at www.EESE.co.za. The online voting platform 
will be available from 09:00 on Wednesday, 25 September 2019 until 17:00 on Friday, 18 October 2019; or

• advise Singular Services in accordance with your mandate if you wish to attend or participate at the PN2 
Shareholders’ Meeting and Singular Services will issue the necessary letter of representation to you to attend the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

Where do shareholders get assistance if needed?

Shareholders can call the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 on weekdays from 07:00 to 18:00 (excluding public holidays).

What are the tax implications for PN2 Shareholders when they vote in favour of the Scheme?

The Scheme is expected to be tax neutral for the PN2 Shareholders as well as the PN Entities. PN2 Shareholders may 
rely on the provisions of section 42 of the Income Tax Act in respect of the Scheme. This section provides relief from 
income tax and CGT which may ordinarily be payable in respect of a transaction of the nature contemplated in the 
Scheme. PN2 Shareholders are referred to Annexure 5 to this Circular for information on the taxation consequences 
relating to the Scheme.
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IMPORTANT LEGAL NOTES

This Circular has been prepared for the purposes of complying with the Companies Act, the Takeover Regulations 
published in terms thereof and the Listings Requirements (each as applicable), and the information disclosed may 
not be the same as that which would have been disclosed if this Circular had been prepared in accordance with the 
laws and regulations of any jurisdiction outside of South Africa or the listings requirements of any other stock 
exchange. The release, publication or distribution of this Circular in jurisdictions other than South Africa may 
be restricted by law and therefore any persons who are subject to the laws of any jurisdiction other than South 
Africa should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable requirements or restrictions. Any failure to 
comply with the applicable requirements or restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such 
jurisdiction. This Circular is not intended to, and does not constitute, or form part of, an offer to sell or an invitation 
to purchase or subscribe for any securities or a solicitation of any vote or approval, including in any jurisdiction 
where such offer, invitation or solicitation would be unlawful. PN2 Shareholders are advised to read this Circular, 
which contains the terms and conditions of the Scheme, with care. Any decision to approve the Scheme and/or other 
response to the proposals contained herein should be made only on the basis of the information in this Circular.

The Scheme is governed by the laws of South Africa and is subject to any applicable laws and regulations, including 
the Companies Act and the Takeover Regulations.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Circular contains statements about the PN Entities that are, or may be, forward-looking statements. All statements 
(other than statements of historical fact) are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements, including, without 
limitation, those concerning: strategy; the economic outlook for the industry; production; cash costs and other 
operating results; growth prospects and outlook for operations, individually or in the aggregate liquidity, capital 
resources and expenditure and the outcome and consequences of any pending litigation proceedings. These forward-
looking statements are not based on historical facts, but rather reflect current expectations concerning future results 
and events and generally may be identified by the use of forward-looking words or phrases such as “believe”, “aim”, 
“expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “foresee”, “forecast”, “likely”, “should”, “planned”, “may”, “estimated”, “potential” 
or similar words and phrases. Examples of forward-looking statements include statements regarding a future 
financial position or future profits, cash flows, corporate strategy, anticipated levels of growth, estimates of capital 
expenditures, acquisition strategy, expansion prospects or future capital expenditure levels and other economic 
factors, such as, inter alia, interest rates.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend 
on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Many of these risks and uncertainties relate to factors 
that are beyond the PN Entities’ ability to control or estimate precisely, such as changes in taxation, future market 
conditions, currency fluctuations, the actions of governmental regulators and other risk factors. The PN Entities 
caution that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Actual results, financial and 
operating conditions, liquidity and the developments within the industry in which the PN Entities operate or may 
be exposed to may differ materially from those made in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained 
in this Circular.

All these forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions, as regards PN2, made by PN2 or, as 
regards PN1, made by PN1, as communicated in publicly available documents by the respective companies, all of which 
estimates and assumptions, although PN1 and/or PN2 believe them to be reasonable, are inherently uncertain. Such 
estimates, assumptions or statements may not eventuate. Factors which may cause the actual results, performance 
or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied in those statements or assumptions include other matters not yet known to PN1 and/or PN2 or not currently 
considered material by PN1 and/or PN2.

PN2 Shareholders should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made in this Circular or elsewhere 
is applicable only at the date on which such forward-looking statement is made. New factors that could cause the 
business of either PN1 and/or PN2 not to develop as expected may emerge from time to time and it is not possible 
to predict all of them. Further, the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results 
to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement is not known. PN1 and/or PN2 have no 
duty to, and do not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements contained in this Circular after the 
date of this Circular, except as may be required by law.

No statement in this Circular is intended as a profit forecast or a profit estimate and no statement in this Circular 
should be interpreted to mean that earnings per PN1 and/or PN2 Share for the current or future financial years 
would necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings per PN1 and/or PN2 Share. Prices and values 
of, and income from, shares may decrease as well as increase and an investor may not get back the amount invested. 
It should be noted that past performance is no guide to future performance. Persons needing advice should consult 
an independent financial advisor.

Any forward-looking statement has not been reviewed nor reported on by the external auditors.
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ACTION REQUIRED BY PN2 SHAREHOLDERS

The definitions and interpretations commencing on page 12 of this Circular apply to this “Action required by 
PN2 Shareholders” section of the Circular. 

This Circular is important and requires your immediate attention. The action you need to take is set out below. 
If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take, please consult Singular Services, your banker, legal 
advisor or other professional advisor immediately. If you have any questions regarding this Circular, please 
contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 on weekdays from 07:00 to 18:00 (excluding public holidays).

A general meeting of PN2 Shareholders will be held at 12:00 on Monday, 21 October 2019 at MultiChoice City, 
144  Bram Fischer Drive, Ferndale, Randburg, South Africa for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the resolutions required to authorise and effect the implementation of the 
Scheme by the PN Entities, which includes enabling PN1 to acquire the PN2 Shares from Scheme Participants in 
terms of a Scheme of Arrangement under section 114(1) of the Companies Act. A resolution has also been proposed 
to make certain amendments to the PN2 MOI in order to accommodate and effect the MCG Offer. A Notice convening 
the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is attached to, and forms part of, this Circular.

You should carefully read through this Circular and decide how you wish to vote on the resolutions to be proposed 
at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. The PN2 Independent Board recommends that you VOTE IN FAVOUR of the 
Scheme Resolution. All the PN2 Directors to the extent that they own or control PN2 Shares, intend to VOTE IN 
FAVOUR of the Scheme.

ACTION REQUIRED BY PN2 SHAREHOLDERS

1. Voting at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting

1.1 If you wish to vote on the resolutions to be considered at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, you may either:

1.1.1 contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 during 07:00 to 18:00 on weekdays (excluding public 
holidays) to advise how you wish to cast your votes (or abstain from casting your votes) at the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and thereafter Singular Services will cast your votes (or abstain from 
casting your votes) in accordance with your instructions; or

1.1.2 make use of the online voting platform to indicate how you wish to cast your votes (or abstain from 
casting your votes) at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and thereafter Singular Services will cast 
your votes (or abstain from casting your votes) in accordance with your online instructions. This 
online facility is free of charge and is available on the internet. To make use of the voting facility, 
PN2 Shareholders are required to register for the service, via the EESE Website at www.EESE.co.za. 
You will use your username and password to login to the voting platform. PN2  Shareholders 
will also be able to view and download a user guide explaining how to use the online process on 
the Company’s website as well as on the EESE Website at www.EESE.co.za. The online voting 
platform will be available from 09:00 on Wednesday, 25 September 2019 until 17:00 on Friday, 
18 October 2019; or

1.1.3 advise Singular Services in accordance with your mandate if you wish to attend or participate at the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and Singular Services will issue the necessary letter of representation 
to you to attend the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

1.2 If Singular Services does not obtain voting instructions from you (whether through the Call Centre or the 
online  voting platform), it will not take any action (voting or otherwise) in relation to your PN2 Shares.

1.3 You should be aware that if the Scheme is approved by the requisite majority of PN2 Shareholders (being 
75% of those PN2 Shareholders present and voting at a quorate PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting) and the 
Scheme subsequently becomes operative and is implemented, you will be bound by the terms of the Scheme 
regardless of whether you abstained from, or voted in favour of or against, the Scheme Resolution. In that 
case, you will:

1.3.1 be deemed to have transferred all of your PN2 Shares to PN1, without taking any action; and

1.3.2 in consideration for the transfer of your PN2  Shares to PN1, receive PN1  Shares in the 
Entitlement Ratio.
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2. ATTENDANCE AND REPRESENTATION AT THE PN2 SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

You must advise Singular Services in accordance with your mandate if you wish to attend the PN2 Shareholders’ 
Meeting and Singular Services will issue the necessary letter of representation to you to attend the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. PN2 Shareholders are encouraged to contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 
during 07:00 to 18:00 on workdays (excluding public holidays) if you wish to be present at or participate in the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

3. SETTLEMENT OF PN1 SHARES IN TERMS OF THE SCHEME

3.1 If the Scheme becomes operative and is implemented, Scheme Participants’ accounts at Singular Services 
will automatically be updated to reflect the receipt of PN1 Shares in proportion with the Entitlement Ratio 
and the transfer of their PN2 Shares to PN1. You do not need to take any action in this regard.

3.2 As a result of the Entitlement Ratio being on a one PN1 Share for one PN2 Share basis, no rounding down 
and paying out of fractions is applicable.

3.3 Should the Scheme not become operative, you will retain your PN2 Shares and will not be entitled to 
receive PN1 Shares or exercise your Appraisal Rights.

4. GENERAL

4.1 Approval of the Scheme at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting

The Scheme must be approved by a special resolution, in accordance with section  115(2)(a) of the 
Companies  Act, at the PN2  Shareholders’  Meeting, at which sufficient PN2  Shareholders are present 
to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of all the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised at the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. In order to be approved, the Scheme Resolution must be supported by at least 
75% of voting rights exercised thereon.

4.2 Court approval

PN2 Shareholders are advised that, in accordance with section 115(3) of the Companies Act, PN2 may 
in certain circumstances not proceed to implement the Scheme Resolution, despite the fact that it will 
have been adopted at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, without the approval of the Court. Such Court 
approval, if required, is also a Scheme Condition Precedent. A brief overview of section 115(3) is contained 
in paragraph 6.7 of this Circular.

A copy of section 115 of the Companies Act pertaining to the required approval for the Scheme is set out 
in Annexure 6 to this Circular.

4.3 Delisting of PN2 listing on EESE

Subject to the approval of the Scheme by PN2 Shareholders and the remaining Scheme Conditions Precedent 
being satisfied on or before Thursday, 24 October 2019, it is currently contemplated that PN2’s listing will 
be terminated with effect from commencement of trade on EESE on Monday, 4 November 2019.

The last day to trade in PN2 Shares in order to be recorded in the Register on the Scheme Consideration 
Record Date, will be Friday, 1 November 2019, being the Scheme LDT.

4.4 Electronic participation at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting

PN2 Shareholders may participate in the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting by way of a teleconference call and, 
if they wish to do so:

• must contact the Company Secretary (by email at the address Donna.Dickson@multichoice.co.za) by 
no later than 12:00 on Friday, 11 October 2019 in order to obtain a pin number and dial-in details for 
that conference call;

• will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification; and

• will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for their telephone call to participate 
in the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting,

provided that PN2 Shareholders will not be able to vote telephonically at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

4.5 Non-resident Shareholders

4.5.1 This Circular and any accompanying documentation is not intended to, and does not constitute, 
or form part of, an offer to sell or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for any securities or a 
solicitation of any vote or approval in any jurisdiction in which it is illegal to make such an offer, 
invitation or solicitation, or such offer, invitation or solicitation would require PN1 and/or PN2 
to comply with filing and/or other regulatory obligations. In those circumstances, this Circular 
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and any accompanying documentation are sent for information purposes only and should not be 
copied or redistributed.

4.5.2 Each PN2 Shareholder who has a registered address outside South Africa and/or who is a resident 
of a country other than South Africa must satisfy themselves as to the full observance of the laws 
of any applicable territory concerning the receipt of PN1 Shares in terms of the Scheme, including 
obtaining any requisite governmental or other consents, observing any other requisite formalities 
and paying any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such territory. None of PN1, PN2 or their 
respective advisors accepts any responsibility for the failure by a PN2 Shareholder to inform 
itself about, and/or to observe, any applicable legal requirements in any relevant jurisdiction. 
PN2 Shareholders who are in any doubt as to their position should consult their professional 
advisors.

4.5.3 This Circular shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in 
the United States of America (“United States”). Securities may not be offered or sold in the United 
States or to or for the account or benefit of a person located in the United States absent registration 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“U.S. Securities Act”) or pursuant to an exemption 
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. 
The securities to which this Circular relate have not been, and will not be, registered under the 
U.S. Securities Act, or the securities laws of any state of the United States or other jurisdiction. 
There will be no public offering of securities in the United States or any other jurisdiction.

4.5.4 This Circular and any other material in relation to the securities described herein is only directed 
at, and any investment or investment activity to which this Circular relate is available only to, and 
will be engaged in only with persons: (i) outside the United Kingdom; or (ii) having professional 
experience in matters relating to investments who fall within the definition of “investment 
professionals” in Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) 
Order 2005 (“Order”); or (iii) who are high net worth entities falling within Articles 49(2)(a) to 
49(2)(d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as “Relevant Persons”). Persons 
who are not Relevant Persons should not take any action on the basis of this Circular and should 
not act or rely on it.

4.5.5 This Circular does not constitute an offer of securities to any person with a registered address 
in, or who is resident in, Canada, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore or Australia. No securities have 
or will be registered under the relevant laws of any state, province or territory of Canada, Japan, 
Hong Kong, Singapore or Australia. The distribution of this Circular in certain jurisdictions 
may be restricted by applicable law and therefore persons in such jurisdictions into which this 
Circular are released, published or distributed should inform themselves about and observe such 
restrictions.

4.6 TRP approval

The TRP approval relates only to the Scheme and not to the proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI or 
the MCG Offer. PN2 Shareholders should further take note that the TRP does not consider commercial 
advantages or disadvantages of the affected transactions when it approves such transactions.

4.7 Other

4.7.1 The contents of this Circular do not purport to constitute personal legal or tax advice or to 
comprehensively deal with the legal, regulatory and tax implications of the Scheme or any 
other matter for each PN2  Shareholder. PN2  Shareholders are accordingly advised to consult 
their professional advisors about their personal legal, regulatory and tax positions regarding the 
Scheme or any other matter and in particular the receipt of PN1 Shares in terms of the Scheme, 
as applicable.

4.7.2 None of the PN  Entities and their respective boards of directors and their advisors accepts 
responsibility and will not be held liable for any act of, or omission by Singular Services, including, 
without limitation, any failure on the part of Singular Services to notify any beneficial owner of 
PN2 Shares of the transactions set out in this Circular or to take any action on behalf of such 
beneficial owner.

5. DISSENTING SHAREHOLDERS

A PN2 Shareholder who is eligible to vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is entitled to seek relief under 
section 164 of the Companies Act if that PN2 Shareholder notified PN2 in advance in writing of its intention 
to oppose the Scheme Resolution, was present at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, voted against the Scheme 
Resolution and thereafter complied with the procedural requirements of section 164 of the Companies Act, 
which includes sending a demand to the Company as contemplated in section 164(5) of the Companies Act. An 
explanation of the PN2 Shareholder Appraisal Rights is contained in paragraph 6.6 of this Circular.

Extracts of sections 114, 115 and 164 of the Companies Act, pertaining to Dissenting Shareholders’ Appraisal 
Rights, are set out in Annexure 6 to this Circular.
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IMPORTANT DATES AND TIMES

2019

Record date to determine which PN2 Shareholders are eligible to receive the Circular Friday, 13 September

Circular and Notice convening the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting released on EESE-News 
and the Company’s website Monday, 16 September

Circular and Notice convening the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting posted to PN2 
Shareholders Friday, 20 September

Last day to trade and record date to be eligible to vote at the PN2 
Shareholders’ Meeting, being the Voting Record Date Friday, 11 October

Last date and time for PN2 Shareholders to give notice of their objections to the 
Scheme Resolution by no later than 12:00 Monday, 21 October

PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting to be held at 12:00 at MultiChoice City, 
144 Bram Fischer Drive, Ferndale, Randburg, South Africa Monday, 21 October

Company to send notice of the passing of the Scheme Resolution, 
in terms of section 164(4) of the Companies Act Tuesday, 22 October

Receive compliance certificate from the TRP on or before Thursday, 24 October

If: (i) the Scheme Resolution is passed by the requisite majority of PN2 
Shareholders at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting; and (ii) all other Scheme 
Conditions Precedent are fulfilled or waived (to the extent applicable)

Finalisation Date and delisting announcement expected to be released on EESE-News 
and the Company’s website Friday, 25 October

Last day for Scheme Shareholders who voted against the Scheme to require PN2 to 
seek Court approval for the Scheme in terms of section 115(3)(a) of the Companies Act Monday, 28 October

Expected Scheme LDT, being the last day to trade PN2 Shares on EESE in order to be 
recorded in the Register on the Scheme Consideration Record Date to receive the 
Scheme Consideration Friday, 1 November

Expected Scheme Consideration Record Date, being the date on which Scheme 
Participants must be recorded in the Register to receive the Scheme Consideration, by 
close of trade Friday, 1 November

Termination of listing of PN2 Shares on EESE expected to take place at the 
commencement of trade on or about Monday, 4 November

Last date for PN2 to give notice of adoption of the Scheme Resolution in accordance 
with section 164(4) of the Companies Act Monday, 4 November

Last day for Scheme Shareholders who voted against the Scheme to apply to Court for 
leave to apply for a review of Scheme in terms of section 115(3)(b) of the 
Companies Act Monday, 4 November

Expected Operative Time of the Scheme at 08:00 on Tuesday, 5 November

Scheme Participants’ accounts updated to reflect their PN1 Shares on or about Wednesday, 6 November

PN2 Distribution implemented Thursday, 7 November

Notes:

1. All dates and times set out in respect of the Scheme, are subject to change (subject to the approval of EESE and/or the TRP, if required). The dates 
have been determined based on certain assumptions regarding the date by which certain regulatory approvals will have been obtained and that 
no Court approval or review of the Scheme Resolutions will be required. Any change to the dates and times will be released on the EESE-News 
and the Company’s website.

2. All dates and times quoted in this Circular are South African dates and times.

3. Although the salient dates and times are stated to be subject to change, such statement may not be regarded as consent or dispensation for any 
change to time periods which may be required in terms of the Takeover Regulations, where applicable, and any such consents or dispensations 
must be specifically applied for and granted.

4. If the Scheme is approved by an insufficient number of PN2 Shareholders at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting so that a Scheme Shareholder may 
require PN2 to obtain Court approval of the Scheme, as contemplated in section 115(3)(a) of the Companies Act, and a Scheme Shareholder in 
fact delivers such a request, the dates and times set out above will not be relevant. If this is the case, PN2 Shareholders will be notified separately 
of the applicable dates and times under this process. Such Court approval, if required, is also a Scheme Condition Precedent. A brief overview of 
section 115(3) is contained in paragraph 6.7 of this Circular.
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5. If any PN2 Shareholder who votes against the Scheme exercises its rights in accordance with section 115(3)(b) of the Companies Act and applies 
to Court for a review of the transaction, the dates and times set out above will not be relevant. If this is the case, PN2 Shareholders will be notified 
separately of the applicable dates and times under this process. Such Court approval, if required, is also a Scheme Condition Precedent. A brief 
overview of section 115(3) is contained in paragraph 6.7 of this Circular.

6. It should be noted that although PN2 will send the required notice to Dissenting Shareholders, if any, in terms of section 164(4) of the Companies Act 
on Tuesday, 22 October 2019, the last day for sending this notice is 10 Business Days after the date of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

7. If the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is adjourned or postponed, any voting instructions provided to Singular Services (whether through the Call 
Centre or the online voting platform), for the initial PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting will remain valid in respect of any adjournment or postponement 
of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.
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DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

In this Circular, the Annexures hereto and the Notice convening the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, unless the context 
otherwise indicates, references to the singular include the plural and vice versa, words denoting one gender include 
the others, expressions denoting natural persons include juristic persons and associations of persons and vice 
versa, and the words in the first column hereunder have the meaning stated opposite them in the second column, 
as follows:

“Annexures” the annexures attached to this Circular;

“Appraisal Rights” the rights afforded to PN2 Shareholders under section 164 of the Companies 
Act, as detailed more fully in paragraph 6.6 of this Circular, read with 
Annexure 6 to this Circular;

“Authorised Dealer” a person authorised to deal in foreign exchange as contemplated in the 
Exchange Control Regulations;

“Authority” any government or governmental, administrative, fiscal or judicial authority, 
body, court, department, commission, tribunal, registry or any state-owned, 
controlled or legislatively constituted authority which principally performs 
public, governmental or regulatory functions and/or which is responsible 
for applying national security, Non-resident investment, exchange control, 
merger control or other competition or antitrust legislation or regulations, 
in South Africa;

“B-BBEE” broad-based black economic empowerment;

“B-BBEE Act” the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, 53 of 2003 and any 
regulations and codes of good practice published thereunder (including the 
Codes), as amended;

“B-BBEE Codes” the Codes of Good Practice on B-BBEE issued by the Minister of Trade and 
Industry in terms of the B-BBEE Act and any regulations published under 
the B-BBEE Act, as amended;

“B-BBEE Legislation” the B-BBEE Act, any regulations published under the B-BBEE Act, any 
B-BBEE charters and/or B-BBEE Codes, any communications sector 
legislation, any regulations published under such legislation and any 
licence conditions made pursuant to such legislation, all as amended from 
time to time, provided that to the extent there is any conflict between 
such legislation, regulations, charters, codes of good practice and licence 
conditions, the applicable licence conditions shall take precedence, followed 
by the empowerment requirements contained in the applicable codes of 
good practice;

“Business Day” any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or gazetted national public holiday 
in South Africa;

“Call Centre” the Singular Services Call Centre that can be contacted on 0860 116 226 
and which operates from 07:00 to 18:00 on weekdays (excluding public 
holidays);

“CGT” tax on capital gains as levied in accordance with the Income Tax Act;

“CIPC” the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, established in terms 
of section 185 of the Companies Act, or its successor body;

“the/this Circular” this bound document, dated Monday, 16 September 2019, including 
the Annexures hereto and incorporating the Notice convening the PN2 
Shareholders’ Meeting;

“Common Monetary Area” South Africa, the Republic of Namibia and the Kingdoms of Lesotho and 
eSwatini;

“Companies Act” the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended;
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“Companies Regulations” or 
“Regulations”

the Companies Regulations, 2011, published in terms of the Companies Act;

“Company Secretary” the company secretary of the PN Entities, being DM Dickson;

“Competition Act” the Competition Act, 89 of 1998, as amended;

“Competition Authorities” the Competition Commission, Competition Tribunal and/or Competition 
Appeal Court established in accordance with the Competition Act;

“Counter Trading Page” the Counter Trading Page as defined in the Listings Requirements;

“Court” any South African court with competent jurisdiction to approve the 
implementation of the Scheme Resolution pursuant to section 115 of the 
Companies Act and/or to determine the fair value of PN2 Shares and make 
an order pursuant to section 164(14) of the Companies Act;

“Dissenting Shareholders” PN2 Shareholders who: (i) validly exercise their Appraisal Rights by 
demanding, in accordance with the requirements of sections 164(5) to 
164(8) of the Companies Act, that the Company pay them the fair value 
of all of their PN2 Shares; (ii) do not withdraw that demand before the 
Company makes an offer to them in accordance with the requirements of 
section 164(11) of the Companies Act; and (iii) do not, after an offer is made 
to them by the Company in accordance with the requirements of section 
164(11) of the Companies Act, allow such offer to lapse in terms of section 
164(12)(b) of the Companies Act;

“EESE” Equity Express Securities Exchange Proprietary Limited, registration 
number 2015/197820/07, a private company with limited liability 
incorporated under the laws of South Africa and licensed as a securities 
exchange under the Financial Markets Act;

“EESE-News” the news service of EESE;

“EESE Platform” the EESE Trading System, the EESE Website and the Counter Trading Page 
(each as applicable);

“EESE Trading System” the EESE Trading System as defined in the Listings Requirements;

“EESE Website” the EESE Website as defined in the Listings Requirements;

“Entitlement Ratio” one PN1 Share for every one PN2 Share held by a Scheme Participant on the 
Scheme Consideration Record Date;

“Exchange Control Regulations” the Exchange Control Regulations, 1961 as promulgated by Government 
Notice R.1111 of 1 December 1961 and amended up to Government Notice 
R.445 of 8 June 2012, in terms of section 9 of the Currency and Exchanges 
Act, 9 of 1933, as amended;

“Excluded Dissenting Shareholders” Dissenting Shareholders who accept an offer made to them by the Company 
in accordance with the requirements of section 164(11) of the Companies 
Act or, pursuant to an order of Court, tender their PN2 Shares to the 
Company in accordance with the requirements of section 164(15) of the 
Companies Act;

“ Excluded Dissenting Shareholders’ 
Shares”

the PN2 Shares held by the Excluded Dissenting Shareholders;

“Excluded Non-resident Shareholders” PN2 Shareholders resident or who have registered addresses in any 
jurisdiction outside of South Africa where, in PN2’s sole discretion, a PN2 
Shareholder is unable to receive any of the PN1 Shares to be issued to him 
in terms of the Scheme because the same may violate applicable legal or 
regulatory requirements; or if PN1 and/or PN2 believe (in its discretion) 
that it is prohibited or unduly onerous or impractical to distribute, issue or 
transfer the PN1 Shares to such Non-resident Shareholder(s);

“Finalisation Date” the date on which PN2 publishes an announcement on EESE-News 
confirming that all the Scheme Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled or 
waived and that the Scheme will proceed to implementation;
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“FMA” or “Financial Markets Act” the Financial Markets Act, 19 of 2012, as amended;

“Fulfilment Date and Time” has the meaning given to that term in paragraph 4.1;

“Income Tax Act” the Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962, as amended;

“Independent Expert” Tamela Holdings Proprietary Limited, registration number 2008/011759/07, 
a private company incorporated under the laws of South Africa, appointed 
as independent expert to provide external advice to the PN2 Independent 
Board in relation to the Scheme, in accordance with the requirements of 
section 114 of the Companies Act and regulation 110(1) of the Takeover 
Regulations;

“Independent Expert’s Report” the report prepared by the Independent Expert, applicable to the Scheme 
in terms of section 114(3) of the Companies Act and regulation 90 of the 
Companies Regulations, a copy of which is set out in Annexure 1 to this 
Circular;

“ Independent Reporting Accountant”  
or “PWC”

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., registration number 1998/012055/21, a 
limited liability incorporation incorporated under the laws of South Africa;

“Last Practicable Date” Friday, 6 September 2019, being the last practicable date prior to the 
finalisation of this Circular;

“Listings Requirements” the listings requirements of EESE, as amended from time to time;

“Market Price” in respect of Excluded Non-resident Shareholders’ entitlements to 
PN1 Shares, the average realised sales price for all such PN1 Shares (net 
of all applicable costs, expenses and taxes) as realised by the Sale Agent 
for and on behalf of the Excluded Non-resident Shareholders as soon as is 
reasonably practical after the implementation of the Scheme;

“Market Sale Process” the process pursuant to which the Sale Agent will conduct the sale of 
Excluded Non-resident Shareholders’ entitlements to PN1 Shares in the 
market or off market in one or more tranches (and whether pursuant 
to a bookbuild or otherwise) as soon as is reasonably practical after the 
implementation of the Scheme;

“MCG” MultiChoice Group Limited, registration number 2018/473845/06, a public 
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of South Africa, 
the MCG Shares being listed on the main board of the securities exchange 
operated by the JSE;

“MCG Offer” the offer by MCG to acquire up to 20% of the total issued PN2 Shares from 
PN2 Shareholders in exchange for MCG Shares as more fully detailed in the 
MCG Offer Circular and Prospectus;

“MCG Offer Circular” the Offer Circular issued by MCG which accompanies this Circular (and any 
supplement thereto);

“MCG Shares” the ordinary no par value shares of MCG, to be allotted and issued to PN2 
Shareholders who wish to participate in the MCG Offer;

“MCSA” MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, registration 
number 2006/015293/07, a private company with limited liability 
incorporated under the laws of South Africa;

“MCSA Shares” the ordinary shares with a par value of R0.0001 each in the issued share 
capital of MCSA held by PN2, which shares are intended to be distributed to 
PN1 pursuant to the PN2 Distribution;

“MIHH” MIH Holdings Proprietary Limited, registration number 1993/005613/07, a 
private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of South 
Africa;

“Non-resident” a person who is not considered to be an ordinary resident in South Africa in 
terms of the Exchange Control Regulations or other applicable legislation, 
including in terms of the Income Tax Act;

“Non-resident Shareholder” a PN2 Shareholder that is a Non-resident;
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“ Notice” or “Notice of 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting”

the notice of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting incorporated in this Circular;

“Operative Date” the date upon which the Scheme becomes operative, which (assuming all 
Scheme Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled or waived) is expected to 
be Tuesday, 5 November 2019;

“Operative Time” 08:00 on the Operative Date;

“PN” or “PN Entities” collectively PN1 and PN2, as described in the Circular;

“PN1” Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited, registration number 
2006/015187/06, a ring-fenced, public company with limited liability 
incorporated under the laws of South Africa, the ordinary shares of which 
are listed on EESE;

“PN1 Directors” or “PN1 Board” the board of directors of PN1 as at the Last Practicable Date, whose details 
and further information are set out on page 28 of this Circular;

“PN1 MOI” the memorandum of incorporation of PN1, as amended from time to time, 
extracts of which are provided in Annexure 8 to the Circular;

“PN1 Shareholder” a holder of PN1 Shares;

“PN1 Shareholders’ Agreement” the shareholders’ agreement entered into between MCG (initially MIHH), 
MCSA and PN1 on or about 16 September 2006, which agreement, inter alia, 
regulates PN1’s shareholding of MCSA Shares, the relationship between 
MCG and PN1 as shareholders in MCSA and between each of them and 
MCSA;

“PN1 Shareholders’ Meeting” the general meeting of PN1 Shareholders, to be held on Monday, 
21  October  2019 at 10:00 (including any adjournment or postponement 
thereof) to consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without modification, 
the necessary resolutions to, amongst others, amend the PN1 MOI to enable 
the MCG Offer, the Scheme and the issue of the PN1 Shares pursuant to the 
Scheme;

“PN1 Shares” fully paid, ordinary shares with a par value of R0.0000001 each in the 
authorised share capital of PN1;

“PN2” or the “Company” Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited, registration number 
2006/036320/06, a ring-fenced, public company with limited liability 
incorporated under the laws of South Africa, the ordinary shares of which 
are listed on EESE;

“PN2 Delisting” subject to the Scheme becoming unconditional in accordance with its terms, 
the removal of all PN2 Shares from the list of securities admitted to listing 
on EESE, as detailed more fully in paragraph 11 of this Circular;

“PN2 Directors” or “PN2 Board” the board of directors of PN2 as at the Last Practicable Date, whose details 
and further information are set out on page 28 of this Circular;

“PN2 Distribution” subject to the Scheme becoming operative and being implemented in 
accordance with its terms, the proposed distribution of all MCSA Shares 
held by PN2 to PN1 pursuant to section 46 of the Companies Act, as detailed 
more fully in paragraph 6.8 of this Circular;

“PN2 Independent Board” an independent sub-committee of the PN2 Board, consisting of Mandla 
Langa, Herman Wessels and Yolisa Phahle, appointed to fulfil the role of 
an “independent board”, as contemplated in regulation 108 of the Takeover 
Regulations, all of whom are independent as contemplated in regulation 
108(8) of the Takeover Regulations;

“PN2 MOI” PN2’s memorandum of incorporation, as amended from time to time;

“PN2 Shareholder” or “Shareholder” a holder of PN2 Shares, which includes, for the avoidance of doubt, beneficial 
holders of PN2 Shares who hold such shares through Singular Nominees 
as the legal holder;
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“PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting” the general meeting of PN2 Shareholders, to be held at the registered office 
of the Company, being MultiChoice City, 144 Bram Fischer Drive, Ferndale, 
Randburg, South Africa on Monday, 21 October 2019 at 12:00 (including 
any adjournment or postponement thereof) to consider and, if deemed fit, 
pass, with or without modification: (i) the Scheme Resolution; and (ii) the 
proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI that are necessary to facilitate and 
enable the MCG Offer;

“PN2 Shares” or “Shares” fully paid, ordinary shares with a par value of R0.0000001 each in the 
authorised share capital of PN2;

“Prospectus” the MCG Prospectus which accompanies this Circular (and any supplement 
thereto);

“Rand” or “R” South African Rand, the official currency of South Africa;

“Register” together: (i) the register of certificated PN2 Shareholders maintained by 
the Transfer Secretaries; and (ii) the uncertificated securities register 
administered and maintained by Singular Nominees which reflect the 
record of dematerialised PN2 Shares and the underlying beneficial interest 
of PN2 Shareholders in PN2 Shares;

“SAICA” the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants;

“Sale Agent” Singular Services or any other sale agent appointed in PN2’s sole discretion 
to conduct the sale of Excluded Non-resident Shareholder’s entitlements to 
PN1 Shares;

“SARB” the South African Reserve Bank;

“Scheme” the Scheme of Arrangement between PN2 and the PN2 Shareholders, 
and to which PN1 is a party, as set out in this Circular and as more fully 
described in paragraph 6 hereof, in terms of which, inter alia, PN1 will, 
if the Scheme becomes operative and is implemented, acquire the Scheme 
Shares from Scheme Participants in consideration for the issue of the 
Scheme Consideration to Scheme Participants, subject to any modification 
or amendment made thereto with the approval of the TRP and the requisite 
majority of PN2 Shareholders;

“Scheme of Arrangement” a scheme of arrangement in terms of section 114 of the Companies Act;

“Scheme Conditions Precedent” the conditions precedent to which the Scheme is subject as set out in 
paragraph 4 of this Circular;

“Scheme Consideration” the consideration payable by PN1 to Scheme Participants under the Scheme, 
as set out in, and subject to the terms of, the Circular, being, in the event 
that the Scheme becomes operative and is implemented, the issue by PN1 of 
one PN1 Share for every one PN2 Share held by a Scheme Participant on the 
Scheme Consideration Record Date;

“Scheme Consideration Record Date” the date and time at which PN2 Shareholders must be recorded in the 
Register to participate in the Scheme and receive the Scheme Consideration, 
which date is expected to be 17:00 on Friday, 1 November 2019;

“Scheme LDT” the last day to trade PN2 Shares on EESE in order to be recorded in the 
Register on the Scheme Consideration Record Date, which date is expected 
to be Friday, 1 November 2019;

“Scheme Participants” those PN2 Shareholders recorded in the Register at 17:00 on the Scheme 
Consideration Record Date; provided that: (i) PN2 Shareholders who become 
Excluded Dissenting Shareholders after the Scheme Consideration Record 
Date will not be regarded as Scheme Participants; and (ii) as Dissenting 
Shareholders may become Excluded Dissenting Shareholders, Dissenting 
Shareholders will only be regarded as Scheme Participants once they cease 
to be Dissenting Shareholders as contemplated in paragraph 6.6 of the 
Circular;
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“Scheme Resolution” the special resolution as contemplated in section 115(2) of the Companies 
Act in terms of which PN2 Shareholders approve the Scheme, being Special 
Resolution 1 as contained in the Notice;

“Scheme Shareholders” PN2 Shareholders recorded in the Register on the Voting Record Date, who 
are lawfully entitled to attend and vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting;

“Scheme Shares” all of the PN2 Shares held by Scheme Participants on the Scheme 
Consideration Record Date (which, for the avoidance of doubt, excludes all 
Excluded Dissenting Shareholders’ Shares);

“Singular Nominees” Singular Systems Nominees Proprietary Limited, registration number 
2016/533249/07, a private company with limited liability incorporated under 
the laws of South Africa, being a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(as defined in the FMA) appointed by PN2 Shareholders for purposes of, and 
in regard to, dematerialisation of shares evidenced by physical documents 
of title into the Strate system, and related custody services and who, for 
purposes of PN2 and its listing on EESE, holds the PN2 Shares as legal 
owner and nominee for and on behalf of the PN2 Shareholders as beneficial 
holders of PN2 Shares;

“Singular Services” Singular Services, a division of Singular Systems, being the designated 
Authorised User (as such term is defined in section 1 of the FMA), as 
appointed by PN2 Shareholders to provide brokerage services;

“South Africa” the Republic of South Africa;

“Strate” an electronic settlement environment for transactions to be settled and 
transfer of ownership to be recorded electronically, operated by Strate 
Proprietary Limited, registration number 1998/022242/07, a private 
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of South Africa, 
and a registered central securities depository in terms of the FMA and 
responsible for the electronic custody and settlement system used by EESE;

“STT” securities transfer tax imposed in terms of the STT Act;

“STT Act” the Securities Transfer Tax Act, 25 of 2007, as amended;

“Takeover Regulations” the regulations published in terms of section 120 of the Companies Act and 
set out in Chapter 5 of the Companies Regulations;

“Trading Day” any day: (i) that is an ordinary trading day on the securities exchange 
operated by EESE (and does not include a day on which trading on the 
securities exchange operated by EESE is scheduled to close prior to its 
regular weekday closing time); and (ii) on which PN2 Shares traded freely;

“ Transfer Secretaries” or “Singular 
Systems”

Singular Systems Proprietary Limited, registration number 2002/001492/07, 
a private company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of 
South Africa, the transfer secretaries of the Company and PN1 as at the 
Last Practicable Date;

“TRP” the Takeover Regulation Panel, established in terms of section 196 of the 
Companies Act;

“Valid Demand/s” in respect of the Scheme, demand/s made in terms of section 164(5) of the 
Companies Act, within the time period contemplated in section 164(7), 
by one or more PN2 Shareholders, who comply with the requirements of 
sections 164(5)(a) and (c), in terms of which such shareholder/s demand 
that PN2, pay such shareholder/s the fair value for all the PN2 Shares held 
by such shareholder/s; and

“Voting Record Date” the last date to be recorded in the Register in order for PN2 Shareholders to 
become Scheme Shareholders and, therefore, be eligible to attend, speak and 
vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting (or any adjournment or postponement 
thereof), being 17:00 on Friday, 11 October 2019.
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Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2006/036320/06)
Ordinary Short Code: EXPN2

(“PN2” or the “Company”)

PN2 DIRECTORS

Executive directors
None

Independent Non-executive directors PN2 Independent Board
Mandla Langa Mandla Langa
Herman Wessels Herman Wessels
Yolisa Phahle Yolisa Phahle

CIRCULAR TO PN2 SHAREHOLDERS

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1 PN2 Shareholders are referred to the announcement by PN2 as published on the EESE-News on Friday, 
30 August 2019, in which they were advised that the PN2 Independent Board had resolved, subject to a 
number of conditions, to: (i) delist the PN2 Shares from EESE; and (ii) implement a scheme of arrangement 
in terms of section 114 of the Companies Act, proposed by the PN2 Independent Board between PN2 and 
PN2 Shareholders, in terms of which PN1 will acquire all of PN2’s Shares from the Scheme Participants 
in consideration for the issue of PN1 Shares, by PN1, to the Scheme Participants.

1.2 It is envisaged that, subject to amongst others the passing of the Scheme Resolution by the requisite 
majority of PN2 Shareholders, the Scheme will be implemented on and with effect from 08:00 on Tuesday, 
5 November 2019, regardless of whether the MCG Offer is to proceed. Conversely, if the Scheme does not 
become unconditional or is otherwise not implemented in accordance with its terms, the MCG Offer may 
nonetheless proceed if the relevant conditions to the MCG Offer have been duly satisfied.

1.3 By way of summary, pursuant to the PN2 Delisting and the subsequent implementation of the Scheme:

1.3.1 all PN2 Shareholders will become shareholders in PN1 on the basis that PN2 Shareholders will 
receive one PN1 Share for each one PN2 Share held on the Scheme Consideration Record Date;

1.3.2 the MCSA Shares held by PN2 will be distributed to PN1 (as PN2’s sole shareholder) in terms of 
the PN2 Distribution; and

1.3.3 PN2 will be wound up and deregistered.

1.4 Subject to the Scheme becoming unconditional in accordance with its terms, EESE has granted approval 
for the PN2 Delisting from the commencement of trade on the first Business Day following the Scheme 
Consideration Record Date, which is expected to be Monday, 4 November 2019.

2. PURPOSE OF THE CIRCULAR

2.1 The purpose of this Circular is to:

2.1.1 provide PN2 Shareholders with information regarding the Scheme, and the Independent Expert’s 
Report in respect of the Scheme in terms of section 114(3) of the Companies Act and regulation 90 
of the Companies Regulations;

2.1.2 advise PN2  Shareholders of the recommendation of the PN2 Independent  Board in respect 
of the Scheme (as supported by the Independent Expert’s Report), in order to enable the PN2 
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Shareholders to make an informed decision as to whether or not they should vote in favour of the 
Scheme Resolution to be proposed at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting;

2.1.3 convene the PN2  Shareholders’  Meeting to consider and, if deemed fit, approve: 
(i) the Scheme Resolution; and (ii) the proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI, amongst others, to 
facilitate and enable the MCG Offer, as set out in the Notice; and

2.1.4 inform PN2 Shareholders of their Appraisal Rights and the manner in which they should exercise 
these rights should they wish to do so.

2.2 A Notice convening the PN2  Shareholders’  Meeting is attached to, and forms part of, this Circular, 
and sets out the resolutions to be considered and, if deemed fit, approved by the requisite majority of 
PN2 Shareholders.

3. RATIONALE FOR PN2 SHAREHOLDERS TO VOTE IN FAVOUR OF THE SCHEME AT THE 
PN2 SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

3.1 The combination of the PN Entities will result in one listed entity with a single share price.

3.2 The combination of the PN Entities will simplify the administrative burden and lead to a reduction 
of ongoing costs of administration relative to the underlying asset base (being the combined pool of 
MCSA Shares to be housed in PN1 following completion of the Scheme and PN2 Distribution).

3.3 If the PN entities were combined, MCSA would be able to apply the MFT principle (in terms of the applicable 
B-BBEE Legislation) to the combined PN Entity if it is verified that none of the PN Shareholders have 
themselves applied MFT in the calculation of their own black ownership. This would allow MCSA to 
improve its direct B-BBEE ownership percentage.

3.4 Having regard to the opinion of the Independent Expert that the terms and conditions of the Scheme are 
fair and reasonable to PN2 Shareholders, the PN2 Independent Board recommends that PN2 Shareholders 
VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme. All the PN2 Directors to the extent that they own or control PN2 Shares, 
intend to VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme.

4. SCHEME CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

4.1 The implementation of the Scheme (and accordingly the PN2 Distribution which is intended to be 
implemented subsequently) is subject to the fulfilment or, where appropriate, waiver of the following 
conditions, which must be fulfilled (or deemed fulfilled), or where appropriate, waived, on or before 17:00 
on Thursday, 24 October 2019 (or such later date and/or time as may be agreed in writing between the 
PN Entities) (“Fulfilment Date and Time”):

4.1.1 all regulatory approvals and consents (or waivers, as applicable) necessary in respect of the Scheme 
being obtained, including, but not limited to approvals and consents (or waivers, as applicable) 
from EESE, the TRP, the Financial Surveillance Department of the SARB (if and to the extent 
necessary) and the Competition Authorities, in each case on terms and conditions reasonably 
satisfactory to the PN Entities;

4.1.2 the Scheme Resolution being proposed at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and adopted by a majority 
representing not less than 75% of the votes exercised by Scheme Shareholders present and entitled 
to vote;

4.1.3 the Scheme Resolution not being opposed by 15% or more of the voting rights exercised on such 
resolution or, should the resolution be opposed by 15% or more of the voting rights exercised on it, 
no person who voted against the Scheme Resolution requiring the Company to seek the approval 
of the Court in terms of section 115(3) of the Companies Act;

4.1.4 if the Scheme  Resolution is opposed by 15% or more of the voting rights exercised on such 
resolution, and a person who voted against the Scheme Resolution requires the Company to seek 
the approval of the Court in terms of section 115(3) of the Companies Act and PN2 waives the 
Scheme Condition Precedent in paragraph 4.1.3, PN2 not electing to treat the Scheme Resolution 
as a nullity in terms of section 115(5) of the Companies Act. This condition may be waived by 
PN2 on condition that the Court approves the Scheme Resolution in terms of section 115(3) of the 
Companies Act by no later than the Fulfilment Date and Time (or such later date the PN Entities 
may determine);



20

4.1.5 no leave being granted by the Court, pursuant to section 115(3)(b) of the Companies Act, to any 
person who voted against the Scheme Resolution and who applied to the Court for a review of 
the Scheme. This condition may be waived by PN2 on condition that the Court approves the 
Scheme Resolution in terms of section 115(3) of the Companies Act by no later than the Fulfilment 
Date and Time (or such later date as the PN Entities may determine);

4.1.6 within the period prescribed under section 164(7) of the Companies Act, no Valid Demands having 
been received by, or remaining capable of being given to, PN2 in terms of such section which in 
aggregate represent more than 3% of the PN2 Shares as at the Last Practicable Date;

4.1.7 PN1 having adopted by special resolution a new memorandum of incorporation in a form and 
substance satisfactory to PN2 (including amendments to allow for PN1 to acquire and hold PN2 
Shares pursuant to the Scheme), PN1 filing (in respect of such new memorandum of incorporation) 
a Notice of Amendment in Form CoR15.2 (together with the prescribed fee and a copy of the new 
memorandum of incorporation) with the CIPC;

4.1.8 to the extent required in terms of section 41 of the Companies Act, PN1 Shareholders approving by 
special resolution the entry into and due performance by PN1 of its obligations under the Scheme, 
and PN2 having received a certified copy of such resolution, or relevant extracts from the minutes 
of the meeting at which such resolution was passed;

4.1.9 the PN1 Board approving or ratifying in writing the Scheme and the transactions contemplated 
pursuant thereto (as set out in this Circular) and the dispatch of the Circular to PN2 Shareholders, 
and PN2 having received certified copies of such resolutions, or relevant extracts from the minutes 
of the meeting at which such resolutions were passed;

4.1.10 in respect of any communication received by PN2 from, or any ruling, judgment, demand, order 
or decree in respect of or affecting PN2 made by, any Authority (“Regulatory Action”) prior to the 
Fulfilment Date and Time, PN2 having not formed a view that such Regulatory Action is or may 
adversely affect it, and/or the implementation, economic and/or intended regulatory effect of the 
Scheme (or any transaction contemplated as part thereof); and

4.1.11 if any applicable law is promulgated or any applicable laws (including the Income Tax Act and 
any B-BBEE Legislation) are amended, interpreted or applied and which comes into operation or 
is likely to come into operation at any time prior to, or within 12 months after, the Fulfilment Date 
and Time (collectively, “Change in Law”), PN2 having not formed a view that such Change in Law 
is or may adversely affect PN2, and/or the implementation, economic and/or intended regulatory 
effect of the Scheme (or any transaction contemplated as part thereof).

4.2 Unless stated otherwise, the above conditions may be waived, in whole or in part, by the PN Entities, acting 
jointly (save for the Scheme Conditions Precedent contemplated in paragraphs 4.1.1 (regulatory approvals 
and consents) and 4.1.2 (requisite approval of the PN2 Shareholders)). On the first Business Day on which 
the PN Entities are satisfied that all the Scheme Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled or waived (as the 
case may be), the PN Entities will in writing confirm to one another that all the Scheme Conditions Precedent 
have been fulfilled or waived, as the case may be, whereupon all the Scheme Conditions Precedent will be 
deemed to have been timeously fulfilled or waived in accordance with the above terms.

4.3 An announcement will be released on EESE-News as soon as possible after the fulfilment, waiver or non-
fulfilment, as the case may be, of the Scheme Conditions Precedent.

5. REGULATORY APPROVALS

Save for the TRP issuing a TRP compliance certificate in respect of the Scheme, all requisite regulatory approvals 
regarding the Scheme, including the requisite approval of the Financial Surveillance Department of the SARB 
and the approval of the Competition Authorities, respectively, have been obtained. In this regard, the issue of the 
Circular to the PN2 Shareholders in respect of the Scheme was approved by the TRP on Monday, 2 September 2019 
and EESE on Monday, 9 September 2019.

6. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SCHEME, SETTLEMENT OF THE SCHEME CONSIDERATION, 
PN2 SHAREHOLDERS’ APPRAISAL RIGHTS AND COURT APPROVAL IN TERMS OF SECTION 115(3) OF 
THE COMPANIES ACT

In terms of section 114(1) of the Companies Act, the PN2 Independent Board hereby proposes the Scheme, on 
the terms set out in this paragraph 6, between PN2 and the PN2 Shareholders.
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6.1 The Scheme

6.1.1 In terms of the Scheme, PN1 will acquire the Scheme Shares from the Scheme Participants for the 
Scheme Consideration, with effect from the Operative Time.

6.1.2 Subject to the Scheme becoming unconditional and operative, with effect from the Operative Time:

6.1.2.1 without any further act or instrument being required, the Scheme Participants (whether 
or not they voted in favour of the Scheme or abstained from voting) will be deemed to 
have disposed of (and will be deemed to have undertaken to transfer), and to the extent 
necessary shall be bound unconditionally to transfer, cede and make over, each of their 
Scheme Shares, free of encumbrances, to PN1 in exchange for the Scheme Consideration, 
and PN1 will be deemed to have acquired registered and beneficial ownership, and taken 
cession, of each such Scheme Share and all risk and benefit in the Scheme Participants’ 
PN2 Shares will pass from the Scheme Participants to PN1 at such time;

6.1.2.2 the disposal and transfer by each Scheme  Participant of the Scheme  Shares held by 
each such Scheme  Participant to PN1, and the acquisition and ownership of those 
Scheme Shares by PN1, pursuant to the provisions of the Scheme, will be effected; and

6.1.2.3 in consideration for the purchase of their Scheme Shares by PN1, Scheme Participants will 
be entitled to receive PN1 Shares in the Entitlement Ratio, and the Transfer Secretaries 
will, in accordance with their mandate from each of the Company and PN1, administer the 
issue of the PN1 Shares to the Scheme Participants, which will be settled in accordance 
with the provisions of paragraph 6.2 below.

6.1.3 With effect from the Operative Time, PN2, the Transfer Secretaries and each and every PN2 Director 
(each with full power of substitution), including any other person nominated by PN2, will 
irrevocably be deemed to be the attorney and agent in the place and stead of the Scheme Participants 
to implement the transfer of the Scheme Shares to PN1, and to sign any instrument of transfer in 
respect thereof or any other documents and to do any other acts required or desirable to implement 
the Scheme, and any aspect thereof, and to take all steps necessary to procure electronic delivery 
of Scheme Shares and, to the extent applicable, the remittance of the Market Price to Excluded 
Non-resident Shareholders.

6.1.4 The Scheme Consideration will be settled, in full, in accordance with the terms of the Scheme 
without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim or other analogous right to which PN2 
and/or PN1 may otherwise be, or claim to be, entitled against a Scheme Participant.

6.1.5 PN2, as principal, will procure that PN1 complies with its obligations under the Scheme, and PN2 
alone will have the right to enforce those obligations (if necessary) against PN1. The rights of the 
Scheme Participants to receive the Scheme Consideration will be rights enforceable by Scheme 
Participants as against PN2 only. Scheme Participants will be entitled to require PN2 to enforce its 
rights in terms of the Scheme against PN1.

6.1.6 No part of the Scheme Consideration will bear interest.

6.1.7 The effect of the Scheme will be, inter alia, that:

6.1.7.1 PN1 will, with effect from the Operative  Time, become the registered and beneficial 
owner of all Scheme Shares. None of the Scheme Shares will be transferred to any other 
person; and

6.1.7.2 Scheme Participants will, with effect from the Operative  Time, become entitled to 
the Scheme  Consideration which will be settled in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph 6.2 below. As PN1 Shareholders, Scheme Participants will be bound by: (i) the 
PN1 MOI and the PN1 Shareholders’ Agreement upon becoming beneficial owners of 
PN1 Shares; and (ii) all shareholder approvals and other corporate authorisations which 
may be in place for PN1.

6.1.8 PN2  Shareholders should note that the PN1  MOI contains various restrictions in relation to 
the holding and/or disposal of PN1 Shares, which restrictions are the same as the restrictions 
applicable to PN2 Shares. For a summary of the relevant PN1 restrictions, PN2 Shareholders are 
referred to Annexure 9.

6.1.9 For all Scheme Participants who are Excluded Non-resident Shareholders or who PN2, in its 
sole discretion, considers to be an Excluded Non-resident Shareholder, PN2 will procure the sale 
(through the Sale Agent as soon as practicable after the implementation of the Scheme) for and 
on their behalf, and at their risk, of such number of PN1 Shares forming part of their entitlement 
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to the Scheme Consideration and which are due and deliverable to each such Scheme Participant. 
PN2 will remit either to each such Scheme Participant as principal, or to the Transfer Secretaries 
as agent for and on behalf of a Scheme Participant (as the case may be), as soon as practicable after 
conclusion of the Market Sale Process, the total Market Price due to each such Scheme Participant, 
and PN2 or PN2’s Transfer Secretaries as agent for and on behalf of PN2, will pay the Market 
Price due to such Scheme Participants. To this end, pursuant to the Scheme, PN2 shall have the 
power and authority to dispose of the relevant PN1 Shares forming part of their entitlement 
to the Scheme Consideration and (to the extent applicable) each Scheme Participant who is an 
Excluded Non-resident Shareholder or who PN2, in its sole discretion, considers to be an Excluded 
Non-resident Shareholder, irrevocably and in their place and stead appoints and authorises PN2, 
with power of substitution, to cause the sale (through the Sale Agent (and/or such other agent as 
PN2 may appoint) pursuant to the Market Sale Process) at the then prevailing Market Price of 
all such Scheme Participants’ entitlements to PN1 Shares and to remit the average net proceeds 
per PN1 Share as realised by the Sale Agent (that is, net of all costs, expenses and/or applicable 
taxes incurred by PN2 in realising the Market Price) to such Scheme Participants or to Singular 
Services as its agent and/or for and on its behalf.

6.1.10 PN1 and PN2 have agreed that, upon the Scheme becoming operative, they will give effect to the 
terms and conditions of the Scheme and will take all actions and sign all necessary documents to 
give effect to the Scheme.

6.1.11 The rights in this paragraph 6.1 to receive the Scheme Consideration are subject to, and must 
be read in conjunction with, the further provisions of this Circular, including paragraph  6.2 
(“Settlement of the Scheme Consideration”), paragraph 6.6 (“Dissenting Shareholders’ Appraisal 
Rights”) and paragraph 9 (“Non-resident Shareholders and Exchange Control”).

6.2 Settlement of the Scheme Consideration

6.2.1 If the Scheme Conditions Precedent are timeously fulfilled (or waived, as applicable), and subject 
to there being no legal impediment to the implementation of the Scheme immediately prior to its 
proposed implementation on Tuesday, 5 November 2019, the Scheme will be implemented.

6.2.2 Subject to the remainder of this paragraph 6.2, and subject to the Scheme becoming operative, 
Scheme Participants will be entitled to receive the Scheme  Consideration in respect of each 
Scheme Share held by them on the Scheme Consideration Record Date. PN2 or its agents will 
administer and effect transfer of the Scheme Consideration to Scheme Participants in accordance 
with the provisions of the remainder of this paragraph 6.2.

6.2.3 Pursuant to the Scheme, each Scheme Participant will be issued and allotted one PN1 Share for 
every one PN2 Share held by them on the Scheme Consideration Record Date. Scheme Participants 
will not be entitled to elect an alternative Scheme Consideration. No cash is payable in respect of 
the subscription for PN1 Shares in terms of the Scheme. The consideration payable to PN1 by each 
Scheme Participant in respect of the issue and allotment of the PN1 Shares is the transfer and 
delivery to PN1 of such Scheme Participant’s PN2 Shares.

6.2.4 Settlement of the Scheme Consideration is subject to the Exchange Control Regulations, the salient 
provisions of which are extracted in Annexure 4 to this Circular. Non-resident Shareholders 
should pay particular attention in this regard.

6.2.5 Scheme Participants will:

6.2.5.1 if they are not Dissenting Shareholders on the Scheme Consideration Record Date, have 
their share accounts with Singular Services credited with the Scheme Consideration and 
debited with the Scheme Shares they are transferring to PN1 pursuant to the Scheme on 
the first Business Day following the Operative Date; or

6.2.5.2 if they are still Dissenting Shareholders on the Scheme Consideration Record Date, have 
their share accounts with Singular Services credited with the Scheme Consideration and 
debited with the Scheme Shares that they are transferring to PN1 pursuant to the Scheme 
within five Business Days of the date on which they cease to be Dissenting Shareholders 
and become Scheme Participants.

6.3 Deemed surrender of documents of title

6.3.1 PN2 Shareholders need not take any action regarding the surrender of their PN2 Shares once 
the Scheme becomes operative as the process will be handled by Singular Services in terms of the 
custody and/or brokerage agreement concluded with it.
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6.3.2 If the Scheme becomes operative and is implemented, Scheme Participants’ accounts at Singular 
Services will automatically be updated to reflect the receipt of PN1 Shares in proportion with the 
Entitlement Ratio and the transfer of their PN2 Shares to PN1. You do not need to take any action 
in this regard.

6.4 No concert parties

PN1 is the offeror in terms of the Scheme. It is not acting in concert with any other parties.

6.5 Issue and allotment of the PN1 Shares

6.5.1 All PN1 Shares will be issued at the expense of MCSA. All PN1 Shares to be issued are subject to 
the provisions of the PN1 MOI and the PN1 Shareholders’ Agreement.

6.5.2 The PN1 Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with each other. Annexure 8 to this Circular 
contains extracts from the PN1 MOI as at the Last Practicable Date. There will be a PN1 Shareholders’ 
Meeting to approve, amongst others, certain amendments necessary to the PN1 MOI to facilitate 
and enable the Scheme and the MCG Offer.

6.5.3 As required in terms of the FMA, PN1 Shares will only be issued in electronic (dematerialised) 
form (that is, not in the form of share certificates).

6.5.4 PN1 Shares may only be traded on the EESE Platform in electronic (dematerialised) form subject 
to electronic settlement in terms of Strate.

6.5.5 PN1 will adhere to the recognised and standardised electronic clearing and settlement procedures 
operating within the EESE environment.

6.6 Dissenting Shareholders’ Appraisal Rights

PN2 Shareholders are hereby advised of their Appraisal Rights under section 164 of the Companies Act:

6.6.1 PN2 Shareholders who wish to exercise their rights in terms of section 164 of the Companies Act 
are required, before the Scheme Resolution is voted on, to give notice to the Company in writing 
objecting to the Scheme Resolution in accordance with the requirements of section 164(3) of the 
Companies Act and to vote against the Scheme Resolution.

6.6.2 If the Scheme  Resolution is adopted by the Company, the Company is required, within 
10 Business Days after the Scheme Shareholders adopt the Scheme Resolution, to send a notice to 
PN2 Shareholders who gave written notice to the Company objecting to the Scheme Resolution and 
did not withdraw such written notice or vote in support of the Scheme Resolution, notifying them 
that the Scheme Resolution has been adopted.

6.6.3 PN2 Shareholders who gave written notice to the Company in accordance with the requirements 
of section 164(3) of the Companies Act (and have not withdrawn that notice), and voted against 
the Scheme Resolution and who have complied with all the procedural requirements set out 
in section  164 may, within 20 Business Days of receiving notice from the Company in terms 
of section 164(4) of the Companies Act (or, if no notice is received, within 20 Business Days of 
learning that the Scheme Resolution has been passed), send a written demand to the Company, 
requiring that the Company pay them fair value for all of the PN2 Shares held by them.

6.6.4 The demand sent by the PN2 Shareholders to PN2, as detailed in paragraph 6.6.3 above, must set 
out:

6.6.4.1 the PN2 Shareholder’s name and address;

6.6.4.2 the number of PN2 Shares in respect of which the PN2 Shareholder seeks payment; and

6.6.4.3 a demand for payment of the fair value of such PN2  Shares. The fair value of the 
PN2 Shares is determined as at the date on which, and the time immediately before, 
PN2 adopted the Scheme Resolution.

A copy of the demand must also be provided to the TRP.

6.6.5 If PN2 receives a demand in terms of sections 164(5) to 164(8) of the Companies Act and such demand 
is not withdrawn by the Operative Date, the Company will, in accordance with section 164(11) 
of the Companies Act, within five Business Days of the Operative Date, make an offer to those 
Shareholders to purchase their PN2 Shares at fair value.
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6.6.6 A Dissenting Shareholder who has sent a demand in accordance with the requirements of sections 
164(5) to 164(8) may withdraw that demand before PN2 makes an offer in accordance with section 
164(11) of the Companies Act or if PN2 fails to make such an offer. If a Dissenting Shareholder 
voluntarily withdraws its demand, it will cease to be a Dissenting Shareholder and will become a 
Scheme Participant whose PN2 Shares will be acquired by PN1, in accordance with paragraphs 6.1 
and 6.2 above, with retrospective effect from the Operative Date.

6.6.7 A Dissenting Shareholder who has sent a demand in accordance with the requirements of sections 
164(5) to 164(8) has no further rights in respect of the PN2 Shares in respect of which it has made 
such demand, other than to be paid the fair value of such PN2 Shares, unless:

6.6.7.1 that Dissenting Shareholder withdraws that demand before PN2 makes an offer in 
accordance with section 164(11) of the Companies Act; or

6.6.7.2 PN2 fails to make an offer in accordance with section 164(11) of the Companies Act and 
that Dissenting Shareholder withdraws its demand; or

6.6.7.3 PN2 makes an offer in accordance with section 164(11) of the Companies Act below and 
the Dissenting Shareholder allows such offer to lapse; or

6.6.7.4 PN2 revokes the Scheme Resolution, by means of a subsequent special resolution,

in which case that PN2 Shareholder’s rights will, in accordance with section 164(10) of the 
Companies Act, be reinstated without interruption.

6.6.8 The offer made in accordance with section 164(11) of the Companies Act will lapse if it is not 
accepted by the Dissenting Shareholder within 30 Business Days after it was made. If the 
Dissenting Shareholder allows that offer to lapse, it will cease to be a Dissenting Shareholder and 
will become a Scheme Participant whose PN2 Shares will be acquired by PN1, in accordance with 
paragraphs 6.1 and 6.2 above.

6.6.9 A Dissenting  Shareholder who accepts an offer made in accordance with the requirements of 
section 164(11) of the Companies Act will become an Excluded Dissenting Shareholder and will not 
participate in the Scheme. The Excluded Dissenting Shareholder must instruct Singular Services, 
to transfer those PN2 Shares to PN2 or the Transfer Secretaries. PN2 must pay that Excluded 
Dissenting Shareholder the agreed amount within 10 Business Days after the Excluded Dissenting 
Shareholder has accepted the offer and directed the transfer to PN2 or the Transfer Secretaries of 
the PN2 Shares, in accordance with this paragraph 6.6.9.

6.6.10 A Dissenting Shareholder who considers the offer made by PN2 in accordance with section 164(11) 
of the Companies Act to be inadequate, may, in accordance with section 164(14) of the Companies 
Act, apply to a Court to determine a fair value in respect of the PN2 Shares that were the subject 
of that demand, and an order requiring PN2 to pay the Dissenting Shareholder the fair value 
so determined. The Court will, in accordance with section 164(15)(c)(v) of the Companies Act, be 
obliged to make an order requiring:

6.6.10.1 the Dissenting Shareholders to either withdraw their respective demands or to tender 
their PN2 Shares as contemplated in paragraph 6.6.9 above; or

6.6.10.2 PN2 to pay the fair value in respect of the PN2 Shares (as determined by the Court) to 
each Dissenting Shareholder who tenders its PN2 Shares, subject to any conditions the 
Court considers necessary to ensure that PN2 fulfils its obligations under section 164 of 
the Companies Act.

6.6.11 If, pursuant to the order of the Court, any Dissenting Shareholder withdraws its demand, the 
Dissenting Shareholder will cease to be a Dissenting Shareholder and will become a Scheme 
Participant whose PN2 Shares will be acquired by PN1, in accordance with paragraphs 6.1 and 
6.2 above, with retrospective effect from the Operative Time.

6.6.12 If, pursuant to the order of the Court, a Dissenting Shareholder tenders its PN2 Shares to PN2, 
such Dissenting Shareholder will become an Excluded Dissenting Shareholder and will not 
participate in the Scheme. The Excluded Dissenting Shareholder must instruct Singular Services 
to transfer those PN2 Shares to PN2 or the Transfer Secretaries. PN2 must pay that Excluded 
Dissenting Shareholder the fair value determined by the Court within 10 Business Days after the 
Excluded Dissenting Shareholder has accepted the offer and directed the transfer to PN2 or the 
Transfer Secretaries of the PN2 Shares, in accordance with this paragraph 6.6.12.
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6.6.13 PN2 Shareholders should have regard to the fact that, in appropriate circumstances as detailed in 
section 164 of the Companies Act, the Court is empowered to grant a costs order in favour of, or 
against, a Dissenting Shareholder, as may be applicable.

6.6.14 PN2  Shareholders should further have regard to the fact that one of the Scheme 
Conditions Precedent is that either no Valid Demands are received by PN2 in respect of the exercise 
by Dissenting  Shareholders of their Appraisal  Rights or, if any Valid Demands are received, 
such demands are received from Dissenting Shareholders holding less than 3% of the aggregate 
PN2 Shares in issue as at the Last Practicable Date. Thus, if Valid Demands are received by PN2 
from Dissenting Shareholders holding 3% or more of the PN2 Shares and the Scheme Condition 
Precedent is not waived as contemplated in paragraph 4 of this Circular, the Scheme will not become 
unconditional and will not be implemented. In such event, the PN2 Shares held by the Dissenting 
Shareholders will not be purchased by PN2 in terms of section 164 of the Companies Act.

6.6.15 For the sake of clarity, except where expressly provided otherwise, all provisions applicable to 
other Scheme  Participants shall apply equally to any Dissenting  Shareholder who becomes a 
Scheme  Participant on and from the time that it becomes a Scheme  Participant as a result of 
its rights to PN2 Shares being reinstated in terms of section 164(10) of the Companies Act or 
pursuant to a final Court order.

6.6.16 PN2  Shareholders wishing to exercise their Appraisal Rights are strongly advised to take 
professional advice in connection with such decision.

6.6.17 PN2 Shareholders who wish to obtain further information as to their Appraisal Rights are referred 
to Annexure 6 to this Circular which contains a full extract of section 164 of the Companies Act.

6.7 Court approval in terms of section 115(3) of the Companies Act

6.7.1 In terms of section 115(3) of the Companies Act, notwithstanding the Scheme Resolution being 
adopted by the requisite majority of PN2 Shareholders at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, PN2 
may not proceed to implement the Scheme Resolution without the approval of a Court if:

6.7.1.1 the Scheme  Resolution was opposed by at least 15% or more of the voting rights 
exercised on such resolution and, within five Business Days after the vote, any person 
who voted against the Scheme Resolution requires PN2 to seek Court approval in terms 
of section 115(3)(a) of the Companies Act; or

6.7.1.2 the Court, on an application within 10 Business Days after the vote by any person who 
voted against the Scheme Resolution, grants that person leave, in terms of section 115(6) 
of the Companies Act, to apply to a Court for a review of the transaction in terms of 
section 115(7) of the Companies Act.

6.7.2 If the Scheme Resolution requires Court approval as contemplated in paragraph 6.7.1 above, PN2 
must either:

6.7.2.1 within 10 Business Days after the vote, apply to Court for approval, and bear the cost of 
that application; or

6.7.2.2 treat the Scheme Resolution as a nullity.

6.7.3 In terms of section 115(6) of the Companies Act, the Court may grant leave, on an application 
contemplated in section 115(3)(b) of the Companies Act, only if it is satisfied that the applicant:

6.7.3.1 is acting in good faith;

6.7.3.2 appears prepared and able to sustain the proceedings; and

6.7.3.3 has alleged facts which, if proved, would support an order in terms of section 115(7) of 
the Companies Act.

6.7.4 In terms of section 115(7), the Court may set aside a resolution (ie the Scheme Resolution) that is 
the subject of an application in terms of section 115(5)(a) of the Companies Act, or after granting 
leave in terms of section 115(6) of the Companies Act, only if:

6.7.4.1 the resolution is manifestly unfair to any class of holders of the PN2’s securities; or

6.7.4.2 the vote on the Scheme Resolution was materially tainted by conflict of interest, inadequate 
disclosure, failure to comply with the Companies Act, the PN2 MOI or applicable rules of 
PN2, or other significant and material procedural irregularity.
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6.8 Post implementation transactions

6.8.1 Following the implementation of the Scheme, the MCSA Shares held by PN2 will be distributed to 
PN1 (as PN2’s sole shareholder) in terms of the PN2 Distribution. The PN2 Distribution is intended 
to be implemented on and with effect from Thursday, 7 November 2019.

6.8.2 Following the PN2 Distribution, PN2 will be wound up and deregistered.

7. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO PN2 MOI

7.1 In order to implement the MCG Offer, certain amendments are required to be made to the PN2 MOI. These 
amendments will require at least 75% of the voting rights entitled to be exercised at a PN2 Shareholders’ 
meeting to vote in favour of the proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI, being a separate special resolution 
to the Scheme  Resolution. Should the proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI not be approved by the 
requisite majority of PN2 Shareholders, the MCG Offer will not be able to be implemented and the MCG 
Offer will, as a result, be terminated and the PN2 MOI will not be amended.

7.2 For the avidance of doubt, subject to, amongst others, the passing of the Scheme Resolution by the requisite 
majority of PN2 Shareholders, the Scheme will be implemented on and with effect from 08:00 on Tuesday, 
5 November 2019, regardless of whether the requisite majority of PN2 Shareholders approve the proposed 
amendments to the PN2 MOI. Conversely, if the Scheme does not become unconditional or is otherwise 
not implemented in accordance with its terms, the MCG Offer may none-the-less proceed if the relevant 
conditions to the MCG Offer have been duly satisfied (which includes the proposed amendments to the PN2 
MOI being approved by the requisite majority of PN2 Shareholders).

8. SALIENT TERMS OF THE PN1 SHARES

8.1 The PN1 Shares to be issued to Scheme Participants are non-convertible, par value shares, which rank 
pari  passu with one another and which have the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms as 
detailed in the PN1 MOI, extracts of which are provided in Annexure 8 to this Circular.

8.2 The PN1 Shares are subject to the restrictions and limitations relating to transferability and disposal 
as contained in the PN1 MOI (and which are the same as the restrictions applicable to PN2 Shares). For 
a summary of these restrictions and limitations, PN2 Shareholders are referred to Annexure 9 to this 
Circular.

8.3 The PN1 Shares are listed on EESE.

8.4 Each PN1 Share will entitle the holder thereof to one vote per PN1 Share.

9. NON-RESIDENT SHAREHOLDERS AND EXCHANGE CONTROL

9.1 The issue of PN1 Shares to Non-resident Shareholders in terms of the Scheme may be affected by the laws 
of such Non-resident Shareholders’ relevant jurisdiction. In addition, PN2 Shareholders whose registered 
address is outside the Common Monetary Area will need to comply with the Exchange Control Regulations 
set out in Annexure 4 to this Circular.

9.2 Non-resident Shareholders are referred to Annexure 4 to this Circular for further information on the 
restrictions applicable to Non-resident  Shareholders. Annexure 4 also contains an overview of the 
Exchange Control Regulations.

9.3 Non-resident  Shareholders should consult their professional advisors as to whether they require any 
governmental or other consent or need to observe any other formalities to enable them to realise their 
entitlement in terms of the Scheme.

10. TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS RELATING TO THE SCHEME

10.1 PN2 Shareholders may rely on the provisions of section 42 of the Income Tax Act in respect of the Scheme. 
This section provides relief from income tax and CGT which may ordinarily be payable in respect of a 
transaction of the nature contemplated in the Scheme. PN2 Shareholders are referred to Annexure 5 to 
this Circular for information on the taxation consequences relating to the Scheme.

10.2 Notwithstanding paragraph 10.1, the tax implications of the Scheme on PN2 Shareholders will depend 
on the individual circumstances of each Shareholder. PN2 Shareholders should consult their professional 
advisors immediately if they are in any doubt as to their tax position.
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11. TERMINATION OF PN2 LISTING

Subject to the fulfilment (or waiver, as applicable) of the Scheme Conditions Precedent as detailed in paragraph 4 
of this Circular, above, EESE has granted approval for the PN2 Delisting, which is expected to take place from 
the commencement of trade on EESE on Monday, 4 November 2019.

12. FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO PN1 AND PN2

12.1 Copies of PN1’s audited historical financial statements for its last three financial years ended 31 March 2017, 
31  March  2018 and 31  March  2019, respectively, are contained in Annexure 10 to this Circular and 
available on the PN1 website (www.phuthumanathi.co.za).

12.2 Copies of PN2’s audited historical financial statements for its last three financial years ended 31 March 2017, 
31  March  2018 and 31  March  2019, respectively, are contained in Annexure 11 to this Circular and 
available on the PN2 website (www.phuthumanathi.co.za).

12.3 The price history of PN1 Shares and PN2 Shares on EESE is set out in Annexure 7 to the Circular.

13. PRO FORMA FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE SCHEME

13.1 In simplistic terms, the Scheme entails a swap by PN2 Shareholders of their PN2 Shares for PN1 Shares. 
Scheme  Participants, in turn, will become shareholders in PN1. Prior to the implementation of the 
Scheme, PN2 will be delisted from EESE. Subsequent to the PN2 Distribution, PN2 will be wound up and 
deregistered.

13.2 The table below sets out the pro forma financial effects of the Scheme on PN1’s pro forma earnings and 
net assets per PN1 Share for the financial year ended 31 March 2019, based on PN1’s and PN2’s audited 
annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019. The below pro forma financial 
effects have been prepared on the basis that all PN2 Shareholders participate in the Scheme and that no 
PN2 Shareholder exercises its Appraisal Rights.

Before(1)

Pro forma 
after the 
Scheme(2)

%
change

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)(3) 2 448 2 448 –
Basic and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)(3) 2 448 2 448 –
Net asset value per share (cents)(3) 8 934 8 602 (4)
Net tangible asset value per share (cents)(3) 8 934 8 602 (4)
Weighted average number of shares in issue (million) 45 67.5 50
Number of shares in issue (million) 45 67.5 50

Notes:

1. The “Before” column is based on the audited annual financial statements of PN1 for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

2. The “Pro forma after the Scheme” column reflects the impact of and the pro forma adjustments on PN1 as a consequence of the 
Scheme.

3. The effects on earnings, diluted earnings, headline earnings, diluted headline earnings per share are calculated on the basis that 
the Scheme was effective 1 April 2018, while the effects on net asset value and net tangible asset value per share was calculated on 
the basis that the Scheme was effective 31 March 2019 for purposes of presenting the pro forma financial effects thereof on PN1.

4. The detailed notes and assumptions to the financial effects are presented with the pro forma profit and loss and the pro forma 
financial position contained in Annexure 2 to this Circular. The Independent Reporting Accountant’s – limited assurance report on 
the pro forma financial information is included in Annexure 3 to this Circular.

13.3 The above pro forma financial effects should be read in conjunction with the pro forma financial information 
for PN1 (being the pro forma statement of profit and loss and the pro forma statement of financial position 
for the year ended 31 March 2019) and the accompanying report prepared by the Independent Reporting 
Accountant in relation to such pro forma financial information, as contained in Annexures  2 and  3, 
respectively, to this Circular.

13.4 The pro forma financial information is the responsibility of the PN1  Directors and was prepared for 
illustrative purposes only and may not, because of its nature, fairly present PN1’s financial position, 
changes in equity and results of its operations or cash flows. It does not purport to be indicative of what 
the financial results would have been, had the Scheme been implemented on a different date.
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14. PN2 DIRECTORS

As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN2 Directors were as follows:

PN2 Board of Directors

Independent non-executive directors

Mandla Langa, Dip in Offset Litho Printing and certificate in Periodical Journalism

Mandla Langa (born 31 March 1950) was chairperson of MCSA from 2007 to 2010 and chairperson of ICASA 
from 1999 to 2005. In 2007 he received South Africa’s National Order of Ikhamanga (Silver) for literary, 
journalistic and cultural achievements and in 2009, a Living Legends Award from the eThekwini municipality. 
A number of his works have been published. His directorships include Business and Arts South Africa (BASA), 
the Foundation for Global Dialogue (FGD), the Institute for the Advancement of Journalism (IAJ), the Rhodes 
University School for Economic Journalism, Koketso Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, Nation’s Trust, PN1, PN2 
and the South African Screenwriters’ Laboratory.

Yolisa Phahle, MBA

Yolisa Phahle (born 24 January 1966) holds an MBA from GIBS Business School. She started her career as a 
classical pianist and violinist. In 1998 she started her TV career which included presenting, producing and 
sound and vision mixing for the British Broadcasting Corporation. She has held several senior roles within 
MultiChoice South Africa and is currently the chief executive officer of general entertainment for the MultiChoice 
Group. In this role she drives the group’s content strategy that will deliver the best international content to 
the organisation’s 15 million subscriber homes, whilst increasing the focus on local story telling and industry 
development.

Herman Wessels, BCom, CTA and CA(SA)

Herman Wessels (born 26 August 1944) has the qualifications of BCom, CTA and CA (SA) and was a partner 
at PwC from 1972 to 2005. He currently serves as a director of Keeromstraat 30 Beleggings and Naspers 
Beleggings, Trencor, Swiss Re Life, Health Africa and Just Retirement South Africa. He is the former director 
of WWF South Africa and Peace Parks Foundation.

It is envisaged that, upon implementation of the Scheme, the above-noted PN2  Directors will remain as 
(non-executive) PN2 Directors pending the winding-up and deregistration of PN2.

15. PN1 DIRECTORS

As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN1 Board was comprised of the following PN1 Directors:

PN1 Board of Directors

Non-executive directors

Calvo Phedi Mawela, BSc (Eng)

Calvo Phedi Mawela (born 10 June 1976) holds a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of KwaZulu-Natal. He currently serves as the chief executive officer of MCG and MCSA. He was 
previously the head of stakeholder and regulatory affairs and held positions as an engineer at Sentech and a 
broadcasting spectrum manager at ICASA. He has also served in a number of ministerial advisory task teams, 
including the Digital Migration Working Group, Digital Dzonga and the ICT Policy Review Panel.

Independent non-executive directors

Clarissa Mack, LLB

Clarissa Mack (born 11 March 1968) graduated with an LLB from the University of Cape Town and soon after 
completed a master’s degree in law at Georgetown University in Washington, DC (USA). After completing her 
legal articles at Cheadle, Thompson & Haysom attorneys, she joined Electronic Media Network (“M-Net”) and 
later MCSA. She is a former director of M-Net, SuperSport and other companies in the wider MCG. Clarissa was 
intimately involved in the launch of the current Phuthuma Nathi schemes, housed in PN1 and PN2.

Mandla Langa

Please see paragraph 14 above, for Mandla Langa’s profile.
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16. INTERESTS OF PN1 AND ITS DIRECTORS IN PN2 SHARES

16.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN1 Directors (other than Calvo Phedi Mawela) held a direct beneficial 
interest in 134 497 PN2 Shares, representing approximately 0.5978% of the total issued share capital 
of PN2.

16.2 No trades in PN2 Shares were entered into by PN1 or any of the PN1 Directors during the six months 
preceding Friday, 30 August 2019, being the date on which the Scheme announcement was issued by PN2 
relating to the Scheme and the period up to the Last Practicable Date for the Circular.

17. INTERESTS OF PN2 AND ITS DIRECTORS IN PN1 SHARES

17.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN2 Directors, (other than Herman Wessels) held a direct beneficial 
interest in PN1 Shares (being 7 451 PN1 Shares), representing approximately 0.0166% of the total issued 
share capital of PN1.

17.2 No trades in PN1 Shares were entered into by PN2 or any of the PN2 Directors during the six months 
preceding Friday, 30 August  2019, being the date on which the Scheme announcement was issued by PN2 
relating to the Scheme and the period up to the Last Practicable Date for the Circular.

18. INTERESTS OF PN2 DIRECTORS IN PN2 SHARES

18.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN2 Directors (and their associates) held direct beneficial interests in 
221 PN2 Shares, representing approximately 0.0010% of the total issued share capital of PN2. The direct 
beneficial interests of the PN2 Directors are as follows:

Beneficial interest

Name of PN2 Director Direct Indirect
Total

shares
Total

%

Mandla Langa 221 – 221 0.0010
Yolisa Phahle – – – –
Herman Wessels – – – –

Based on 22 500 000 PN2 Shares in issue.

18.2 Save as disclosed in paragraph 18.1 above, the PN2 Directors do not have any other interests in PN2 Shares.

18.3 No trades in PN2 Shares were entered into by PN2 or any of the PN2 Directors during the six months 
preceding Friday, 30 August 2019, being the date on which the Scheme announcement was issued by PN2 
relating to the Scheme and the period up to the Last Practicable Date for the Circular.

18.4 Following the Scheme being implemented, the abovementioned PN2 Directors and their associates will no 
longer own any PN2 Shares, as such shares will be exchanged for PN1 Shares by virtue of the operation 
of the Scheme.

19. INTERESTS OF PN1 DIRECTORS IN PN1 SHARES

19.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, the PN1 Directors (and their associates) held direct beneficial interests 
in 14 775 PN1 Shares, representing approximately 0.0328% of the total issued share capital of PN1. The 
direct beneficial interests of the PN1 Directors are as follows:

Beneficial interest

Name of PN1 Director Direct Indirect
Total

shares
Total

%

Mandla Langa 5 451 – 5 451 0.0121
Clarissa Mack 5 324 – 5 324 0.0118
Calvo Phedi Mawela 4 000 – 4 000 0.0089

Based on 45 000 000 PN1 Shares in issue.
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19.2 Save as disclosed in paragraph 19.1 above, the PN1 Directors do not have any other interests in PN1 Shares.

19.3 No trades in PN1 Shares were entered into by PN1 or any of the PN1 Directors during the six months 
preceding Friday, 30 August 2019, being the date on which the Scheme announcement was issued by PN2 
relating to the Scheme and the period up to the Last Practicable Date for the Circular.

20. PN2 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SCHEME

20.1 Save for their direct or indirect participation in the Scheme as PN2 Shareholders (see paragraph 18.1 of 
this Circular, above), no PN2 Directors will benefit, directly or indirectly, in any manner as a consequence 
of the implementation of the Scheme.

20.2 All PN2 Shareholders will be treated equally in relation to the Scheme, whether or not such PN2 Shareholders 
are also PN2 Directors. This means that the PN2 Directors will receive PN1 Shares, calculated in accordance 
with the Entitlement Ratio, pursuant to their holding of PN2 Shares (if any) following the implementation 
of the Scheme. The PN2 Directors’ interests in PN2 are noted in paragraph 18.1 of this Circular, above.

21. PN2 DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND REMUNERATION

21.1 PN2 only has non-executive directors appointed to the Board and accordingly there are no relevant service 
contracts with any of the PN2 Directors. Additionally, PN2 does not employ any other person.

21.2 The PN2 Directors’ remuneration will not be varied as a result of the Scheme (or the subsequent PN2 
Distribution). If the Scheme becomes unconditional and is implemented in accordance with its terms, the 
PN2 Directors will remain as (non-executive) PN2 Directors pending the winding-up and deregistration 
of PN2.

21.3 No service contracts have been entered into or amended within six months prior to the Last Practicable 
Date for the Circular.

22. INTERESTS IN PN1 SHARES AND PN2 SHARES BY PROVIDERS OF IRREVOCABLE COMMITMENTS

As at the Last Practicable Date, no PN2 Shareholder provided an irrevocable commitment to vote in favour of the 
Scheme at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

23. OTHER INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE SCHEME

23.1 Subject to the prior written consent of PN1, and subject to the prior approval of the TRP (and, if and to the 
extent required, EESE), the PN2 Board may consent before or at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, to any 
amendment, variation or modification of the Scheme (which modification shall be subject to approval of 
PN2 Shareholders by special resolution).

23.2 A certificate signed by a duly authorised director of each of PN1 and PN2 stating that any or all of the 
Scheme Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled or waived and that the Scheme has become operative shall 
be binding on PN2 and the Scheme Participants, and upon signature thereof (including after the relevant 
date for fulfilment of such conditions), such Scheme Condition Precedent shall conclusively be deemed to 
have been duly fulfilled.

23.3 MCG will bear and pay the legal costs in relation to the preparation and submission of the necessary legal 
filings and all other legal advice in relation to the implementation of the Scheme. MCG will also bear 
and pay all related and incidental costs, including the costs the Independent Reporting Accountant, the 
Independent Expert, the Legal and Tax Advisors to PN1 and PN2, the costs of printing and posting the 
Circular as well as any costs of any application required to be made to the Court (if necessary) to approve 
and implement the Scheme.

23.4 PN2 will be entitled, and will have the authority, on behalf of each PN2 Scheme Participant, to authorise 
any person nominated by PN2 to sign all documents which are necessary or desirable to carry the Scheme 
into effect.

23.5 All times and dates referred to in the Scheme are subject to change by agreement between, amongst 
others, the PN Entities and subject to the approval of the TRP and EESE and/or Court, where relevant. Any 
such change will be published on the EESE Platform and on the Company’s website as soon as reasonably 
possible thereafter.
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24. AGREEMENTS IN RELATION TO THE SCHEME

There are no agreements as between any of the following parties that are considered to be material to a 
decision to be taken by PN2  Shareholders regarding the Scheme; PN1, PN2, any PN1  Directors, any PN2 
Directors (and persons who were PN2 Directors within the 12 months preceding the Last Practicable Date) 
and any PN2 Shareholders (or persons who were PN2 Shareholders within the 12 months preceding the Last 
Practicable Date).

25. CONFIRMATION OF SECURITIES TO SETTLE THE SCHEME CONSIDERATION

PN1 has confirmed to the PN2 Board and the TRP that, subject to the passing of the requisite resolutions of 
the PN1 Shareholders at the PN1 Shareholders’ Meeting (as envisaged in paragraphs 4.1.7 and 4.1.8 above), it 
has sufficient authorised and unissued PN1 Shares to issue the maximum number of new PN1 Shares which 
may be required to satisfy the Scheme Consideration fully and that it has the necessary authority to issue such 
PN1 Shares.

26. OPINIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

26.1 Appointment of an Independent Expert

The PN2 Independent Board has appointed the Independent Expert, an independent advisor acceptable to 
the TRP and EESE, to provide an independent professional expert’s opinion regarding the Scheme and to 
make appropriate recommendations to the PN2 Independent Board in the form of a report contemplated 
in, inter alia, section 114(3) of the Companies Act and regulation 90 of the Takeover Regulations.

26.2 Report of the Independent Expert

26.2.1 The Independent Expert has, inter alia, as contemplated in regulation  110(1) of the Takeover 
Regulations, performed a valuation on the PN2  Shares, and has, as contemplated in 
regulation 110(10) of the Takeover Regulations, performed a valuation on the PN1 Shares to be 
issued as Scheme Consideration. The report of the Independent Expert also includes the items 
required by section 114(3) of the Companies Act.

26.2.2 Based on the results of the procedures performed by the Independent Expert, valuation work and 
other qualitative factors set out in the Independent Expert’s Report, and taking into consideration 
the terms and conditions of the Scheme, the Independent Expert is of the opinion that such terms 
and conditions are FAIR AND REASONABLE to PN2  Shareholders and has advised the PN2 
Independent Board accordingly. PN2 Shareholders are referred to Annexure 1 to this Circular, 
which sets out the full text of the Independent Expert’s Report.

26.3 Views of the PN2 Independent Board

The PN2 Independent Board was appointed by PN2 as is required by the Takeover Regulations, to provide 
its opinion on the Scheme in terms of section 114 of the Companies Act. The PN2 Independent Board has 
considered the terms of the Scheme and has taken into account the opinion of the Independent Expert, 
included in paragraph 26.2.2 above and as Annexure 1 to this Circular. It is the opinion of the PN2 
Independent Board that such terms are for the benefit of all PN2 Shareholders and, accordingly, the PN2 
Independent Board recommends that PN2 Shareholders VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme Resolution, 
which (subject to all other Scheme Conditions Precedent being fulfilled (or waived, if applicable)) will 
result in the Scheme being implemented.

No other offers were received by or in respect of PN2 during the six months preceding Friday, 
30 August, 2019, being the date on which the Scheme announcement was issued by PN2 relating to the 
Scheme and the period up to the Last Practicable Date for the Circular.

26.4 Voting of PN2 Directors

All the PN2 Directors, to the extent that they own or control PN2 Shares, intend to VOTE IN FAVOUR of 
the Scheme Resolution.

26.5 PN1 Board’s opinion

The PN1 Board is of the opinion that the Scheme is for the benefit of all PN2 Shareholders and 
PN1 Shareholders and encourages PN2 Shareholders to VOTE IN FAVOUR of the Scheme Resolution. 
The PN1 Board has recommended that PN1 Shareholders should vote in favour of the resolutions to be 
proposed at the PN1 Shareholders’ Meeting (as envisaged in paragraphs 4.1.7 and 4.1.8 above) and which 
are necessary for PN1 to issue the PN1 Shares as Scheme Consideration.
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27. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

27.1 PN2 Independent Board

The members of the PN2 Independent Board whose names are given on page 28 of this Circular, collectively 
and individually, accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Circular to 
the extent that it relates to PN2, and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no 
facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this Circular contains all information required 
by law. No member of the PN2 Independent Board is excluded from this statement.

27.2 PN2 Board

The PN2 Directors whose names are given in paragraph 14 on page 28 of this Circular, collectively and 
individually, accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Circular but 
excluding information in relation to the matters on which the PN2 Independent Board has opined, and 
certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would 
make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have 
been made and that this Circular contains all information required by law. No member of the PN2 Board 
is excluded from this statement.

27.3 PN1 Board

The PN1 Board whose names are given in paragraph 15 on page 28 of this Circular, collectively and 
individually, accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Circular to the 
extent that it relates to PN1, and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts 
that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this Circular contains all information required 
by law. No member of the PN1 Board is excluded from this statement.

27.4 Consents

Each of the advisors to the PN Entities listed in the section entitled “Corporate Information and Advisors”, 
being the Issuer Representative to PN1 and PN2, the Independent Reporting Accountant, the Independent 
Expert, the Legal and Tax Advisor to PN1 and PN2, the Financial Advisor to PN1 and the Transfer 
Secretaries have consented in writing to act in the capacities stated and to their names being stated in 
this Circular and, where applicable, to the inclusion of their reports in the form and context in which they 
appear in this Circular, and have not withdrawn their consents prior to the Last Practicable Date.

28. PN2 SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

28.1 The PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is to be held at 12:00 on Monday, 21 October 2019, at MultiChoice City, 
144 Bram Fischer Drive, Ferndale, Randburg, Johannesburg, South Africa, in order to consider and, if 
deemed fit, pass the Scheme Resolution, which will result in the Scheme being implemented (subject to all 
other Scheme Conditions Precedent being fulfilled (or waived, if applicable)), including the PN2 Delisting 
and subsequent PN2 Distribution.

28.2 A notice convening the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is attached to and forms part of this Circular.

29. GOVERNING LAW

This Circular and the Scheme will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of South Africa, 
and will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the South African courts.

30. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office of PN1 or PN2 (as 
applicable), whose registered office details can be found in the “Corporate Information and Advisors” section of 
this Circular, during normal business hours and on Business Days, from the date of issue of this Circular up to 
and including the Operative Date:

• the PN1 MOI and the PN2 MOI (current as at the Last Practicable Date), including marked-up versions of 
such documents reflecting the proposed amendments thereto to be considered, and if thought fit, approved 
by the PN1 Shareholders and PN2 Shareholders at the PN1 Shareholders’ Meeting and the PN2 Shareholders’ 
Meeting, respectively; such amendments to be effective prior to the Operative Date;
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• copies of PN2’s full and complete audited historical financial statements for its last three financial years 
ended 31 March 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019, respectively;

• copies of PN1’s full and complete audited historical financial statements for its last three financial years 
ended 31 March 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019, respectively;

• a signed copy of the Independent Reporting Accountant’s reports on the pro forma financial effects of the 
Scheme on PN1;

• a signed copy of the Independent Expert’s Report;

• the written consents referred to in paragraph 27.4 above; and

• a signed copy of this Circular.

For and on behalf of the PN2 Independent Board

Herman Wessels
Director
16 September 2019

For and on behalf of the PN2 Board

Herman Wessels
Director
16 September 2019

For and on behalf of the PN1 Board

Clarissa Mack
Director
16 September 2019
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ANNEXURE 1

INDEPENDENT EXPERT’S REPORT

6 September 2019

The Independent Board of Directors
Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited
144 Bram Fischer Drive
Ferndale
Randburg
2194

ATTENTION: The Independent Board of Directors

INDEPENDENT EXPERT OPINION IN RELATION TO THE PROPOSED SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT 
BETWEEN PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED (‘’PN2’’) AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS, WHICH 
IS AN AFFECTED TRANSACTION IN TERMS OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2008 (ACT 71 OF 2008), AS AMENDED 
FROM TIME TO TIME (“THE ACT”)

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

In an announcement published on the Equity Express Securities Exchange (“EESE”) platform on 30 August 2019, 
PN2 advised its shareholders (“PN2 Shareholders”) that the PN2 independent board (“Independent Board”) has 
resolved, subject to a number of conditions, to (i) implement a scheme of arrangement in terms of section 114 of 
the Act, between PN2 and PN2 Shareholders, in terms of which Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited (“PN1”) 
will acquire all of PN2’s ordinary shares (“PN2 Shares”) from the PN2 Shareholders (“Scheme Participants”) in 
consideration for the issue of PN1 ordinary shares (“PN1 Shares”), by PN1, to the Scheme Participants (“Scheme”); 
and (ii) delist the PN2 Shares from EESE (“PN2 Delisting”).

It is envisaged that subject to, amongst others, the passing of the resolution by the requisite majority of 
PN2 Shareholders, the Scheme will be implemented on and with effect from 08:00 on Tuesday, 5 November 2019 
(“Scheme Operative Date”). The PN2 Delisting will be implemented on and with effect from 08:00 on Monday, 
4 November 2019.

Following the PN 2 Delisting and the subsequent implementation of the Scheme:

• all PN2 Shareholders will become shareholders in PN1 on the basis that the PN2 Shareholders will receive one 
PN1 Share for each PN2 Share (“Scheme Consideration”) held on the Scheme Consideration Record Date, being 
Friday, 1 November 2019;

• the MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited (“MCSA”) shares held by PN2 will be distributed to 
PN1 (as PN2’s sole shareholder) (“PN2 Distribution”); and

• PN2 will be wound up and deregistered.

In terms of section 114(2) of the Act, read together with Regulation 90 of the Companies Regulations, 2011 (“the 
Companies Regulations”), the board of directors of PN2 (“Board”) must retain an independent expert to compile a 
report on whether the terms and conditions of the Scheme are fair and reasonable as far as the PN2 Shareholders 
are concerned.

As a consequence of the above, Tamela Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Tamela”) has been appointed by the 
Independent Board as the independent expert to advise on whether the terms and conditions of the Scheme are fair 
and reasonable as far as the PN2 Shareholders are concerned (“our Opinion”).

BACKGROUND

PN1 and PN2 (collectively “PN”) ordinary shares are listed on the EESE platform with respective market capitalisations 
of R5 063 billion and R2 498 billion  as at 5 September 2019. PN1 and PN2 currently own 16.7% and 8.3% of MCSA, 
respectively. The issued share capital of PN1 is 45 000 000 ordinary shares and the issued share capital of PN2 
is 22 500 000 ordinary shares. The ratio of the issued share capital of PN1 and PN2 relative to their proportional 
shareholding in MCSA is the same. PN1 and PN2 are collectively 94% black owned. PN1 and PN2 are both ring-
fenced companies in terms of the Act. The memoranda of incorporation (“MOIs”) of PN1 and PN2 contain various 
restrictions, the main restrictions, being:
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• the main business of PN1 and PN2 is restricted to the holding of MCSA ordinary shares, cash and such assets as 
are received or acquired solely by virtue of or in relation to the holding of MCSA shares;

• the ordinary shares in the PN1 and PN2 share capital must at all times be beneficially owned by Black Participants, 
as defined in the MOIs;

• PN1 and PN2 shareholders may not pledge, charge, hypothecate, subordinate or mortgage their PN1 and PN2 
shares and may not provide their shares as security for any lien, guarantee or loan;

• PN1 and PN2 shareholders may also not give anyone any option or rights of retention over their PN1 and PN2 
shares;

• PN1 and PN2 shareholders are only entitled to sell their PN1 and PN2 shares in accordance with the provisions 
of the MOIs;

• the boards of PN1 and PN2 do not have authority to amend the MOIs without the prior written authority of MIH 
Holdings Limited (“MIHH”), amongst others; and

• PN1 and PN2 are not entitled to sell or encumber their MCSA shares other than with the prior written consent 
of MIHH.

Therefore, PN1 and PN2 are a mirror of each other in all material respects other than the percentage shareholding 
they own in MCSA.

DEFINITION OF THE TERMS “FAIR” AND “REASONABLE”

A transaction will generally be considered fair to a company’s shareholders if the compensation received by the 
shareholders, as a result of the transaction under consideration, is equal to or greater than the value initially 
surrendered by the shareholders.

The assessment of fairness is primarily based on quantitative considerations. In this case, the Scheme may 
be considered fair if the Scheme Consideration is considered to be equal to in value, or greater than, the value 
surrendered, represented by the value of the PN2 ordinary shares.

In accordance with Regulation 110(9) of the Companies Regulations, the assessment of reasonableness may be 
determined with reference to the traded PN2 share price at the time the Scheme Consideration was announced. The 
Scheme will therefore be considered reasonable if the value of the Scheme Consideration exceeds the arms-length 
market value per PN2 ordinary share.

RESPONSIBILITY

Compliance with the Act is the responsibility of PN2, the PN2 board of directors and the Independent Board. Our 
responsibility is to report on whether the terms of the Scheme are fair and reasonable as they relate to the PN2 
shareholders.

We confirm that our Opinion has been provided to the Independent Board for the sole purpose of assisting the 
Independent Board in forming and expressing an opinion for the benefit of PN2 shareholders.

We accept no responsibility to any party other than to the Independent Board.

INFORMATION AND SOURCES OF INFORMATION

In the course of our analysis, we relied on financial and other information obtained from PN2 and/or its advisers 
together with industry-related and other information in the public domain. Our conclusion is dependent on such 
information being accurate in all material respects and accordingly we cannot express any opinion on the financial 
and other information used in arriving at our Opinion. The principal sources of information used in formulating 
our Opinion regarding the Scheme include:

• a draft of the scheme circular (“Circular”) to be sent to PN2 shareholders setting out the terms of the Scheme, 
substantially in the form of the circular to which our Opinion will form an Annexure;

• the audited annual financial statements for PN1, PN2 and MCSA for the three consecutive financial years up to 
and including 31 March 2019 (“Historical Financial Information”);

• Listing circulars of PN1 and PN2 dated 9 November 2018;

• MOIs of PN1 and PN2;

• historical traded security prices in respect of PN1 and PN2 shares on the EESE platform;

• publicly available information relating to PN1 and PN2 that we deemed to be relevant, including company 
announcements, circulars, investor presentations and analyst reports; and

• online and subscription databases covering financial markets, share prices, volumes traded and news.
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Where practical and where possible, we have corroborated the reasonability of the information provided to us for 
the purpose of forming our Opinion, including publicly available information, whether in writing or obtained in 
discussions with PN2 representatives and/or its advisers.

PROCEDURES PERFORMED

In arriving at our Opinion, amongst other things, we have undertaken the following procedures in evaluating the 
fairness of the Scheme:

• considered the terms and conditions of the Scheme (as set out in the Circular);

• analysed and reviewed the Historical Financial Information;

• reviewed certain publicly available information relating to PN1, PN2 and MCSA;

• considered the prevailing economic and market conditions;

• considered other facts and information relevant to concluding our Opinion; and

• considered the appropriateness of the Scheme and any applicable discounts.

We have satisfied ourselves as to the appropriateness and reasonableness of the information and assumptions used 
to formulate our Opinion by:

• considering the historical trends of such information and assumptions; and

• comparing and corroborating such information and assumptions with external sources of information if such 
information is available.

VALUATION APPROACH

Tamela performed a market approach valuation of PN1 and PN2. This approach indicates the market value of the 
ordinary shares of a company based on a comparison of the company to comparable publicly-traded companies and 
transactions in its industry, using comparable market ratios and metrics. PN1 and PN2, as set out above, are a 
mirror of each other in all material respects affecting their fair values, therefore, the market approach (using their 
quoted share prices) has been considered to be the most appropriate means of establishing the relative values of 
PN1 and PN2 for the purpose of the Scheme.

We analysed the volume-weighted average share trading history, share trading liquidity and free float of PN2 
and PN1 over a 12-month period ended 5 September 2019 and confirmed that no indications exist in the market 
of an anomaly in the respective share prices. The two companies have historically traded at share prices that are 
not significantly different from each other. The insignificant difference in share prices may be attributable to the 
different number of shareholders who own PN1 and PN2 and the resultant liquidity. The value of a PN1 share is 
therefore in all material respects the same as the value of a PN2 share.

VALUATION RESULTS AND FAIRNESS

In undertaking the valuation exercise above, we determined that the fair value for a PN2 Share, as at 5 September 
2019, using PN2’s thirty-day volume weighted average traded price (“VWAP”) and sixty-day VWAP is within a 
valuation range of R127.90 and R131.93, with the most likely value of R129.91. The fair value above is provided 
solely in respect of our Opinion and should not be used for any other purposes.

At 5 September 2019, using PN1’s thirty-day VWAP, the Scheme Consideration is therefore considered to be fair.

REASONABILITY

In arriving at our Opinion with respect to the reasonability of the Scheme, we considered, inter alia, the following:

• the Scheme Consideration, as at 5 September 2019, is at least equal to the PN2 share price, when determined 
based on the thirty-day VWAP at 5 September 2019;

• it is envisaged that a combination of the PN entities will result in one entity with a single share price;

• the merged structure would simplify the administrative burden and lead to a reduction in ongoing costs of 
administration relative to the underlying asset base (being the combined pool of MCSA shares to be housed in 
PN1 following completion of the Scheme and the PN2 Distribution);

• if the PN entities were combined, MCSA will be able to apply the “modified flow through” (“MFT”) principle 
(in terms of the applicable B-BBEE Legislation) to the combined PN entity if it is verified that none of the 
PN shareholders have themselves applied MFT in the calculation of their own black ownership. This would allow 
MCSA to improve its direct B-BBEE ownership percentage.
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MATERIAL EFFECTS ON THE RIGHTS OF PN SHAREHOLDERS

By way of summary, following the PN2 Delisting and the subsequent  implementation of the Scheme:

• all PN2 Shareholders will become shareholders in PN1 on the basis that PN2 Shareholders will receive one 
PN1 Share for each PN2 Share held on the Scheme Consideration Record Date;

• the MCSA shares held by PN2 will be distributed to PN1 (as PN2’s sole shareholder) in terms of the PN2 Distribution; 
and

• PN2 will be wound up and deregistered.

OPINION

Having regard to the terms and conditions of the Scheme as set out above and based on the aforementioned, we are 
of the opinion, subject to the limiting conditions set out below, that the terms and conditions of the Scheme are fair 
to PN2 Shareholders.

After consideration of the traded security price of PN2 and PN1, together with other qualitative factors, we are 
of the opinion that the proposed terms and conditions of the Scheme are reasonable from the perspective of PN2 
Shareholders.

Accordingly, based upon and subject to the conditions set out herein, Tamela is of the opinion that the terms and 
conditions of the Scheme are both fair and reasonable to PN2 Shareholders.

Our Opinion is necessarily based upon the information available to us up to 5 September 2019.

Accordingly, it should be understood that subsequent developments may affect our Opinion, which we are under no 
obligation to update, revise or re-affirm.

LIMITING CONDITIONS

Our Opinion is provided to the Independent Board in connection with and for the purpose of the Scheme. Our Opinion 
is prepared solely for the Independent Board and therefore should not be regarded as suitable for use by any other 
party or give rise to third party rights. Our Opinion does not purport to cater for each individual PN2 Shareholder’s 
perspective or circumstances, but rather that of the general body of PN2 Shareholders taken as a whole. Should a 
PN2 Shareholder be in any doubt as to what action to take, he or she should consult an adviser.

An individual PN2 Shareholder’s decision as to whether or not to vote in favour of the Scheme may be influenced by 
his or her particular circumstances. We confirm that, although our Opinion has been provided to the Independent 
Board for the purpose of assisting the Independent Board in forming and expressing an opinion for the benefit of 
PN2 Shareholders, the ultimate assessment as to whether or not the Independent Board decides to recommend the 
Scheme is the responsibility of the Independent Board.

We have relied upon and assumed the accuracy of the information used by us in deriving our Opinion. Where 
practical, we have corroborated the reasonability of the information provided to us for the purpose of our Opinion, 
whether in writing or obtained through discussion with PN2 representatives and/or advisers to PN2, by reference to 
publicly available or independently obtained information. While our work has involved an analysis of, inter alia, the 
annual financial statements and other information provided to us, our engagement does not constitute, nor does it 
include, an audit conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing.

We have also assumed that the Scheme will have the legal, accounting and taxation consequences described in 
discussions with, and materials furnished to us by, representatives and advisors of PN2 and we express no opinion 
on such consequences. We have assumed that all agreements that will be entered into in terms of the Scheme will be 
legally enforceable.

We have furthermore assumed that all conditions precedent, including any material regulatory and other approvals 
required in connection with the Scheme have been or will be properly fulfilled.

SECTIONS 115 AND 164 OF THE ACT

Extracts of sections 115 and 164 of the Act have been included in Annexure 6 of the Circular.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS OF PN2

The shareholding of the directors of PN2, directly and indirectly, is set out in paragraph 18 of the Circular. Save for 
their direct or indirect participation in the Scheme as PN2 ordinary shareholders, no directors of PN2 will benefit, 
directly or indirectly, in any manner as a consequence of the implementation of the Scheme. In addition, there will 
be no change in the remuneration of directors of PN2 as a consequence of the Scheme or any associated transaction. 
Accordingly, the Scheme will not have a material effect on the interests of the PN2 directors.

INDEPENDENCE, COMPETENCE AND FEES

We confirm that two directors of Tamela have non-material shareholdings in PN1 and PN2, being 683 PN1 Shares 
and 2 000 PN2 Shares, respectively. Save for that, we confirm that Tamela is independent and has no direct or 
indirect interest in PN2, PN1 or the Scheme nor any relationship as contemplated in section 114(2)(b) of the Act 
and Regulation 90(3)(a). Tamela also confirms that it (or its directors and employees) has the necessary competence 
to provide the Opinion on the Scheme as required in terms of Regulation 90(3)(a) and meets the criteria set out in 
section 114(2)(a) of the Act. Furthermore, we confirm that our professional fees of R500 000 (exclusive of VAT) are 
not contingent upon the success of the Scheme.

CONSENT

We hereby consent to the inclusion of our Opinion, in whole or in part, and any references thereto, in the form and 
context in which they appear in any required regulatory announcement or document relating to the Scheme.

Yours faithfully

Tshepisho Makofane

Tamela Holdings Proprietary Limited
Ground Floor, Golden Oaks House
Ballyoaks Office Park
35 Ballyclare Drive
Bryanston
Sandton, 2021
(PO Box 379, Morningside, 2057)
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ANNEXURE 2

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PN1

Set out below is the pro forma statement of profit and loss and the pro forma statement of financial position of PN1 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 reflecting the impact of the Scheme.

The pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only to provide information about 
how the Scheme may have affected the financial position of PN1 assuming that the Scheme had been implemented 
on 1 April 2018 for statement of profit and loss purposes and implemented on 31 March 2019 for statement of 
financial position purposes. Due to its nature, the pro forma financial information may not fairly represent PN1’s 
financial position, changes in equity and results of operations or cash flows after the Scheme. The pro forma 
financial information, including the assumptions on which it is based and the financial information from which it 
has been prepared, is the responsibility of the board of directors of PN1. The pro forma financial information has 
been prepared in compliance with IFRS, The Guide on Pro forma Financial Information issued by the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, the EESE Listing Requirements and the accounting policies of PN1.

The pro forma financial information has been reviewed by the Independent Reporting Accountant whose report 
thereon is set out in Annexure 3.
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Note 4: Provisional fair value allocation

PN2’s MCSA investment in associate is recognised at fair value of the share consideration paid by PN1 to acquire the PN2 assets and liabilities.

The fair value of the PN1 share consideration is based on the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities in PN1. The MCSA investment is 
recognised at the fair value of the PN1 share consideration.

PN1 share consideration R’000

Provisional fair value of a 1.67% stake in MCSA according to the fair value allocation performed for the financial statements of 
PN2 for the year ended 31 March 2019 357 783

Provisional value of the 16.67% MCSA investment in PN1 (357 783* 16.67%/1.67%) 3 571 403

Fair value of other PN1 assets and liabilities (as per the annual financial statements of PN1 for the financial year ended  
31 March 2019) 1 652

Total provisional fair value of PN1 (3 571 403+1 652) 3 573 055

Therefore: provisional fair value of the PN1 share consideration (3 573 055*50%)

The 50% represents the 22.5 million shares that are issued which would currently represent 50% of the PN1 share capital 1 786 527

Fair value of the PN2 net identifiable assets and liabilities: R’000

Provisional fair value of a 1.67% stake in MCSA according to the fair value allocation performed for the financial statements of 
PN2 for the year ended 31 March 2019 357 783

Provisional fair value of the 8.33% investment in MCSA (357 783* 8.33%/1.67%) 1 784 630

Fair value of other PN2 assets and liabilities acquired (as per the annual financial statements of PN2 for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019) 820

Total provisional fair value of PN2 1 785 450

Provisional fair value allocation of PN2 R’000

NAV acquired other than the MCSA investment (as per the annual financial statements of PN2 for the financial year ended  
31 March 2019) 820

NAV of the MCSA investment in associate (as per the annual financial statements of PN2 for the financial year ended  
31 March 2019) 2 010 933

Total NAV of PN2 (as per the annual financial statements of PN2 for the financial year ended 31 March 2019) 2 011 753

Fair value adjustment of MCSA investment (1 785 450 – 2 011 753) (226 303)

Total provisional fair value of PN2 1 785 450

Implied goodwill investment 1 077

Total MCSA 8.33% investment in associate/PN1 share consideration 1 786 527

Therefore, the total adjustment to the MCSA investment in associate is R225m being the difference between the carrying value of the PN2 net assets in 
the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the provisional fair value allocation. This is a provisional fair value allocation 
based on the fair indicative fair value of a 1.67% in MCSA.

PN1 acquires the assets and liabilities of PN2 and as a result the accumulated profit and other reserves are eliminated on acquisition of PN2.

Note 5: Transaction, deregistration and wind up costs

All transaction, deregistration and wind up costs of PN2 are expected to be incurred and paid by MCG.
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ANNEXURE 3

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT  
ON THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PN1

Report on the Assurance Engagement on the Compilation of PRO FORMA Financial Information of Phuthuma 
Nathi Investments (RF) Limited included in the Circular

To the Directors

Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited
MultiChoice City
144 Bram Fischer Drive
Randburg
2194

06 September 2019

We have completed our assurance engagement to report on the compilation of the pro forma financial information of 
Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited (the “Company” or “PN1”) by the directors of PN1 (the “Directors”). The 
pro forma financial information, as set out in paragraph 13 and Annexure 2 of the scheme of arrangement circular 
(the “Circular”), consist of the pro forma financial effects of the scheme, the pro forma statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2019, the pro forma statement of profit and loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 and related notes 
(the “Pro Forma Financial Information”). The applicable criteria on the basis of which the Directors have compiled 
the Pro Forma Financial Information are specified in the Equity Express Securities Exchange (“EESE”) Listings 
Requirements and described in paragraph 13 and Annexure 2 of the Circular.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled by the Directors to illustrate the impact of the acquisition 
of the shares in Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited (“PN2”) by PN1 in exchange for PN1 shares and the 
wind up and deregistration of PN2.

As part of this process, information about the Company’s financial position and financial performance has been 
extracted by the Directors from the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, on which an 
audit report has been published.

Directors’ responsibility

The Directors are responsible for compiling the Pro Forma Financial Information on the basis of the applicable 
criteria specified in the EESE Listings Requirements and described in paragraph 13 and Annexure 2 of the Circular.

Our independence and quality control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors, issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ (“IRBA Code”), which is founded 
on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 
professional behaviour. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards).

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system 
of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, 
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Reporting accountant’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion about whether the Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled, 
in all material respects, by the Directors on the basis of the applicable criteria specified in the EESE Listings 
Requirements and described in paragraph 13 and Annexure 2 of the Circular based on our procedures performed.

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3420, Assurance Engagements to Report on the Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information Included in 
a Prospectus issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. This standard requires that we 
plan and perform our procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Pro Forma Financial Information 
has been compiled, in all material respects, on the basis specified in the EESE Listings Requirements.
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For purposes of this engagement, we are not responsible for updating or reissuing any reports or opinions on any 
historical financial information used in compiling the Pro Forma Financial Information, nor have we, in the course 
of this engagement, performed an audit or review of the financial information used in compiling the Pro Forma 
Financial Information.

The purpose of Pro Forma Financial Information is solely to illustrate the impact of a significant event or transaction 
on unadjusted financial information of the Company as if the event had occurred or the transaction had been 
undertaken at an earlier date selected for purposes of the illustration. Accordingly, we do not provide any assurance 
that the actual outcome of the event or transaction would have been as presented.

A reasonable assurance engagement to report on whether the Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled, 
in all material respects, on the basis of the applicable criteria involves performing procedures to assess whether 
the applicable criteria used by the directors in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information provide a 
reasonable basis for presenting the significant effects directly attributable to the event or transaction, and to obtain 
sufficient appropriate evidence about whether:

• the related pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those criteria; and

• the Pro Forma Financial Information reflects the proper application of those adjustments to the unadjusted 
financial information.

The procedures selected depend on our judgement, having regard to our understanding of the nature of the Company, 
the event or transaction in respect of which the Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled, and other 
relevant engagement circumstances.

Our engagement also involves evaluating the overall presentation of the Pro Forma Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled, in all material respects, on the basis of the 
applicable criteria specified by the EESE Listings Requirements and described in paragraph 13 and Annexure 2 of 
the Circular.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: Alinah Motaung
Registered Auditor

4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, 2090

06 September 2019
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ANNEXURE 4

INFORMATION FOR NON-RESIDENT SHAREHOLDERS AND FOR ALL 
PN2 SHAREHOLDERS IN RESPECT OF EXCHANGE CONTROL REGULATIONS

1. ISSUE OF PN1 SHARES TO NON-RESIDENT SHAREHOLDERS

The following summary describes the restrictions applicable to PN2 Shareholders in terms of the Scheme who 
have registered addresses outside South Africa or who are persons (including, without limitation, custodians, 
nominees and trustees) who have a contractual or legal obligation to forward this Circular to a jurisdiction 
outside South Africa, or who hold PN Shares for the account or benefit of any such Non-resident Shareholder 
and will therefore hold PN1 Shares in a similar manner.

The issue of PN1 Shares to Non-resident Shareholders, in terms of the Scheme, may be affected by the laws of 
such Non-resident Shareholders’ relevant jurisdiction. Those Non-resident Shareholders should consult their 
professional advisors as to whether they require any governmental or other consent or need to observe any 
other laws, requirements or formalities to enable them to receive this Circular and/or take up their entitlements 
and/or have PN1 Shares issued to them in terms of the Scheme.

It is the responsibility of any Non-resident Shareholder (including, without limitation, any nominees, agents 
and trustees for such persons) wishing to receive this Circular and/or take up their entitlement to PN1 Shares 
and/or have PN1 Shares issued to them in terms of the Scheme to satisfy themselves as to full observance of the 
applicable laws of any relevant territory, including obtaining any requisite governmental or other consents, 
observing any other requisite formalities and paying any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such territories.

Accordingly, persons (including, without limitation, any nominees, agents and trustees) receiving this Circular 
should not distribute or send the same to any person in, or citizen or resident of, or otherwise into any jurisdiction 
where to do so would or might contravene local securities laws or regulations. Any person who does distribute 
this Circular into any such territory (whether under a contractual or legal obligation or otherwise) should draw 
the recipient’s attention to the contents of this Annexure 4.

PN2 reserves the right, in its sole discretion, but shall not be obliged, to treat as invalid any issue (or proposed 
issue) of PN1 Shares, in terms of the Scheme, which appears to PN2 or its agents to have been executed, effected 
or dispatched in a manner which may involve a breach of the securities laws or regulations of any jurisdiction; 
or if PN2 believes (in its discretion) or its agents believe that the same may violate applicable legal or regulatory 
requirements; or if PN2 believes (in its discretion) that it is prohibited or unduly onerous or impractical to issue 
the PN1 Shares to such Non-resident Shareholder in terms of the Scheme. If a Non-resident Shareholder is of the 
view that the issue of PN1 Shares in terms of the Scheme to such Non-resident Shareholder may involve a breach 
of the securities laws or regulations or violate applicable legal or regulatory requirements; such Non-resident 
Shareholder must as soon as reasonably practicable notify PN2 of such fact or circumstance.

In either of the aforementioned instances, PN2 shall be entitled (in its discretion) to do all things 
necessary or desirable to ensure compliance with applicable law and/or regulation including selling such 
Non-resident Shareholders’ PN1 Shares that would otherwise have been issued to the Non-resident Shareholder 
under the Scheme on their behalf and at risk, with the net proceeds of such sale (after deduction of any applicable 
taxes, withholdings or costs) to be paid to the Non-resident Shareholder. The PN1 Shares to which Excluded 
Non-resident Shareholders would be entitled in terms of the Scheme may, in PN2’s discretion, be aggregated and 
disposed of on EESE by the Sale Agent on behalf of and for the benefit of Excluded Non-resident Shareholders 
as soon as is reasonably practical after the implementation of the Scheme. Excluded Non-resident Shareholders 
will, in respect of their entitlement to the PN1 Shares, receive the average consideration per PN1 Share received 
by the Sale Agent pursuant to the sale process as set out in the preceding paragraph after deduction of the Sale 
Agent’s costs (including other applicable transaction and currency conversion costs, and taxes) which will be 
shared on a pro rata basis between all Excluded Non-resident Shareholders. The average consideration per PN1 
Share due to each Excluded Non-resident Shareholder will only be paid once all such PN1 Shares have been 
disposed of.

2. EXCHANGE CONTROL

The PN1 Shares are not freely transferable from the Common Monetary Area and must be dealt with in terms 
of the Exchange Control Regulations. The following is a summary of the Exchange Control Regulations, is not 
comprehensive and is intended as a guide only. In the event that PN2 Shareholders have any doubts in respect of 
their obligations in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations, they should consult their professional advisors.
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2.1 Overview of the Exchange Control Regulations

The following summary is provided for information purposes only. It is therefore not comprehensive and 
should not be construed as advice.

In terms of the Exchange Control Regulations, persons who are not resident in the Common Monetary 
Area (non-residents) may acquire or dispose of shares in companies that are resident in the Common 
Monetary Area (residents), provided that:

• any shares so acquired must be endorsed as “non-resident” by an Authorised Dealer (in the case of 
certificated shares) or flagged as “non-resident” by a central securities depositary participant or a 
settlement agent (in the case of uncertificated shares); and

• the endorsement or non-resident flagging of shares (as the case may be) of any shares so disposed of 
must be cancelled.

It is further noted that, in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations:

• a former resident of the Common Monetary Area who has emigrated, may use funds in the emigrant 
capital account to subscribe for PN1 Shares;

• all payments in respect of subscriptions for PN1 Shares by an emigrant, using funds from an emigrant’s 
capital account, must be made through the Authorised Dealer controlling their remaining assets;

• any PN1 Shares issued pursuant to the use of funds from emigrant’s capital account, will be credited 
to their share accounts at Singular Services;

• PN1 Shares subsequently re-materialised and issued in certificated form, will be endorsed “non-resident” 
and will be forwarded to the Authorised Dealer controlling the emigrant’s remaining assets;

• if applicable, refund monies payable in respect of unsuccessful applications or partly successful 
applications, as the case may be, for shares in terms of this Circular, emanating from emigrant capital 
accounts, will be returned to the Authorised Dealer through whom the payments were made, for credit 
to such emigrants’ capital account; and

• applicants’ resident outside the Common Monetary Area should note that, where shares are subsequently 
re-materialised and issued in certificated form, such share certificates will be endorsed “non-resident” 
in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations.

2.2 Emigrants from the Common Monetary Area

The PN1 Shares received by the Scheme Participants who are emigrants from the Common Monetary Area 
and whose registered addresses are outside the Common Monetary Area will be credited to their share 
accounts at Singular Services.

Singular Services will ensure that all requirements of the Exchange Control Regulations are adhered to in 
respect of all the PN2 Shareholders falling into this category of investor of shares.

Any entitlement to payment due to PN2 Shareholders pursuant to the Scheme will be credited to their 
banking account at Singular Services.

2.3 All other Non-residents of the Common Monetary Area

The PN1 Shares received by the Scheme Participants who are Non-residents of the Common Monetary 
Area and who have never resided in the Common Monetary Area and whose registered address is outside 
the Common Monetary Area will receive their PN1 Shares in their share accounts at Singular Services.

Singular Services will ensure that all requirements of the Exchange Control Regulations are adhered to in 
respect of all the PN2 Shareholders falling into this category of investor of shares.

Any entitlement to payment due to PN2 Shareholders pursuant to the Scheme will be credited to their 
account at Singular Services, and will be regarded as freely transferable.
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ANNEXURE 5

TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS RELATING TO THE SCHEME 

The following is a summary of the South African tax considerations which are relevant for PN2 Shareholders which 
are to acquire, hold and dispose of PN1 Shares. This summary is based on the Company’s understanding of the 
applicable laws, regulations, treaties and regulatory interpretations in effect in South Africa on the date of this 
Circular, all of which are subject to change, including changes that could have a retrospective effect.

The summary below is a general guide and is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of the taxation 
consequences of the Scheme provisions in terms of South African taxation law. It is not intended to be, nor should it 
be considered as legal or taxation advice. This summary is therefore intended solely to draw the PN2 Shareholders’ 
attention to certain key aspects of the tax legislation that may be relevant to them pursuant to the Scheme. 

PN2 and its advisors cannot be held responsible for the taxation consequences that the Scheme may have on 
individual PN2 Shareholders and therefore PN2 Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors if they 
are in any doubt about their tax position. They should also confirm how the general comments below apply to their 
specific personal circumstances and, in particular, ascertain whether there are any additional or exceptional tax 
consequences which could apply to them. 

ACQUISITION OF PN1 SHARES

The Scheme could constitute an “asset-for-share transaction” utilising the tax concessions provided for in section 42 
of the Income Tax Act, if:

• the market value of the PN2 Shares disposed of is at least equal to the CGT base cost (or tax cost, as the case may 
be) of the PN2 Shares on the date of disposal;

• at the close of the day on which the PN2 Shares are disposed of, the PN2 Shareholders hold a “qualifying interest” 
in PN1(i.e. one listed share); and

• the disposal would be taken into account for purposes of determining the taxable income or assessed loss of the 
relevant PN2 Shareholder. 

The concessions provided for in section 42 of the Income Tax Act are outlined below: 

PN2 Shares held as capital assets

Where the market value of the PN2 Shares are equal to or exceed their CGT base cost on the basis that PN2 Shareholders 
hold the PN2 Shares as capital assets, the Scheme should not attract CGT. PN2 Shareholders will be deemed to have 
disposed of their PN2 Shares for an amount equal to CGT base cost, which CGT base cost will be attributed to the 
PN1 Shares acquired and be deemed expenditure actually incurred and paid by that shareholder in respect of their 
PN1 Shares. PN2 Shareholders will be deemed to have acquired the PN1 Shares on the date on which the PN2 Shares 
were originally acquired. 

PN2 Shares held as trading stock

Where the market value of the PN2 Shares are equal to or exceed the amount taken into account in terms of sections 
11(a) or 22(1) or (2) of the Income Tax Act, on the basis that PN2 Shareholders hold the PN2 Shares as trading stock, 
the exchange should not attract income tax. PN2 Shareholders will be deemed to have disposed of their PN2 Shares 
for an amount taken into account in terms of sections 11(a) or 22(1) or (2), which original cost will be attributed 
to the PN1 Shares acquired and be deemed cost or expenditure actually incurred and paid by that shareholder in 
respect of their PN1 Shares. PN2 Shareholders will be deemed to have acquired the PN1 Shares on the date on which 
the PN2 Shares were originally acquired.

STT

The exchange of the PN2 Shares for PN1 Shares will be exempt from the payment of any STT, provided that the 
public officers of PN2 have made a sworn affidavit/solemn declaration that the particular PN1 Scheme transaction 
complies with the requirements stipulated in section 8(1)(a)(i) of the STT Act.

The tax concessions provided for in section 42 of the Income Tax Act will not apply in instances where the market 
value of the PN2 Shares disposed of is less than the CGT base cost of those shares, or in instances where the disposal 
would not be taken into account for purposes of determining the taxable income or assessed loss of the relevant PN 
Shareholder.
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In the case where the market value of the PN2 Shares is less than the CGT base cost of those shares, (but the 
disposal would be taken into account for purposes of determining the taxable income or assessed loss of the relevant 
PN Shareholder), the tax implications pertaining to such an ‘asset-for-share transaction’ falling outside of the tax 
concessions provided for in section 42 are summarised below:

PN2 Shares held as capital assets

The PN2 Shareholder will be regarded as having disposed of the PN2 Shares for an amount equal to the market value 
of the PN1 Shares acquired. Where the market value of the PN1 Shares acquired is less than the CGT base cost of the 
PN2 Shares disposed of, the relevant PN2 Shareholder will realise a capital loss. 

In turn the relevant PN2 Shareholder will establish CGT base cost in the PN1 Shares acquired, equal to the market 
value of the PN2 Shares disposed of to PN1.

PN2 Shares held as trading stock 

The PN2 Shareholder will be regarded as having disposed of the PN2 Shares for an amount equal to the market 
value of the PN1 Shares acquired. Where the market value of the PN1 Shares acquired is less than the amount of 
expenditure for purposes of sections 11(a) or 22(1) or (2) in respect of the PN2 Shares disposed of, the relevant PN 
Shareholder will realise a revenue loss. 

In turn the relevant PN2 Shareholder will be deemed to have actually incurred an amount of expenditure for purposes 
of sections 11(a) or 22(1) or (2) in respect of the PN1 Shares acquired, equal to the market value of the PN2 Shares 
disposed of to PN1.

In the case where the disposal would not be taken into account for purposes of determining the taxable income 
or assessed loss of the relevant PN2 Shareholder, the tax concessions provided for in section 42 will not apply. 
However, as the receipts and/or accruals of the relevant PN2 Shareholders are exempt from/fall outside the scope 
of South African taxation, the disposal of PN2 Shares will not have any South African income tax implications. 
Notwithstanding the fact that the tax concessions contained in section 42 may not apply to these transactions, 
the transaction will nevertheless be exempt from STT if a public officer of PN2 has made a sworn affidavit/solemn 
declaration that the Scheme complies with the requirements stipulated in section 8(1)(a)(vi) of the STT Act.

HOLDING PN1 SHARES – SOUTH AFRICAN DIVIDEND TAX

South Africa imposes a 20% withholding tax on dividends (“Dividends Tax”) paid in respect of shares in South 
African tax resident companies (other than a headquarter company). All dividends declared to shareholders of PN1 
Shares will accordingly be subject to South African Dividends Tax, unless the recipient of the dividend qualifies for 
an exemption or reduction. An exemption from South African Dividends Tax will apply if the beneficial owner of 
the PN1 dividend is, among others, a company which is a South African tax resident, a public benefit organisation, 
a pension fund, a pension preservation fund, a provident fund, a provident preservation fund, a retirement annuity 
fund, a benefit fund and a collective investment scheme in securities. Natural persons who are South African tax 
resident do not qualify for an exemption from South African Dividends Tax unless that dividend is paid in respect of 
a tax free investment as contemplated in terms of section 12T(1) of the Income Tax Act.

Non-South African resident shareholders may be eligible for relief from Dividends Tax provided in terms of an 
applicable agreement for the avoidance of double taxation (if any).

Dividends Tax must be withheld by the appropriate broker or transfer secretary, unless the recipient of the dividend 
(i.e. the beneficial owner) qualifies for an exemption. Certain prescribed legal formalities must be adhered to by the 
beneficial owner of the dividend in order for the Dividends Tax exemption to be relied upon. Essentially, the beneficial 
owners will be required to submit a declaration that the dividend is exempt from Dividends Tax and a written 
undertaking to inform the appropriate broker or transfer secretary should the beneficial owner’s circumstances 
change or if the beneficial owner ceases to be the beneficial owner. This declaration and written undertaking (if 
applicable) should be provided to the appropriate broker or transfer secretary by a date that they have determined 
or, if no date has been determined, by the date of payment of the dividend.

DISPOSAL OF PN1 SHARES

Persons which are tax residents in South Africa may be subject to CGT upon the future disposal of PN1 Shares, if 
they hold the PN1 Shares as capital assets. The disposal of the PN1 Shares held as trading stock will be subject to 
ordinary income tax.
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Tax on capital gains 

Upon a future disposal of PN1 Shares, a South African shareholder may realise a capital gain or capital loss for 
South African tax purposes, depending on whether the proceeds from the disposal exceed the shareholder’s CGT 
base cost in the PN1 Shares. In general, the CGT base cost of an asset will be the acquisition cost of the asset in 
question (i.e. the subscription price in the event that a person subscribed for shares or the case where the PN2 – PN1 
“share-for-share” transaction qualified for the concessions provided in terms of section 42 of the Income Tax Act, the 
historic PN2 share CGT base cost “rolled-over” to the PN1 Shares acquired).

A prescribed portion (ranging from 40% (in the case of a natural person) to 80% (in the case of a company or a trust)) 
of a net capital gain realised by a South African tax resident investor will be included in normal taxable income and 
subject to tax at the applicable rates. The maximum effective tax rates applicable are a maximum of 18% in the case 
of a natural person, 22.4% in the case of a company, 36% in the case of a trust and 18% in the case of a special trust.

Capital losses may only be set off against other capital gains realised in the same or any subsequent tax year. In the 
case of South African tax resident shareholders who are natural persons, an annual exclusion amount of R40 000 is 
deducted from any capital gain realised in any tax year.

Non-South African tax resident shareholders, whose shares are not attributable to a permanent establishment in 
South Africa, should fall outside the scope of South African CGT in so far as it relates to the disposal of shares in 
PN1 – as PN1 is not a so-called “land rich” company i.e. PN1 Shares should not constitute an “interest in immovable 
property situated in the Republic” for South African CGT purposes.

Income tax

South African tax residents will be subject to income tax on the proceeds arising upon the disposal of PN1 Shares, if 
the PN1 Shares are held for speculative purposes (i.e. as trading stock as opposed to capital assets) and disposed of 
pursuant to a scheme of profit making.

Non-South African tax resident shareholders, whose shares are not attributable to a permanent establishment in 
South Africa, should fall outside the scope of South African income tax in so far as it relates to the disposal of 
shares in PN1 – as PN1 is not a so-called “land rich” company i.e. PN1 Shares should not constitute an “interest in 
immovable property situated in the Republic” for South African CGT purposes.

Securities transfer tax

STT at a rate of 0.25% of the taxable amount (which is, generally, the consideration for which a security is 
transferred) is a tax levied on, inter alia, a transfer of beneficial ownership of a security issued by a South African 
tax resident company.

STT will accordingly be payable upon a transfer of beneficial ownership of PN1 Shares. In the context of listed 
shares, STT is normally payable by the brokers and transfer secretaries and recoverable from the transferee.

NON-RESIDENT SHAREHOLDERS

PN2 Shareholders who are non-resident for tax purposes in South Africa are advised to consult their own professional 
tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of the Scheme in their respective jurisdictions, having regard to the tax 
laws in their jurisdiction and any applicable tax treaties between South Africa and their country of residence.
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ANNEXURE 6

EXTRACTS OF SECTIONS 114, 115 AND 164 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 

“Section 114: Proposal for scheme of arrangement

1. Unless it is in liquidation or in the course of business rescue proceedings in terms of chapter 6, the board 
of a company may propose and, subject to subsection (4) and approval in terms of this part, implement any 
arrangement between the company and holders of any class of its securities by way of, among other things:

(a) a consolidation of securities of different classes;

(b) a division of securities into different classes; 

(c) an expropriation of securities from the holders;

(d) exchanging any of its securities for other securities;

(e) a re-acquisition by the company of its securities; or

(f) (combination of the methods contemplated in this subsection.

[Sub-s. (1) amended by s. 70(a) of Act No. 3 of 2011.]

2. The company must retain an independent expert, who meets the following requirements, to compile a report as 
required by subsection (3):

(a) The person to be retained must be:

(i) qualified, and have the competence and experience necessary to:

 (aa) understand the type of arrangement proposed;

 (bb) evaluate the consequences of the arrangement; and

 (cc)  assess the effect of the arrangement on the value of securities and on the rights and interests of 
a holder of any securities, or a creditor of the company; and

(ii) able to express opinions, exercise judgement and make decisions impartially.

(b) the person to be retained must not:

(i) have any other relationship with the company or with a proponent of the arrangement, such as would 
lead a reasonable and informed third party to conclude that the integrity, impartiality or objectivity of 
that person is compromised by that relationship;

(ii) have had any relationship contemplated in subparagraph (i) within the immediately preceding two 
years; or

(iii) be related to a person who has or has had a relationship contemplated in subparagraph (i) or (ii).

[Sub-s. (2) amended by s. 70(b) of Act No. 3 of 2011.]

3. The person retained in terms of subsection (2) must prepare a report to the board, and cause it to be distributed 
to all holders of the company’s securities, concerning the proposed arrangement, which must, at a minimum:

(a) state all prescribed information relevant to the value of the securities affected by the proposed arrangement;

(b) identify every type and class of holders of the company’s securities affected by the proposed arrangement;

(c) describe the material effects that the proposed arrangement will have on the rights and interests of the 
persons mentioned in paragraph (b);

(d) evaluate any material adverse effects of the proposed arrangement against:

(i) the compensation that any of those persons will receive in terms of that arrangement; and

(ii)  any reasonably probable beneficial and significant effect of that arrangement on the business and 
prospects of the company;

(e) state any material interest of any director of the company or trustee for security holders;

[Para. (e) substituted by s. 70(c) of Act No. 3 of 2011.]

(f) state the effect of the proposed arrangement on the interest and person contemplated in paragraph (e); and

(g) include a copy of sections 115 and 164.
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4. Section 48 applies to a proposed arrangement contemplated in this section to the extent that the arrangement 
would result in any re-acquisition by a company of any of its previously issued securities.

[Subs. (4) inserted by s. 70(d) of Act No. 3 of 2011.]”

“SECTION 115: REQUIRED APPROVAL FOR TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED IN PART A

1. Despite section 65, and any provision of a company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, or any resolution adopted 
by its board or holders of its securities, to the contrary, a company may not dispose of, or give effect to an 
agreement or series of agreements to dispose of, all or the greater part of its assets or undertaking, implement 
an amalgamation or a merger, or implement a scheme of arrangement, unless:

(a) the disposal, amalgamation or merger, or scheme of arrangement:

(i) has been approved in terms of this section; or

(ii) is pursuant to or contemplated in an approved business rescue plan for that company, in terms of 
Chapter 6; and

(b) to the extent that Parts B and C of this Chapter and the Takeover Regulations apply to a company that 
proposes to:

(i) dispose of all or the greater part of its assets or undertaking;

(ii) amalgamate or merge with another company; or

(iii) implement a scheme of arrangement, the Panel has issued a compliance certificate in respect of the 
transaction, in terms of section 119(4)(b), or exempted the transaction in terms of section 119(6).

2. A proposed transaction contemplated in subsection (1) must be approved:

(a) by a special resolution adopted by persons entitled to exercise voting rights on such a matter, at a meeting 
called for that purpose and at which sufficient persons are present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of 
all of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised on that matter, or any higher percentage as may be 
required by the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, as contemplated in section 64(2); and

(b) by a special resolution, also adopted in the manner required by paragraph (a), by the shareholders of the 
company’s holding company if any, if:

(i) the holding company is a company or an external company;

(ii) the proposed transaction concerns a disposal of all or the greater part of the assets or undertaking of 
the subsidiary; and

(iii) having regard to the consolidated financial statements of the holding company, the disposal by the 
subsidiary constitutes a disposal of all or the greater part of the assets or undertaking of the holding 
company; and

(c) by the court, to the extent required in the circumstances and manner contemplated in subsections (3) to (6).

3. Despite a resolution having been adopted as contemplated in subsections (2)(a) and (b), a company may not 
proceed to implement that resolution without the approval of a court if:

(a) the resolution was opposed by at least 15% of the voting rights that were exercised on that resolution and, 
within five business days after the vote, any person who voted against the resolution requires the company 
to seek court approval; or

(b) the court, on an application within 10 business days after the vote by any person who voted against the 
resolution, grants that person leave, in terms of subsection (6), to apply to a court for a review of the 
transaction in accordance with subsection (7).

4. For the purposes of subsections (2) and (3), any voting rights controlled by an acquiring party, a person related 
to an acquiring party, or a person acting in concert with either of them, must not be included in calculating the 
percentage of voting rights:

(a) required to be present, or actually present, in determining whether the applicable quorum requirements 
are satisfied; or

(b) required to be voted in support of a resolution, or actually voted in support of the resolution.

4A in subsection (4), “act in concert” has the meaning set out in section 117(1)(b).
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5. If a resolution requires approval by a court as contemplated in terms of subsection (3)(a), the company must 
either:

(a) within 10 business days after the vote, apply to the court for approval, and bear the costs of that application;

or

(b) treat the resolution as a nullity.

6. On an application contemplated in subsection (3)(b), the court may grant leave only if it is satisfied that the 
applicant:

(a) is acting in good faith;

(b) appears prepared and able to sustain the proceedings; and

(c) has alleged facts which, if proved, would support an order in terms of subsection (7).

7. On reviewing a resolution that is the subject of an application in terms of subsection (5)(a), or after granting 
leave in terms of subsection (6), the court may set aside the resolution only if:

(a) the resolution is manifestly unfair to any class of holders of the company’s securities; or

(b) the vote was materially tainted by conflict of interest, inadequate disclosure, failure to comply with the Act, 
the Memorandum of Incorporation or any applicable rules of the company, or other significant and material 
procedural irregularity.

8. The holder of any voting rights in a company is entitled to seek relief in terms of section 164 if that person:

(a) notified the company in advance of the intention to oppose a special resolution contemplated in this section;

and

(b) was present at the meeting and voted against that special resolution.

9. If a transaction contemplated in this Part has been approved, any person to whom assets are, or an undertaking 
is, to be transferred, may apply to a court for an order to effect:

(a) the transfer of the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets and liabilities of a company contemplated 
in that transaction;

(b) the allotment and appropriation of any shares or similar interests to be allotted or appropriated as a 
consequence of the transaction;

(c) the transfer of shares from one person to another;

(d) the dissolution, without winding-up, of a company, as contemplated in the transaction;

(e) incidental, consequential and supplemental matters that are necessary for the effectiveness and completion 
of the transaction; or

(f) any other relief that may be necessary or appropriate to give effect to, and properly implement, the 
amalgamation or merger.”

“SECTION 164: DISSENTING SHAREHOLDERS’ APPRAISAL RIGHTS

(a) This section does not apply in any circumstances relating to a transaction, agreement or offer pursuant to 
a business rescue plan that was approved by shareholders of a company, in terms of section 152.

(b) If a company has given notice to shareholders of a meeting to consider adopting a resolution to:

(a) amend its Memorandum of Incorporation by altering the preferences, rights, limitations or other 
terms of any class of its shares in any manner materially adverse to the rights or interests of holders 
of that class of shares, as contemplated in section 37(8); or

(b) enter into a transaction contemplated in section 112, 113, or 114,

that notice must include a statement informing shareholders of their rights under this section.

(c) At any time before a resolution referred to in subsection (2) is to be voted on, a dissenting shareholder may 
give the company a written notice objecting to the resolution.

(d) Within 10 business days after a company has adopted a resolution contemplated in this section, the company 
must send a notice that the resolution has been adopted to each shareholder who:

(a) gave the company a written notice of objection in terms of subsection (3); and

(b) has neither:
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(i) withdrawn that notice; or

(ii) voted in support of the resolution.

(e) A shareholder may demand that the company pay the shareholder the fair value for all of the shares of the 
company held by that person if:

(a) the shareholder:

(i) sent the company a notice of objection, subject to subsection (6); and 

(ii) in the case of an amendment to the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, holds shares of a 
class that is materially and adversely affected by the amendment;

(b) the company has adopted the resolution contemplated in subsection (2); and

(c) the shareholder:

(i) voted against that resolution; and

(ii) has complied with all of the procedural requirements of this section.

(f) The requirement of subsection (5)(a)(i) does not apply if the company failed to give notice of the meeting, or 
failed to include in that notice a statement of the shareholders’ rights under this section.

(g) A shareholder who satisfies the requirements of subsection (5) may make a demand contemplated in that 
subsection by delivering a written notice to the company within:

(a) 20 business days after receiving a notice under subsection (4); or

(b) if the shareholder does not receive a notice under subsection (4), within 20 business days after learning 
that the resolution has been adopted.

(h) A demand delivered in terms of subsections (5) to (7) must also be delivered to the Panel, and must state:

(a) the shareholder’s name and address;

(b) the number and class of shares in respect of which the shareholder seeks payment; and

(c) a demand for payment of the fair value of those shares.

(i) A shareholder who has sent a demand in terms of subsections (5) to (8) has no further rights in respect of 
those shares, other than to be paid their fair value, unless:

(a) the shareholder withdraws that demand before the company makes an offer under subsection (11), or 
allows an offer made by the company to lapse, as contemplated in subsection (12)(b);

(b) the company fails to make an offer in accordance with subsection (11) and the shareholder withdraws 
the demand; or

(c) the company, by a subsequent special resolution, revokes the adopted resolution that gave rise to the 
shareholder’s rights under this section.

(j) If any of the events contemplated in subsection (9) occur, all of the shareholder’s rights in respect of the 
shares are reinstated without interruption.

(k) Within five business days after the later of:

(a) the day on which the action approved by the resolution is effective;

(b) the last day for the receipt of demands in terms of subsection (7)(a); or

(c) the day the company received a demand as contemplated in subsection (7)(b), if applicable, the 
company must send to each shareholder who has sent such a demand a written offer to pay an amount 
considered by the company’s directors to be the fair value of the relevant shares, subject to subsection 
(16), accompanied by a statement showing how that value was determined.

(l) Every offer made under subsection (11):

(a) in respect of shares of the same class or series must be on the same terms; and

(b) lapses if it has not been accepted within 30 business days after it was made.

(m) If a shareholder accepts an offer made under subsection (12):

(a) the shareholder must either in the case of:

(i) shares evidenced by certificates, tender the relevant share certificates to the company or the 
company’s transfer agent; or

(ii) uncertificated shares, take the steps required in terms of section 53 to direct the transfer of those 
shares to the company or the company’s transfer agent; and
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(b) the company must pay that shareholder the agreed amount within 10 business days after the 
shareholder accepted the offer and:

tendered the share certificates.; or

(i) directed the transfer to the company of uncertificated shares.

(n) A shareholder who has made a demand in terms of subsections (5) to (8) may apply to a court to determine a 
fair value in respect of the shares that were the subject of that demand, and an order requiring the company 
to pay the shareholder the fair value so determined, if the company has:

(a) failed to make an offer under subsection (11); or

(b) made an offer that the shareholder considers to be inadequate, and that offer has not lapsed.

(o) On an application to the court under subsection (14):

(a) all dissenting shareholders who have not accepted an offer from the company as at the date of the 
application must be joined as parties and are bound by the decision of the court;

(b) the company must notify each affected dissenting shareholder of the date, place and consequences of 
the application and of their right to participate in the court proceedings; and

(c) the court:

(i) may determine whether any other person is a dissenting shareholder who should be joined as a 
party;

(ii) must determine a fair value in respect of the shares of all dissenting shareholders, subject to 
subsection (16);

(iii) in its discretion may:

(aa) appoint one or more appraisers to assist it in determining the fair value in respect of the 
shares; or

(bb) allow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to each dissenting shareholder 
from the date the action approved by the resolution is effective, until the date of payment;

(iv) may make an appropriate order of costs, having regard to any offer made by the company, and 
the final determination of the fair value by the court; and

(v) must make an order requiring:

 (aa)  the dissenting shareholders to either withdraw their respective demands, or to comply with 
subsection (13)(a); and

 (bb)  the company to pay the fair value in respect of their shares to each dissenting shareholder 
who complies with subsection (13)(a), subject to any conditions the court considers necessary 
to ensure that the company fulfils its obligations under this section.

(15A)  At any time before the court has made an order contemplated in subsection (15)(c)(v), a dissenting 
shareholder may accept the offer made by the company in terms of subsection (11), in which case:

(a) that shareholder must comply with the requirements of subsection 13(a); and 

(b) the company must comply with the requirements of subsection 13(b);

(p) The fair value in respect of any shares must be determined as at the date on which, and time immediately 
before, the company adopted the resolution that gave rise to a shareholder’s rights under this section.

(q) If there are reasonable grounds to believe that compliance by a company with subsection (13)(b), or with a 
court order in terms of subsection (15)(c)(v)(bb), would result in the company being unable to pays its debts 
as they fall due and payable for the ensuing 12 months –

(a) the company may apply to a court for an order varying the company’s obligations in terms of the 
relevant subsection; and

(b) the court may make an order that –

(i) is just and equitable, having regard to the financial circumstances of the company; and

(ii) ensures that the person to whom the company owes money in terms of this section is paid at the 
earliest possible date compatible with the company satisfying its other financial obligations as 
they fall due and payable.

(r) If the resolution that gave rise to a shareholder’s rights under this section authorised the company to 
amalgamate or merge with one or more other companies, such that the company whose shares are the 
subject of a demand in terms of this section has ceased to exist, the obligations of that company under this 
section are obligations of the successor to that company resulting from the amalgamation or merger.
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(s) For greater certainty, the making of a demand, tendering of shares and payment by a company to a 
shareholder in terms of this section do not constitute a distribution by the company, or an acquisition of its 
shares by the company within the meaning of section 48, and therefore are not subject to –

(a) the provisions of that section; or

(b) the application by the company of the solvency and liquidity test set out in section 4.

(t) Except to the extent –

(a) expressly provided in this section; or

(b) that the Panel rules otherwise in a particular case,

a payment by a company to a shareholder in terms of this section does not obligate any person to make a 
comparable offer under section 125 to any other person.”
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ANNEXURE 7

TRADING HISTORY OF PN1 SHARES AND PN2 SHARES

Trading History of PN1 Shares

The highest, lowest and closing price of PN1 Shares on EESE for each Trading Day over the 30 days preceding the 
Last Practicable Date for the Circular and the daily volume are as follows:

Date
Daily

High
(cents)

Low
(cents)

Close
(cents) Volume

6 September 2019 11 252 11 251 11 251 2 270
5 September 2019 11 500 11 250 11 251 2 486
4 September 2019 11 500 11 341 11 341 5 208
3 September 2019 11 503 11 325 11 500 2 876
2 September 2019 11 750 11 200 11 500 4 962
30 August 2019 11 750 10 025 11 100 2 049
29 August 2019 12 500 9 300 10 025 11 069
28 August 2019 13 997 12 000 12 500 16 918
27 August 2019 14 299 13 750 13 750 4 568
26 August 2019 14 300 13 755 13 765 9 676
23 August 2019 14 240 13 865 14 000 7 519
22 August 2019 14 000 13 800 14 000 1 382
21 August 2019 14 000 13 750 13 760 6 517
20 August 2019 14 250 13 900 13 900 6 733
19 August 2019 14 250 14 030 14 250 13 756
16 August 2019 14 450 14 000 14 100 1 253
15 August 2019 14 200 14 000 14 001 5 863
14 August 2019 14 200 14 000 14 001 1 998
13 August 2019 14 450 14 200 14 200 2 613
12 August 2019 14 699 14 225 14 225 4 814
8 August 2019 14 700 14 500 14 500 5 831
7 August 2019 14 500 14 201 14 201 13 724
6 August 2019 14 800 13 900 14 500 7 004
5 August 2019 14 500 13 600 13 803 11 040
2 August 2019 13 750 13 615 13 701 3 744
1 August 2019 13 650 13 550 13 615 11 531
31 July 2019 13 750 13 350 13 750 3 592
30 July 2019 13 600 13 325 13 350 6 084
29 July 2019 13 650 13 215 13 600 1 711
26 July 2019 13 205 13 100 13 205 818
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Monthly

The highest, lowest and closing price of PN1 Shares on EESE over the previous 12 months and the aggregated 
monthly volume is as follows:

Month ended
High 

(cents)
Low 

(cents)
Close 

(cents) Volume

30 August 2019 14 800 9 300 11 100 149 602
31 July 2019 13 750 12 625 13 750 96 250
28 June 2019 13 350 12 001 12 600 104 707
31 May 2019 12 825 12 100 12 460 73 032
30 April 2019 13 001 12 410 12 580 65 670
29 March 2019 13 500 12 015 12 407 112 986
28 February 2019 15 998 10 800 13 200 193 569
31 January 2019 14 500 9 100 13 900 211 456
28 December 2018 13 600 12 321 13 500 85 144
30 November 2018 13 650 10 269 12 751 75 328
31 October 2018 14 000 12 600 13 206 176 251
28 September 2018 17 000 8 000 13 900 393 789

Trading history of PN2 Shares

The highest, lowest and closing price of PN2 Shares on EESE for each Trading Day over the 30 days preceding the 
Last Practicable Date for the Circular and the daily volume are as follows:

Date 
Daily

High 
(cents)

Low 
(cents)

Close 
(cents) Volume

6 September 2019 11 250 11 250 11 250 124
5 September 2019 11 400 11 100 11 100 500
4 September 2019 11 599 11 485 11 599 2 030
3 September 2019 11 599 11 300 11 300 499
2 September 2019 11 599 11 599 11 599 20
30 August 2019 11 600 11 599 11 599 168
29 August 2019 12 500 11 601 11 601 2 583
28 August 2019 13 500 12 601 12 601 1 514
27 August 2019 13 550 13 001 13 001 13 732
26 August 2019 14 000 13 500 13 500 3 647
23 August 2019 14 000 13 900 14 000 1 200
21 August 2019 13 701 13 701 13 701 9
16 August 2019 14 490 14 490 14 490 25
15 August 2019 14 500 14 500 14 500 22
14 August 2019 13 701 13 701 13 701 105
12 August 2019 14 500 14 500 14 500 169
8 August 2019 14 001 13 650 13 650 1 325
6 August 2019 14 500 13 650 13 650 3 720
5 August 2019 14 500 13 650 14 500 160
2 August 2019 15 000 14 000 14 500 244
30 July 2019 13 010 13 000 13 010 2 534
29 July 2019 13 250 12 952 12 952 168
26 July 2019 13 250 13 250 13 250 185
24 July 2019 12 900 12 802 12 803 1 900
22 July 2019 12 760 12 760 12 760 8
19 July 2019 12 710 12 710 12 710 57
17 July 2019 12 760 12 700 12 700 591
16 July 2019 12 601 12 601 12 601 105
15 July 2019 12 770 12 760 12 760 4 162
12 July 2019 12 770 12 761 12 770 337
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Monthly

The highest, lowest and closing price of PN2 Shares on EESE over the previous 12 months and the aggregated 
monthly volume is as follows:

Month ended
High 

(cents)
Low 

(cents)
Close 

(cents) Volume

30 August 2019 15 000 11 599 11 599 28 623
31 July 2019 13 250 12 601 13 010 13 181
28 June 2019 13 299 11 800 13 000 32 336
31 May 2019 13 000 12 400 12 450 4 917
30 April 2019 13 200 12 500 12 500 9 587
29 March 2019 13 500 12 700 13 000 29 379
28 February 2019 16 000 12 700 12 700 20 309
31 January 2019 14 500 13 210 14 000 18 398
28 December 2018 13 600 11 600 13 600 19 397
30 November 2018 13 590 10 269 12 566 406 042
31 October 2018 14 590 13 400 13 400 20 835
28 September 2018 16 852 8 100 14 600 96 422



59

ANNEXURE 8

EXTRACTS OF PN1’S MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

This Annexure 8 contains extracts of various salient provisions from the PN1 MOI, as at the Last Practicable Date. 
In each case, the numbering and wording below matches that of the applicable provisions in the PN1 MOI and all 
defined terms otherwise not defined herein have the meanings given to such terms in the PN1 MOI.

For a full appreciation of the provisions of the PN1 MOI, Shareholders are referred to the full text of the PN1 MOI, 
which is available for inspection, as provided for in paragraph 30 of this Circular.

1. ARTICLE 1 – INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF THE COMPANY

1.2 Purpose and powers of the Company

The main purpose and business of the Company is solely to:

1.2.1 enter into the Transaction Documents;

1.2.2 exercise its rights and obligations under the Transaction Documents;

1.2.3 carry on the main business of holding only HoldCo Ordinary Shares, cash and such assets as are 
received or acquired solely by virtue of or in relation to the holding of HoldCo Ordinary Shares; 

and

1.2.4 receive and distribute dividends and other Distributions in terms of the Transaction Documents.

1.3 Restrictive conditions, prohibitions and powers of the Company

1.3.1 The Company is subject to restrictive conditions and prohibitions contemplated in section 15(2)(b) 
and (c), as set out in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1.

1.3.2 The legal powers and capacity of the Company are subject to restrictions, limitations and 
qualifications contemplated in section 19(1)(b)(ii), as set out in paragraph 2 of Schedule 1.

1.4 MOI and Company rules

1.4.1 Subject to paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 1, this MOI may be amended or altered in the manner set out 
in section 16, 17 or 152(6)(b).

1.4.2 The Board shall not have the authority to make, amend or repeal any rules relating to the 
governance of the Company as contemplated in section 15(3) to (5A), unless the prior written 
approval of MIHH and HoldCo has been obtained.

1.4.3 The Board must publish any rules made, amended or repealed in terms of section 15(3)(a) to (5A) 
by delivering a copy of those rules to each Ordinary Shareholder, MIHH and HoldCo.

1.4.4 The Company must publish a notice of any alteration of the MOI on the rules, made in terms of 
section 17(1), by delivering a copy of those rules to each Ordinary Shareholder, MIH and HoldCo.

2. ARTICLE 2 – SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

2.1 Shares

2.1.1 The maximum number and designation of authorised shares is:

2.1.1.1 90 000 000 Ordinary Shares; and

2.1.1.2 360 000 000 MIHH Preference Shares.

2.1.2 The Company is authorised to issue up to the maximum number of each of the classes of shares set 
out in article 2.1.1, subject to the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms associated with 
each such class as set out in paragraphs 1 and 2, respectively, of Schedule 2.
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2.1.3 The Board shall not have the power to amend the authorisation (including increasing or decreasing 
the number) and classification of shares (including determining rights and preferences) as 
contemplated in sections 36(2)(b) and/or section 36(3). Any such amendments shall be subject to 
shareholder approval and in terms of paragraphs 1.1 and 1.4 of Schedule 1.

2.1.4 The Board shall not have the power or authority to issue authorised shares and any issue of 
authorised shares shall be subject to shareholder approval and comply with the requirements of 
paragraphs 1.1 and 1.4 of Schedule 1.

2.1.5 Any authorised but unissued shares and any new shares from time to time created, shall before 
issue be offered to the shareholders in proportion, as nearly as the circumstances permit, to the 
number of existing shares held by them, unless issued for the acquisition of assets.

2.1.6 The Board shall not have the power to authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured debt 
instruments at any time in terms of section 43(2).

2.1.7 The Board may not authorise the Company to provide financial assistance in relation to the 
subscription of any options or securities or for the purchase of any securities, of the Company or 
of a related or inter-related company as set out in section 44.

2.6 Transmission of shares

2.6.1 Subject to section 51(6)(b) and any laws for the time being in force relating to taxation or duty upon 
the estates of deceased persons, any person recognised by the Company in terms of articles 2.4.2 
and 2.4.3 or article 2.5 as having any title to any Ordinary shares (and also the legal guardian of 
any minor shareholder and any person who obtains title to any shares by operation of law in any 
other manner) may, upon producing such evidence as the Board deems sufficient as to the capacity 
in which he/she claims to act under this paragraph or as to his/her title to any Ordinary Shares, 
and subject to the transfer provisions in this MOI, transfer such Ordinary Shares to himself/
herself or to any other person.

2.6.2 A person who submits proof of his/her appointment as the executor, administrator, trustee, curator 
or guardian in respect of the estate of an Ordinary Shareholder who is deceased or the estate of an 
Ordinary Shareholder whose estate has been sequestrated or who is otherwise under a disability or 
of his/her appointment as the liquidator of any body corporate which is an Ordinary Shareholder, 
shall be entered in the securities register nominee officii, and shall thereafter, for all purposes, be 
deemed to be an Ordinary Shareholder.

2.6.3 In the event of the death or court-ordered sequestration of an Ordinary Shareholder who is a Black 
Person or the compulsory winding-up of an Ordinary Shareholder who is a Black Company, the 
Ordinary Shares held by such Ordinary Shareholder shall, where such Ordinary Shares are not 
held by a Black Person or a Black Company (as the case may be) following the death, sequestration 
or winding-up (as the case may be), be transferred within 12 months (or such extended period as 
permitted by the STC) of the sequestration or winding-up:

2.6.3.1 in the case of the death or court-ordered sequestration of an Ordinary Shareholder who 
is a Black Person, to an Eligible Ordinary Shareholder who is a Black Person; and

2.6.3.2 in the case of the winding-up of an Ordinary Shareholder who is a Black Company, to an 
Eligible Ordinary Shareholder who is a Black Company.

2.6.4 Failure to so transfer the relevant Ordinary Shares within the aforesaid 12-month period shall 
result in the application of the provisions of article 2.8.

2.7 Come along in favour of MIHH

2.7.1 If MIHH receives an offer from a bona fide third party to purchase all HoldCo Ordinary Shares in 
the issued share capital of HoldCo and all claims on loan account owing to HoldCo Shareholders 
by HoldCo, which MIHH wishes to accept, then MIHH shall advise the Company in writing of its 
intention to accept the offer and to require the Company to sell all of its HoldCo Ordinary Shares 
and shareholders’ claims to the third party.

2.7.2 The notice in article 2.7.1 will record the name of the bona fide third party in question and fully 
set out the material terms of the offer made by the bona fide third party.

2.7.3 The Company will be obliged to sell its HoldCo Ordinary Shares in and claims against HoldCo to 
the third party on the terms offered by the third party to, and accepted by, MIHH.
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2.8 Call option in favour of MIHH

2.8.1 If, at any time during the Company Empowerment Compliance Period, the Company and/or any 
one or more or all of the Ordinary Shareholders (as the case may be):

2.8.1.1 commits an act, or there arises an event or circumstance (howsoever arising), 
constituting or resulting in a breach of any of the provisions of articles 2.7, 6.3, 6.4 
or 6.9 and paragraphs 1.3 and 1.4 of Schedule 1 and fails to remedy any such breach 
within 30 days of receiving written notice to do so; or

2.8.1.2 are, or any resolutions are proposed or taken for it to be, wound-up, liquidated, placed 
under business rescue or sequestrated, as the case may be, whether provisionally or 
finally; or

2.8.1.3 compromises or attempts to compromise with any one or more of its creditors generally 
or offer to do so,

individually and collectively, “Default Events”, and, where the Company has committed 
such Default Event, a “Company Default Event”, or where an Ordinary Shareholder has 
committed such event, an “Ordinary Shareholder Default Event”, then:

2.8.1.4 as regards an Ordinary Shareholder Default Event:

MIHH shall notify the relevant Ordinary Shareholder in writing thereof and request 
such Ordinary Shareholder to remedy same within 30 days of receipt of such written 
request. Should the Ordinary Shareholder fail to remedy such Ordinary Shareholder 
Default Event, MIHH shall be entitled, but not obliged, by giving written notice to the 
relevant Ordinary Shareholder to that effect (“the Call Option Notice”) to require such 
Ordinary Shareholder to sell to MIHH all its Ordinary Shares, or such number thereof 
as may be necessary to cure the Ordinary Shareholder Default Event, as MIHH may elect 
(“the Call Shares”), on the 5th Business Day following the date on which the Ordinary 
Shareholder received the Call Option Notice, and the Ordinary Shareholder shall be 
obliged to sell the Call Shares at R0.0000001 per share, being the par value of the shares 
on issue. In the event that the aggregate value of the Call Shares is less than R0.01, 
MIHH will pay the relevant Ordinary Shareholders an amount equal to R0.01 for such 
shares.

2.8.1.5 as regards a Company Default Event:

2.8.1.5.1 to the extent that MIHH becomes aware of such event (provided that in 
relation to an event contemplated under article 2.8.1.4, such event prejudices 
MCSA’s ability to optimise its BEE rating under the BBBEE Legislation), 
MIHH shall notify the Company in writing thereof and request the Company 
to remedy same within 30 days of receipt of such written request. Should the 
Company fail to remedy such Company Default Event, then MIHH shall be 
entitled, but not obliged, by giving a written notice (“Call Option Notice”) to 
require the Company to Sell to MIHH all (and not only some) of its HoldCo 
Ordinary Shares;

2.8.1.5.2 any Sale of HoldCo Ordinary Shares pursuant to article 2.8.1.5.1 shall be 
effected on the 5th Business Day following the date on which the Company 
received the Call Option Notice, and the Company shall be obliged to sell such 
HoldCo Ordinary Shares at their fair market value less 20%.

2.8.2 for purposes of article 2.8.1.5.2, “fair market value” shall mean the fair market value as agreed 
in writing between the Company and MIHH. Failing such agreement within 15 Business Days of 
either the Company or MIHH requesting in writing such agreement, then the fair market value 
shall be determined by way of final and binding expert determination. The expert shall be an 
investment bank with experience in the media and broadcasting industry agreed to in writing by 
MIHH and the Company, and failing agreement within 10 days of the expiry of the aforementioned 
15-day period, the expert (being an independent investment bank with experience in the media and 
broadcasting industry) shall be appointed by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
on the written request of either MIHH or the Company. In determining such fair market value, 
the expert shall (i) value the shares which HoldCo holds in MCSA, (ii) value all the other assets 
and/or liabilities of HoldCo (ie all HoldCo’s assets other than its equity interest in MCSA) on an 
appropriate basis, (iii) value the Company’s loan account (if any) outstanding at such time, and 
(iv) act as an expert and not as an arbitrator.
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4. ARTICLE 4 – SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

4.1 Right to call shareholders’ meetings

4.1.1 Only the Board shall be entitled to call a shareholders’ meeting in terms of section 61(1).

4.2 Requirement to hold meetings

4.2.1 The Company is not required to hold any shareholders’ meeting other than those specifically 
required by the Act.

4.2.2 An AGM shall be held not more than 15 months between the date of the previous AGM of the 
Company and that of the next.

4.3 Shareholders’ right to requisition a meeting

The right of shareholders to requisition a meeting is as set out in section 61(3).

4.4 Location of shareholders’ meeting

The authority of the Board in terms of section 61(9) to determine the location of any shareholders’ meeting, 
and the authority of the Company to hold any such meeting is only limited to the extent that the meeting 
must be held in South Africa.

4.5 Notice of shareholders’ meetings

The minimum number of days for the Company to deliver a notice of a shareholders’ meeting to the 
shareholders is 10 business days before the meeting is to begin, notwithstanding the minimum period 
prescribed by the Act.

4.6 Electronic participation in shareholders’ meeting

The authority of the Company to conduct a meeting entirely by electronic communication or to provide for 
participation in a meeting by electronic communication, is as contemplated in the Act.

4.7 Quorum for shareholders’ meetings

4.7.1 The quorum for a shareholders’ meeting to begin and for a matter to be decided thereat, shall be at 
least three Ordinary Shareholders entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, and 
who hold at least 0,05% of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised at the meeting 
in respect of a matter to be considered at such meeting; provided that one shareholder shall be a 
representative of HoldCo, or, in the case of an Ordinary Shareholder being a body corporate, its 
representative or, if the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary, the representative of the holding 
company.

4.7.2 In terms of section 64(6)(a), the period of one hour prescribed in the preamble to section 64(4) and 
(5) as the waiting period for a quorum for a shareholders’ meeting to be present at a shareholders’ 
meeting is replaced with the period of 30 minutes.

4.8 Voting

4.8.1 Subject to any special terms as to voting on which any share may be issued and subject to the Act, 
every person entitled to vote and who is present in person, and, if the person is a body corporate, 
its representative shall on a show of hands have one vote only, but on a poll every person entitled 
to vote and present in person or by proxy, and if the person is a body corporate, its representative 
shall, if the share capital is divided into shares of par value, be entitled to that proportion of the 
total votes in the Company which aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held 
by such person bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all the shares issued by 
the Company.

4.8.2 The persons entitled to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company shall be:

4.8.2.1 the Ordinary Shareholders, subject to the provisions of this MOI as regards joint holders 
of shares;

4.8.2.2 persons entitled under article 2.6.3 to transfer shares;

4.8.2.3 the Pref Holder, as contemplated under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2; and
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4.8.2.4 proxies of the persons referred to in articles 4.8.2.1, 4.8.2.2 and 4.8.2.3, duly appointed 
in the manner prescribed in this MOI.

Every such person shall also be entitled to speak at such meetings and, subject to article 4.9.4, to 
demand a poll.

4.8.3 When there are joint beneficial holders of any shares any one of such persons may vote at any 
meeting in respect of such shares as if he/she were solely entitled thereto, but if more than one 
of such joint holders be present or represented at any meeting, that one of the said persons who 
is the earliest beneficial holder of those shares or his/her proxy, as the case may be, shall alone 
be entitled to vote in respect of such shares. Several executors or administrators of a deceased 
Ordinary Shareholder in whose name any shares stand shall for the purpose of this article be 
deemed joint holders thereof.

4.8.4 The parent or guardian of a minor, and the curator bonis of a lunatic Ordinary Shareholder, and 
also any person entitled under article 2.6.3 to the transfer of any shares, may vote at any general 
meeting in respect thereof in the same manner as if he/she were the registered holder of those 
shares; provided that 48 hours at least before the time of holding the meeting at which he/she 
proposes to vote he/she shall satisfy the directors that he/she is such parent, guardian or curator 
or that he/she is entitled under article 2.6.3 to the transfer of those shares, or that the directors 
have previously admitted his/her right to vote in respect of those shares.

4.9 Shareholders’ resolutions

4.9.1 For any ordinary resolution to be adopted it must be supported by the holders of more than 50% 
of the voting rights exercised on the resolution, as provided in section 65(7).

4.9.2 For a special resolution to be adopted, it must be supported by the holders of at least 75% of the 
voting rights exercised on the resolution, as provided in section 65(9).

4.9.3 In addition to the requirements of section 65(11), a special resolution is required to be adopted in 
respect of the matters set out in Schedule 4.

4.9.4 In terms of section 63(4), voting at a shareholders’ meeting may either be by a show of hands or 
by polling, as determined by the Board, the chairperson of the shareholders’ meeting (and may be 
indicated in the notice of general meeting) or by the shareholders in terms of section 63(7), if they 
demand a poll. The chairperson shall not have a casting vote in addition to the vote or votes to 
which he/she may be entitled as an Ordinary Shareholder, either on a show of hands or on a poll.

4.9.5 In the event that the voting is to be conducted by a show of hands, a declaration by the chairperson 
that a resolution has been carried, or carried by a particular majority, or lost, or not carried by a 
particular majority, shall be final and an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Company 
shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes 
recorded in favour of or against such resolution.

4.9.6 In the event that the voting is to be conducted by poll, scrutineers shall be appointed by the 
chairperson to count the votes and to declare the result of the poll, and their declaration, which 
shall be announced by the chairperson of the meeting, shall be deemed to be the resolution of the 
meeting. In case of any dispute as to the admission or rejection of a vote, the chairperson of the 
meeting shall determine the dispute, which determination shall be final and conclusive.

4.9.7 If a poll is demanded in terms of section 63(7), it shall be taken in such manner and at such place 
and time as the chairperson of the meeting directs and either immediately or after an interval or 
adjournment (not exceeding seven days). The demand for a poll may be withdrawn. The outcome 
of such poll will be determined in accordance with article 4.9.6.

4.9.8 The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any 
business other than the question on which a poll has been demanded.

4.10 Adjournment of shareholders’ meetings

4.10.1 The chairperson of a general meeting may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn the meeting 
from time to time and from place to place, and he/she shall adjourn the same if duly required 
so to do in accordance with the provisions of the Act, but no business shall be transacted at 
any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the 
adjournment took place.
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4.10.2 If within the 30 minutes period referred to in article 4.7.2, a quorum is not present, the meeting, 
if convened upon the requisition of Ordinary Shareholders, shall be dissolved. In any other case, it 
shall stand adjourned to a day not earlier than 7 days and not later than 21 days after the date of 
the meeting and if at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after 
the time appointed for the meeting, the Ordinary Shareholders present in person or by proxy, shall 
be a quorum.

4.10.3 Where a meeting has been adjourned as aforesaid, the Company shall, upon a date not later than 
three  days after adjournment, publish in a newspaper circulating in the province where the 
registered office of the Company is situated, a notice stating:

4.10.3.1 the date, time and place to which the meeting has been adjourned;

4.10.3.2 the matter before the meeting when it was adjourned; and

4.10.3.3 the ground for the adjournment.

4.11 Chairperson

The chairperson of the Board shall be entitled to chair shareholders’ meetings. If, however, there is no 
chairperson or if he/she has notified his/her inability to attend a meeting or if at any meeting he/she is 
not present within 10 minutes of the time appointed for the meeting, the Ordinary Shareholders who are 
entitled to exercise voting rights in relation to the Company present and represented shall choose another 
director to chair the meeting. If no director is present or if none of the directors present are willing to 
chair the meeting, then the Ordinary Shareholders shall choose one of their own to be the chairperson of 
the meeting.

5. ARTICLE 5 – DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

5.2 Composition of the Board

5.2.1 The Board shall comprise of not less than three directors and not more than 15 directors, subject 
to the minimum number of directors necessary to satisfy any committee required in terms of the 
Act.

5.2.2 In excess of 50% of the directors (and at least 50% of any alternates) must be Black People.

5.2.3 At least 50% of the directors may be elected by Ordinary Shareholders entitled to exercise voting 
rights, as contemplated in section 68 read with section 66(4)(b).

5.2.4 Each elected director is entitled to nominate an alternate director to act in his/her stead for election 
in terms of article 5.2.3 provided that if the elected director is a Black Person, his/her alternate 
director must also be a Black Person.

5.2.5 Each alternate director is entitled to act as a director in the absence of the director for whom he/
she is an alternate.

5.2.6 The directors shall not be obliged to hold any shares to qualify them as directors.

5.3 MIHH representation on the Board

5.3.1 In addition to the elected directors, MIHH shall have the right, as contemplated in section 66(4)
(a)(i), given the Company’s indirect shareholding in MCSA, in order to protect the empowerment 
profile of the Company and thereby the empowerment profile of MCSA, for so long as the Company 
Empowerment Compliance Period subsists, to appoint, remove and replace two directors to the 
board of directors of the Company (“the MIHH Board Directors”).

5.3.2 The MIHH Board of Directors shall:

5.3.2.1 be nominated by MIHH in its sole discretion;

5.3.2.2 be entitled to vote on any matter under consideration by the board of directors, and in 
this regard shall each have the same number of votes as each other director; and

5.3.2.3 be appointed, removed, replaced and/or substituted by written notice from MIHH to 
the Company.

5.4 Board’s authority to manage and direct business affairs

The Board’s authority to manage and direct the business and affairs of the Company as set out in 
section 66(1), shall be limited or restricted as contemplated in the MOI and specifically in Schedule 1, as 
well as by the Transaction Documents.
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5.5 Round robin resolutions

5.5.1 In terms of section 74, a decision that could be voted on at a meeting of the Board may instead 
be adopted by written consent of a majority of the directors, given in person, or by electronic 
communication, provided each director has received notice of the matter to be decided upon.

5.5.2 A resolution passed in terms of section 74(1), read with article 5.5.1 shall be deemed to have been 
passed on the date on which it was signed by the director last required to achieve the requisite 
approval unless the resolution states otherwise.

5.6 Calling of Board meetings

The right of the Company’s directors to requisition a meeting of the Board as set out in section 73(1)(b), 
is not amended. A director may at any time require the secretary to convene a meeting of the directors. A 
director who is not within the Republic shall not be entitled to notice of any such meeting, but notice shall 
be given to all duly appointed alternate directors who may at the time be within the Republic.

5.7 Directors’ meetings

5.7.1 Should the number of directors in office fall below the minimum provided in this MOI, the 
remaining directors shall only be permitted to act for the purpose of filling vacancies or calling 
general meetings of shareholders.

5.7.2 The authority of the Board to conduct a meeting entirely by electronic communication, or to 
provide in participation in a meeting via electronic communication, as set out in section 73(3) is 
not amended.

5.7.3 Except where there are only two directors, the quorum for a Board meeting shall be three directors 
who must be personally present at the meeting or participate electronically, before a vote may be 
called at such meeting.

5.8 Voting

5.8.1 Each director has one vote on a matter before the Board. The chairperson shall not have a second 
or casting vote.

5.8.2 A Board resolution shall be approved by a majority of the votes cast on that resolution.

5.8.3 The chairperson of the Board annually at the first board meeting of the Company’s financial year 
shall be elected by the directors provided that if the chairperson is absent from a meeting for any 
reason, the directors shall elect one of their number to be chairperson of that meeting.

5.9 Directors’ remuneration

The authority of the Company to pay remuneration to the Company’s directors for their services as 
directors, and payment of any such remuneration shall be effected in terms of the requirements of the Act.

5.10 Board committees

The authority of the Board to appoint committees of directors, and to delegate to any such committee any 
of the authority of the Board, as set out in section 72(1), and to include in any such committee persons 
who are not directors, as set out in section 72(2)(a), is not amended by this MOI. Board committees have 
the authority otherwise set out in section 72(2).

5.11 Managing directors

5.11.1 The directors or a committee of the directors may from time to time appoint one or more of their 
number to be managing director of the Company or to be the holder of any other executive office in 
the Company, including for the purposes of this MOI the office of chairperson, deputy chairperson 
or vice-chairperson, and may, subject to any contract between him/her or them and the Company, 
from time to time terminate his/her or their appointment and appoint another or others in his/her 
or their place or places.

5.11.2 A director who is appointed in terms of the provisions of article 5.11.1 to the office of managing 
director of the Company or to any other executive office in the Company may be paid, in addition 
to or in substitution of the remuneration payable in terms of article 5.9, such remuneration not 
exceeding a reasonable maximum in each year in respect of such office or services as may be 
determined by a disinterested quorum of the directors or a disinterested committee of directors.
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5.11.3 The directors may from time to time entrust and confer upon a managing director or other executive 
officer appointed under article 5.11.1 for the time being such of the powers and authorities vested 
in them as they think fit, and may confer such powers and authorities for such time, and to 
be exercised for such objects and purposes and upon such terms and conditions and with such 
restrictions as they may think expedient, and they may convert such powers and authorities 
either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, or in substitution for, all or any of the powers and 
authorities of the directors in that behalf, and may from time to time revoke, withdraw, alter or 
vary all or any of such powers and authorities.

6. ARTICLE 6 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

6.2 No restriction on MIHH, its nominees or Associates holding Ordinary Shares

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Transaction Documents and/or this MOI, should MIHH 
and/or its nominee/s and/or its Associate/s at any time become the beneficial and/or registered holder/s 
of any Ordinary Shares, for whatever reason, MIHH and/or its nominee/s and/or its Associate/s shall 
be exempt from any and all of the provisions of the Shareholders’ Agreement and this MOI, regulating 
the transfer of Ordinary Shares and the restrictions upon the holding of such shares only by Black 
Participants.

6.3 Modifications to comply with the Empowerment Requirements

Should there be any change to the Empowerment Requirements which impacts on the ability of MCSA to 
obtain an optimal BEE rating, the HoldCo Shareholders shall meet, in good faith, to discuss and resolve 
the best way to address the effect of such changes. The Company shall co-operate to amend the provisions 
of the Shareholders’ Agreement to ensure that the relationship between the HoldCo Shareholders and 
MCSA continues to optimise MCSA’s BEE rating. The Company shall exercise its votes in favour of any 
resolution proposed and necessary to realise such optimised BEE rating for MCSA.

6.4 The Company Ownership Certificate of Compliance

6.4.1 The Company and each of the Ordinary Shareholders acknowledge and accept that MIHH will 
from time to time (and at least once a year) be entitled to request at its sole discretion and in 
writing the preparation and issue of the Company Ownership Certificate of Compliance.

6.4.2 The Company shall, for so long as the Shareholders’ Agreement subsists, fully co-operate with and 
assist MIHH and its representatives by providing them with access to all information and records 
which are in its possession or which it may be entitled and/or obliged to keep in its possession or to 
require to be placed in its possession, within 10 Business Days of a written request therefor from 
MIHH or such representatives, for purposes of enabling MIHH to obtain the issue of the Company 
Ownership Certificate of Compliance.

6.4.3 For the purposes of procuring the preparation of the Company Ownership Certificate of Compliance, 
MIHH shall, in its sole and absolute discretion, be entitled to request the Company in writing 
to procure a BEE Ownership Certificate of Compliance in respect of any Ordinary Shareholder, 
within 45 days of the receipt by the Company of such written request. In addition, the Company 
shall at any time be entitled to request any Ordinary Shareholder to procure a BEE Ownership 
Certificate of Compliance, and such Ordinary Shareholder shall be obliged to do so within 30 days 
of receipt of a written request to do so. Failure by the Ordinary Shareholder timeously to procure 
such a BEE Ownership Certificate of Compliance shall constitute a Shareholder Default Event as 
contemplated in article 2.8 and shall trigger the provisions of article 2.8.

6.5 Distributions

6.5.1 Distributions to shareholders will be made in terms of the Act and this MOI.

6.5.2 Distributions payable in monetary form shall be declared in the currency of the Republic.

6.5.3 No distribution shall carry interest as against the Company.

6.5.4 Any distribution declared may be paid and satisfied either wholly or in part by the distribution of 
specific assets or in cash or in one or more of such ways, subject to the provisions of the Act, as 
the Board may at the time of authorising the distribution determine and direct.

6.5.5 In the case where several persons are registered as the joint holders of any shares, any one of such 
persons may give to the Company effective receipts for all or any distributions and payments on 
account of distributions in respect of such Ordinary Shares.
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6.5.6 All cash distributions, interest or other monies payable to an Ordinary Shareholder will be paid by 
electronic funds transfer. Such payments shall be made into the bank account recorded in the bank 
account register of the Company (if any) nominated by the Ordinary Shareholder, or in the case 
of the joint Ordinary Shareholders into the bank account nominated by the Ordinary Shareholder 
whose name stands first in the securities register in respect of the Ordinary Share, shall be a good 
discharge by the Company in respect thereof.

6.5.7 If as a result of the declaration of a distribution any Ordinary Shareholders become entitled to 
fractions of any specific assets of the Company, the Board may sell the assets represented by such 
fractions and after deducting the expenses of such sale distribute the balance of the proceeds of the 
sale amongst the shareholders entitled to the fractions in proportion to their entitlement.

6.5.8 For the purpose of this article 6.5, any notice of a new registered address or a change of registered 
address or any notice of new bank account details or a change of bank account details or any 
instruction as to payment being made at any other address or into any other bank account, not 
reflected in the securities register or the bank account register of the Company (if any) at the 
time of declaration of the distribution, which is received by the Company between the time of 
declaration of the distribution and the applicable time of payment of the distribution, shall become 
effective only after such time of payment.

6.5.9 Every payment of a distribution shall be made at the risk of the Ordinary Shareholders or joint 
Ordinary Shareholders. The Company shall not be responsible for the loss or misdirection of any 
electronic transfer.

6.5.10 Any unclaimed distributions payable or distributable to an Ordinary Shareholder may be invested 
or otherwise made use of by the Board, as it deems fit, for the benefit of the Company until it is 
claimed by the person entitled to the distribution in question at any time before that distribution 
has been declared forfeit in terms of article 6.5.11.

6.5.11 Distributions unclaimed for a period of not less than 3 (three) years from the date on which such 
distributions became payable or distributable by the Company may be declared forfeit by the Board 
for the benefit of the Company.

6.5.12 When applying the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in section 4 in respect of a distribution 
contemplated in paragraph (a) of the definition of “distribution” in section 1, a person shall include 
as a liability any amount that would be required if the Company were to be liquidated at the 
time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon liquidation of shareholders whose 
preferential rights upon liquidation are superior to the preferential rights upon liquidation of 
those receiving the distribution.

6.6 Acquisition by the Company of its own shares

Subject to paragraph 1.4 of Schedule 1 and in terms of section 48, the Board may not authorise the 
acquisition by the Company of its own shares unless MIHH and the Ordinary Shareholders (by special 
resolution) have approved the acquisition. During the Company’s Empowerment Compliance Period, the 
Company shall not (save as permitted under the Transaction Documents, article 6.2 and with MIHH’s 
written consent) acquire any of its own shares.

6.7 Winding up

6.7.1 Subject to the Transaction Documents, if the Company is wound up, the assets remaining after 
payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company and the costs of the liquidation shall be applied 
as follows:

6.7.1.1 to repay to the Ordinary Shareholders the amounts paid up on the shares respectively 
held by each of them; and

6.7.1.2 the balance (if any) shall be distributed among the Ordinary Shareholders in proportion 
to the number of shares respectively held by each of them,

provided that the provisions of this article 6.7 shall be subject to the rights of the holders of shares 
(if any) issued upon special conditions.

6.7.2 In a winding-up, any part of the assets of the Company, including any shares or securities of other 
companies may, with the sanction of a special resolution of the Company, be paid to the Ordinary 
Shareholders of the Company in specie, or may, with the same sanction, be vested in trustees for 
the benefit of such Ordinary Shareholders, and the winding-up of the Company may be closed and 
the Company dissolved.
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6.8 Indemnity

Every director, former director, alternate director, prescribed officer or a person who is a member of a 
committee of the Board or of the audit committee of the Company shall be indemnified by the Company to 
the fullest extent permissible in terms of the Act.

6.9 Listing

The Company may not list any of the Ordinary Shares on any stock exchange, including but not limited 
to the JSE, at any time during the Company Empowerment Compliance Period unless MIHH consents 
thereto in writing (in its sole and absolute discretion). Any such listing effected without the consent of 
MIHH shall constitute a Company Default Event as contemplated under article 2.8.

SCHEDULE 1

Restrictive conditions, prohibitions on amendment of MOI and limitations on powers of the Company

1. RESTRICTIVE CONDITIONS AND PROHIBITIONS ON AMENDMENT OF MOI

The restrictive conditions applicable to the Company set out in this Schedule 1 are subject at all times to the 
restrictions on amendments to this MOI set out in paragraph 1.1 of this Schedule 1, and the authority of the 
directors, officers and other organs and bodies of the Company shall be limited accordingly.

1.1 Restrictions on amendment of MOI

1.1.1 The provisions of this MOI, including the provisions of this Schedule 1, may not be amended or 
deleted at any time prior to:

1.1.1.1 the Final Discharge Date (as defined in paragraph 2.18 of Schedule 2), without the 
prior written consent of MIHH (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed); and

1.1.1.2 the end of the Company Empowerment Compliance Period without the prior written 
consent of MIHH, to be attached to any such amendments filed at the offices of the 
Commission (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

1.1.2 Subject in any event to the provisions of paragraph 1 of this Schedule 1, each of the Ordinary 
Shareholders undertakes in favour of MIHH that he/she shall not vote in favour of any resolution 
for the amendment of this MOI unless the amendment thereto, as the case may be, has received the 
prior written approval of MIHH.

1.1.3 The Company shall:

1.1.3.1 conduct its business in accordance with the provisions of the Transaction Documents 
and subject to this MOI;

1.1.3.2 operate solely as an investment holding company, holding only HoldCo Ordinary Shares, 
cash and assets received or acquired solely by virtue of its holding of such HoldCo 
Ordinary Shares;

1.1.3.3 remain a Black Company until the end of the Company Empowerment Compliance Period;

1.1.3.4 (unless MIHH agrees otherwise in writing) have a shareholder such that (through its 
indirect shareholding in MCSA by way of its holding of HoldCo Ordinary Shares), MCSA 
shall be able to optimise its BEE rating under the BEE Legislation in respect of such 
indirect shareholding.

1.1.4 Subject to the provisions of the Transaction Documents, and article 6.2, at all times during the 
Company Empowerment Compliance Period (unless MIHH agrees otherwise in writing) the 
Company shall ensure that:

1.1.4.1 Ordinary Shares are at all times only permitted to be beneficially owned by Black 
Participants;

1.1.4.2 no Ordinary Shareholder shall at any time act in concert with any other Ordinary 
Shareholder, in any matter pertaining to the voting of Ordinary Shares at any meeting 
of the Company (save as regards the appointment of directors to the Board), or the voting 
of HoldCo Shares by the Company at any meeting of HoldCo (in accordance with the 
proxy provisions contained in article 6.10) (save as regards the appointment of directors 
to the board of directors of HoldCo);
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1.1.4.3 the majority of all of the voting rights in the Company are exercisable, directly or 
indirectly by Black People;

1.1.4.4 in excess of 50% of the directors of the Company (who shall be entitled to in excess of 50% 
of the voting rights of directors at meetings of the Board) are Black People;

1.1.4.5 no Ordinary Shareholder shall be permitted at any time to beneficially hold less than 
20 Ordinary Shares nor beneficially hold with any Associate, in aggregate, more than 
10% of the total number of Ordinary Shares then in issue;

1.1.4.6 no Ordinary Shareholder shall be permitted to Encumber its Ordinary Shares; and

1.1.4.7 the Company shall not permit any Ordinary Shares to be held by one person for the 
beneficial interest of another.

1.2 Restrictions or prohibitions on Sale or Encumbrance of Ordinary Shares

From 8 December 2011:

1.2.1 Ordinary Shares shall be transferable only in accordance with the provisions of this MOI, and 
the Company shall not accept and register the transfer of any Ordinary Share in contravention 
of this paragraph 1.2. The Company shall procure that mechanisms are in place to ensure that 
all purchasers of the Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Trading Market shall be bound by the 
provisions of this MOI and the Shareholders’ Agreement.

1.2.2 MIHH has established the STC, which committee shall consider and verify any proposed transfer 
of ownership (including beneficial ownership) of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Trading Market 
and shall accordingly regulate, or procure the regulation of, the registration of such transfer of 
ownership. The exact composition of the STC shall be determined by MIHH from time to time.

1.2.3 MIHH, acting through the STC, shall use its best commercial endeavours to facilitate the 
establishment of the Trading Market for the purpose of facilitating trading in the Ordinary Shares, 
subject at all times to the restrictions imposed upon the transfer of ownership of such shares in 
terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement and this MOI.

1.2.4 All proposed transfers of Ordinary Shares, whether to be effected on the Trading Market or 
otherwise (including a change in beneficial ownership), must be submitted to the STC for 
consideration in the form prescribed by the STC from time to time together with the following 
supporting documentation in respect of the proposed transferee:

1.2.4.1 in respect of individuals, a certified copy of the proposed transferee’s identity document, 
proof of residence and an affidavit signed by the proposed transferee confirming that the 
proposed transferee is a Black Person;

1.2.4.2 in respect of Black Companies, a certified copy of their latest BEE status/rating 
certification being no older than 12 months (issued by a BEE rating verification agency 
accredited by SANAS and acceptable to MIHH in its sole and absolute discretion) (if such 
is available), a certified copy of their memorandum of incorporation and a certified copy 
of their share transfer register, and any other such documents as may be reasonably 
required by the STC; and

1.2.4.3 in respect of Black Entities, a certified copy of any applicable constitutional or other 
such document, a certified copy of any rules or regulations governing the operations 
and management of such entity, certified copies of the identity documents of the trustees 
or representatives of the governing body of such entity (if any), and any other such 
documents as may reasonably be required by the STC.

1.2.5 In considering any proposed transfer of Ordinary Shares, the STC shall, for the purposes of 
ascertaining the BEE rating/status of any proposed transferee, be entitled in addition to requesting 
any such additional documents as may be necessary to ascertain such BEE rating/status, to request 
that such transferee (at its own expense) provide a BEE Ownership Certificate of Compliance.

1.2.6 MIHH shall procure that all proposed transfers of Ordinary Shares shall be considered by the STC 
as soon as reasonably possible in the circumstances subsequent to being lodged with the STC.

1.2.7 The STC may make any further requirements and stipulations from time to time in respect of the 
consideration and verification of the transfer of Ordinary Shares as it deems fit, with the written 
approval of MIHH. Holders of Ordinary Shares shall be advised of any further requirements and 
stipulations as determined by the STC in writing, at least two months prior to such requirements 
and stipulations being effective.
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1.2.8 Ordinary shares may only be transferred to and be beneficially held by Eligible Ordinary 
Shareholders, subject always to the prior written approval of the STC pursuant to its consideration 
of the proposed transfer and subject to its BEE verification of the proposed transferee.

1.2.9 No Ordinary Shares shall be transferred where such transfer shall result in a breach of any of the 
provisions of the Shareholders’ Agreement and/or this MOI.

1.2.10 Subject to article 6.2, to the extent that, and for whatever reason (whether intentionally, negligently 
or accidentally), any Ordinary Share is transferred to or held by any Person who is not a Black 
Participant (“the Non-qualifying Shareholder”), such Ordinary Share shall:

1.2.10.1 not confer upon the Non-qualifying Shareholder any right to receive a dividend, 
Distribution, or payment by virtue of the holding of that Ordinary Share, or to share 
otherwise in any economic benefit to which the Ordinary Shareholders are entitled by 
virtue of their holding Ordinary Shares;

1.2.10.2 result in such Non-qualifying Shareholder being deemed, on the date on which such 
Ordinary Share was transferred to such Non-qualifying Shareholder, to have ceded to 
MIHH (or its nominee) any voting rights attaching to such Ordinary Share pursuant to 
this MOI and to have irrevocably appointed MIHH or its nominee as proxy for the voting 
of such voting rights;

1.2.10.3 pursuant to the cession of voting rights contemplated in paragraph  1.2.10.2, result 
in MIHH (or its nominee) being entitled to vote such Ordinary Shares at any general 
meeting of HoldCo in accordance with the provisions of article 6.10 (and article 6.10.4 
in particular), and the formula set out in article 6.10.4 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, 
to MIHH (or its nominee) for the purposes of calculating the number of such votes 
exercisable by MIHH pursuant to the provisions of article 6.10 as regards the voting 
rights contemplated in this paragraph 1.2.10.

1.3 Restrictions or prohibitions on Sale or Encumbrance by the Company of its HoldCo Ordinary Shares

Subject to the relevant compulsory sale provisions contained in this MOI , including any come-along 
provisions, the Company shall not, at any time, be entitled to Sell or Encumber any HoldCo Ordinary 
Share held by it unless MIHH has consented thereto in writing, in its sole and absolute discretion.

1.4 Restrictions or prohibitions on the exercise by the Company of its rights relating to alteration of 
share capital and acquisition by the Company of its own shares

The Company shall not at any time during the Company Empowerment Compliance Period do any of the 
following, save as may be contemplated under the MIHH Preference Share Subscription Agreement in 
respect of the MIHH Preference Shares and as is contemplated in terms of article 2.8:

1.4.1 issue any further shares or other instruments which are by nature equity to any Person;

1.4.2 vary, amend or otherwise alter the rights attaching to any class of shares in its share capital;

1.4.3 consolidate, subdivide or convert any of its share capital or in any way alter the rights attaching 
thereto;

1.4.4 cancel or repurchase any of its shares; or

1.4.5 accept and register any transfer of its shares,

unless MIHH consents thereto in writing, or save as may be permitted under this MOI.

1.5 Restrictions on payments to shareholders

Notwithstanding any other provisions in this MOI, the Company may not make any transfers to its 
shareholders until all and any amounts outstanding under the MIHH Preference Share Subscription 
Agreement have been repaid in full, unless any such payments are expressly authorised by the Transaction 
Documents.

1.6 Restrictions on directors

The Company will not:

1.6.1 permit any director to be appointed to the Board if:

1.6.1.1 as a result of such appointment the majority of the directors on the Board are not Black 
People; or
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1.6.1.2 immediately prior to such appointment the minority of the directors on the Board were 
Black People, unless such director is himself/herself a Black Person,

and the Company accordingly undertakes that it will not give effect to any agreement 
or exercise any right in terms of any such agreement that permits the appointment of 
directors to the Board otherwise than in accordance with the foregoing;

1.6.2 subject to paragraph 1.6.1.2, permit the majority of all the votes of the directors on its Board to be 
exercisable otherwise than by Black People.

1.7 General restrictions

1.7.1 The Company will not:

1.7.1.1 permit anything to be done, directly or indirectly, which would negate any one or more 
or all of the undertakings given by it in this paragraph 1.7 of Schedule 1;

1.7.1.2 incur any liability or borrowings apart from taxation, normal administrative and statutory 
expenses and, those liabilities or borrowings permitted or required or contemplated 
under the MCSA Empowerment Transaction and the Transaction Documents;

1.7.1.3 dispose of any of its shares in or claims (if any) against HoldCo, other than as contemplated 
under the MCSA Empowerment Transaction and the Transaction Documents;

1.7.1.4 have or acquire any investment/s (equity or otherwise) in addition, to its investment in 
HoldCo;

1.7.1.5 conduct its business other than as contemplated under the MCSA  Empowerment 
Transaction and the Transaction Documents;

1.7.1.6 commence or engage in any dissolution, liquidation, consolidation or merger proceedings 
in relation to the Company;

1.7.1.7 grant any rights, whether real or personal, of any nature whatsoever, whether registered 
or unregistered, over any of its assets to any third party whatsoever, and in particular, 
but without limitation, the Company shall not cede, pledge, mortgage or encumber any 
of its assets in any manner whatsoever, save to the extent to which the Company may be 
required to do so by order of a competent court and/or as may be contemplated under the 
MCSA Empowerment Transaction and the Transaction Documents; and

1.7.1.8 until the Termination Date, be entitled to embark upon any other business or undertake 
any business obligation other than as contemplated in article 1.2 of this MOI.

1.7.2 The auditors of the Company shall be appointed by the shareholders, subject to the remaining 
provisions of this MOI.

1.7.3 Until and including the Final Discharge Date (as contemplated in paragraph 2.1.8 of Schedule 2), 
the Company shall not have any capacity to enter into any transaction relating to the Company of 
the nature prohibited by or contrary to the provisions of the MIHH Preference Share Subscription 
Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

1.7.4 Nothing recorded in this Schedule 1 shall be interpreted or construed as precluding or prohibiting:

1.7.4.1 the negotiation, conclusion and/or amendment by the Company of any of the Transaction 
Documents, the exercise by the Company of its rights under such Transaction Documents 
and the performance by the Company of its obligations thereunder, to the extent that 
such conclusion, exercise and/or performance will not result in a breach by the Company 
of any of its obligations under the provisions of the Transaction Documents;

1.7.4.2 the receipt by the Company of Distributions, including capitalisation shares;

1.7.4.3 subject to paragraph 1.7.2, the appointment, removal and replacement of the auditors to 
the Company;

1.7.4.4 the appointment, removal and/or replacement of directors to the Board at any time, 
provided written notice of such appointment, removal and/or replacement is given by the 
Company to MIHH within three Business Days of same having been effected;

1.7.4.5 the preparation and presentation at the AGM of the annual audited financial statements 
of the Company;
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1.7.4.6 the preparation and presentation at the AGM of the annual report of the Board;

1.7.4.7 the presentation at the AGM of the annual report of the auditors to the Company;

1.7.4.8 the taking of legal or other action to protect or pursue the Company’s rights under those 
agreements to which the Company is a party;

1.7.4.9 the defence of any legal proceedings against the Company, provided that written notice 
of such legal proceedings and of their progress, is provided to MIHH, from time to time 
and whenever so required by MIHH on written notice to the Company;

1.7.4.10 the rendering of tax and other regulatory returns;

1.7.4.11 objecting to tax assessments or appealing against such assessments;

1.7.4.12 exercising its rights under those agreements to which the Company is a party; and

1.7.4.13 complying with all obligations imposed on the Company by law or any regulatory 
authority having jurisdiction over the Company.

2. LEGAL POWERS AND CAPACITY OF THE COMPANY

Except as permitted or required or contemplated by the Transaction Documents and under the MCSA 
Empowerment Transaction, such compliance having been confirmed in writing by MIHH, the Company shall not 
have the power or capacity to, and no director, other officer, body or organ of the Company shall be authorised 
on behalf of the Company to:

2.1 lend money to any person or company;

2.2 provide financial assistance as contemplated in section 44(2);

2.3 enter into any indemnities, guarantees or suretyships or secure payment thereunder in any way;

2.4 amalgamate with other companies;

2.5 remunerate any person or persons, either in cash or by the allotment of shares (credited as fully paid-up), 
for services rendered in its formation or in the development of its business;

2.6 save for HoldCo, take part in the management, supervision and control of the business or operations of 
any other company or business or enter into any partnerships;

2.7 make donations;

2.8 pay gratuities and pensions and establish pension schemes, profit-sharing plans and other incentive 
schemes in respect of its directors, officers and employees;

2.9 borrow money, without the consent of MIHH in writing;

2.10 secure the payment of monies borrowed in any manner (including the mortgaging and pledging of 
property and, without detracting from the generality thereof, in particular by the issue of any kind of 
debenture or debenture stock, with or without security);

2.11 purchase or acquire in any way stock-in-trade, plant, machinery, land, buildings, agencies, shares (other 
than in HoldCo), debentures or any other kind or description of movable and immovable property;

2.12 manage, insure, Sell, lease, mortgage, dispose of, give in exchange, work, develop, build on, improve, turn 
to account or in any way otherwise deal with its undertaking or all or any part of its property and assets;

2.13 apply for, purchase or by any other means acquire, protect, prolong and renew any patents, patent rights, 
licences, trademarks, concessions or other rights or deal with and alienate them;

2.14 invest money in any manner;

2.15 overdraw any bank accounts;
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2.16 save for dividends to its Ordinary Shareholders and payments contemplated in this MOI, make, draw, 
issue, execute, accept, endorse or discount promissory notes, bills of exchange or any other kind of 
negotiable or transferable instruments;

2.17 undertake or execute any trust;

2.18 enter into contracts outside the Republic or execute any contracts, deeds and documents in any foreign 
country;

2.19 have a seal or use such seal for any purpose in the Republic or in any foreign country;

2.20 enter into any transaction:

2.20.1 that contravenes or conflicts with the MOI;

2.20.2 that contravenes or conflicts with the obligations of the Company under any agreement, document, 
deed or instrument to which it is or may become a party in accordance with the MOI (including 
the Transaction Documents);

2.20.3 in respect of which the Company has no capacity or power;

2.20.4 to the extent to which the capacity or powers of the Company have been negated, restricted and/
or qualified; or

2.20.5 unless all applicable restrictive conditions which are imposed under the MOI are complied with in 
full,

and any such actions shall only be valid to the extent that those actions are undertaken in 
accordance with, and as envisaged by, the provisions of the Transaction Documents and as far as 
such compliance with the Transaction Documents is confirmed by MIHH in writing.

SCHEDULE 2

1. RIGHTS ATTACHING TO ORDINARY SHARES

The Ordinary Shareholders shall

1.1 subject to the limitations on transfer set out in Schedule 1, have the right to be entered in the securities 
register of the Company as the registered holder of an Ordinary Share;

1.2 subject to paragraph 2 of this Schedule 2, have the right to attend, participate in, speak at and vote on any 
matter to be considered at, any meeting of Ordinary Shareholders;

1.3 have the right to receive any distribution by the Company, if and when declared on the Ordinary Shares, 
to be made in proportion to the number of Ordinary Shares held by each Ordinary Shareholder, subject to 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 2;

1.4 subject to paragraph 2 of this Schedule 2, have the right to receive the net assets of the Company remaining 
upon its liquidation;

1.5 have any other rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares in terms of the Act or any other law.
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ANNEXURE 9

RESTRICTIONS APPLICABLE TO PN1 SHARES

This Annexure 9 contains a summary of the restrictions applicable to the PN1 Shares as contained in the PN1 MOI, 
as at the Last Practicable Date (“Issuer Restrictions”). 

1. WHO MAY HOLD PN1 SHARES?

1.1 Ordinary shares in PN1’s share capital must at all times be beneficially owned by Black Participants.1

1.2 A “Black Participant” means a Black Person, Black Company or Black Entity.2 These terms have the 
meaning given to them in PN1’s memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”), but are restated in these Issuer 
Restrictions for ease of reference.

1.3 “Black People”3 are African, Coloured or Indian persons, as described in the Codes of Good Practice on 
Black Economic Empowerments issued by the Minister of Trade and Industry (“BEE Codes”), who are 
natural persons and who:

1.3.1 are citizens of the Republic of South Africa (“South Africa”) by birth or descent;

1.3.2 are citizens of South Africa by naturalisation before the commencement date of the Interim 
Constitution of South Africa Act 200 of 1993;

1.3.3 became citizens of South Africa after the Interim Constitution, but who, but for the Apartheid 
policy that had been in place prior to that date, would have been entitled to acquire citizenship by 
naturalisation prior to that date; or

shall have such meaning as may be given to it under the (“B-BBEE Legislation”).

1.4 A “Black Company”4 is a company incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa which is 
both a Black Majority Owned Company and a Black Majority Controlled Company (and includes a close 
corporation or other incorporated entity).

1.5 A “Black Majority Controlled Company”5 is a company incorporated in accordance with the laws of South 
Africa which has a shareholding in which one or more Black People controls or control, on an effective 
flow-through basis (as such term is contemplated in the BEE Codes) in at least 51% of all exercisable 
voting rights in relation to the ordinary shares or other equity interest of such company, exercisable by 
shareholders in general meeting or otherwise, and shall have such other meaning as may be ascribed to it 
under the B-BBEE Legislation from time to time.

1.6 A “Black Majority Owned Company”6 is a company incorporated in South Africa which has a shareholding 
in which one or more Black People:

1.6.1 beneficially owns or own, on an effective, flow-through basis (as such term is contemplated in the 
BEE Codes and which, for the avoidance of doubt, excludes measurement utilising the modified 
flow-through principle), in at least 51% of the ordinary share or other equity interest of such 
company;

1.6.2 is or are entitled to in excess of 50% of all economic interest in relation to the ordinary shares or 
other equity interest of such company; or

shall have such other meaning as may be given to it under the B-BBEE Legislation from time to 
time.

1 Article 1.1.4.1 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
2 Article 1.4.14 of the MOI
3 Article 1.4.15 of the MOII
4 Article 1.4.10 of the MO
5 Article 1.4.12 of the MOI
6 Article 1.4.13 of the MOI
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1.7 A “Black Entity”7 means a trust, partnership, joint venture, syndicate, “stokvel”, Broad-Based Ownership 
Scheme, or other such unincorporated entity or association, which has as the majority of its beneficiaries 
and trustees or other such representative of its governing body (as the case may be), Black Companies and/
or Black People; provided, however, that such Black Entities (and trusts, broad-based ownership schemes 
and distribution schemes, in particular) comply with and qualify under the B-BBEE Legislation (and the 
BEE Codes in particular) for recognition and measurement of ownership by Black People.

2. RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT YOU MAY DO WITH YOUR PN1 SHARES?

2.1 Shareholders may not pledge, charge, hypothecate, subordinate or mortgage their PN1 shares and may 
not provide their shares as security for any lien, guarantee or loan. Shareholders may also not give 
anyone any option or rights of retention over their PN1 Shares.8

2.2 Shareholders are entitled to sell their PN1 shares in accordance with the provisions of the MOI.

2.3 In order to trade in PN1 shares, you must appoint Singular Services as your broker. Singular Services is 
the only broker which may provide such services in respect of PN1 shares.

3. WHO CAN I SELL MY PN1 SHARES TO?

Shareholders must sell their shares to Black Participants only, being Black People, Black Companies and/or 
Black Entities. Any buyer of PN1 shares must be verified by Singular Services (as its verification agent) on 
behalf of PN1. No PN1 shares may be transferred in contravention of the MOI.9

4. WHAT HAPPENS IF I DO NOT COMPLY WITH THE RESTRICTIONS PLACED ON PN1 SHARES?

4.1 PN1 has the right to request you to provide it with proof that you qualify as a Black Participant at any 
time.10 Should you not provide PN1 with the relevant proof within 30 days of such request, you will have 
breached the MOI. If this happens, MIHH will notify you of such breach and give you 30 days within 
which to remedy the breach.11 Should the breach remain unremedied, MIHH shall be entitled (but not 
obliged), by giving written notice to you, to require you to sell your PN1 shares to MIHH at R0.0000001 
per share. If the aggregate value of the shares so sold to MIHH is less than R0.01, MIHH will pay the 
relevant shareholder an amount equal to R0.01.12

4.2 In addition, any PN1 shares held or transferred to a person that is not a Black Person or to a company 
or entity that is not a Black Company or Black Entity, respectively, shall not be entitled to receive any 
dividends and such shareholder shall be deemed to have transferred the voting rights attached to its PN1 
shares to MIHH or a nominee of MIHH.13

5. HOW MANY SHARES MAY I HOLD?

5.1 No shareholder may hold:

5.1.1 less than 20 PN1 shares; or

5.1.2 more than 10% of the total number of PN1 shares in issue.14

5.2 The 10% maximum number of shares held in PN1 shall include shares held by an associate of a shareholder.15

7 Article 1.4.11 of the MOI
8 Article 1.1.4.6 of Schedule 1 of the MOI and article 1.4.29 of the MI
9 Article 1.2.9 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
10 Article 6.3.3 of the MOI
11 Article 6.3.3 of the MOI
12 Article 2.8.1 of the MOI
13 Article 1.2.10 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
14 Article 1.1.4.5 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
15 An associate means in relation to:

• any individual:
a. that individual's immediate family; and/or
b. trustees, acting as such, of any trust of which the individual or any of the individual's immediate family is a beneficiary (whether vested or discretionary); and/or

• any company in whose equity securities the individual or any person or trust contemplated above, taken together, are directly or indirectly beneficially interested, or 
have a conditional, contingent or future entitlement to become beneficially interested, and that the individual or person or trust contemplated above are, or would on the 
fulfilment of the condition or the occurrence of the contingency be able to (i) exercise or control the exercise of 20% or more of the votes able to be cast at general meetings 
on all, or substantially all, matters; or (ii) to appoint or remove directors holding a majority of voting rights at board meetings on all, or substantially all, matters; and/or

• any close corporation in which the individual and/or any member/s of the individual's family, taken together, are beneficially interested in 20% or more of the members' 
interest and/or are able to exercise or control the exercise of 20% or more of the votes able to be cast at members' meetings on all, or substantially all, matters; and

• any company:
a. any other company that is its subsidiary, holding company or subsidiary of its holding company; and/or
b. any company whose directors are accustomed to act in accordance with the company's directors or instructions; and/or
c. any company in the capital of which such company, and any other company contemplated above, taken together, is or would on the fulfilment of a condition or the 

occurrence of a contingency be, interested in the manner described above.
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6. RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THE MOI

6.1 These Issuer Restrictions must at all times be read together with PN1’s MOI. The provisions of the MOI 
are binding on PN1 and all of its shareholders. It is important that you familiarise yourself with the 
provisions of the MOI.

6.2 In the event of any conflict between the provisions of the MOI and these Issuer Restrictions, the provisions 
of the MOI shall prevail.

14 Article 1.1.4.5 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
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ANNEXURE 10

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PN1  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 MARCH 2019, 2018 AND 2017

PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

14 Article 1.1.4.5 of Schedule 1 of the MOI
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

PROMINENT NOTICE

COMPANY INFORMATION

Country of incorporation and domicile: South Africa

Registration number: 2006/015187/06

Registered address: 144 Bram Fischer Drive
Randburg

2194

Postal address: P O Box 1502
Randburg

2125

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

CONTENTS Page

Certificate by the company secretary 2

Directors' statement of responsibility 3

Report of the audit committee 4 - 5

Directors' report 6 - 7

Report of the independent auditors 8 - 13

Statement of financial position 14

Statement of profit or loss 15

Statement of comprehensive income 16

Statement of changes in equity 17

Statement of cash flows 18

Notes to the annual financial statements 19 - 33

These annual financial statements have been audited by our external auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. in compliance 
with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act, 2008. Rochelle Gabriels CA(SA) supervised the preparation of the 
annual financial statements.

1
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CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

DM Dickson
Company secretary 
27 June 2019

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, I, Donna M Dickson, in my capacity as company secretary
of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited, confirm that the company has, for the year ended 31 March 2019, lodged all
returns and notices required of a public company with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, and that all
such returns and notices are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

2
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of
Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited. The annual financial statements presented on pages 1 to 33 have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act of South Africa, and include
amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the annual financial statements, they have used the most appropriate accounting
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they
consider to be applicable have been followed. The annual financial statements fairly present the results of operations for
the year and the financial position of the company at year end in accordance with IFRS.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose,
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position and results of the company to enable the directors to ensure that the
annual financial statements comply with the relevant legislation.

The company operates in an established control environment, which is documented and regularly reviewed. This
incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled. Nothing has come to
the attention of the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and
systems has occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the annual financial statements. The directors have no reason to
believe that the company will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash
resources.  These annual financial statements support the viability of the company.

The annual financial statements have been audited by the independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who were
given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the
board of directors and committees of the board.  

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. is presented on pages 8 - 13.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 27 June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

_________________________
DIRECTOR

_________________________
DIRECTOR

3
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2019

n Reviewed the year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt them. In the
course of its review the committee:

- took appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Act;

- considered and, when appropriate, made recommendations on internal financial controls;
- dealt with concerns or complaints relating to accounting policies, the auditing or content of annual financial

statements, and internal financial controls; and
- reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the company's financial statements.
n Reviewed the external audit report on the annual financial statements;
n Verified the independence of the external auditors and nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the auditors for

2019 and noted the appointment of Ms A Motaung as the designated auditor;
n Approved audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditors;
n Approved the non-audit services provided by the external auditors.

Name of committee member  
H Wessels      
M Langa       

CP Mack 
PO Goldhawk*

* PO Goldhawk passed away on 02 September 2018

As the company's only major asset is an investment in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, the board 
deems it appropriate that all its members be appointed to the audit committee.  The audit committee has pleasure in 
submitting this report, as required by section 94 of the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008 ("the Act").

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has discharged the following functions:

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee consists of the non-executive directors of the company. All the members act independently as 
described in section 94 of the  Act.

ATTENDANCE

The external auditors, in their capacity as auditors to the company, attended and reported at the meeting of the audit 
committee. Relevant managers attended meetings by invitation.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS

Audit committee agendas provide for confidential meetings between the committee members and the external auditors.

Qualifications
Chartered Accountant - CA(SA)
Diploma in Offset Litho Printing (London College of Printing) and 
Certificate in Periodical Journalism (University of London) 
LLB - University of Cape Town
Chartered Accountant - CA(SA)

4
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2019

27 June 2019

The committee satisfied itself that the composition, experience and skills set of the finance function met the company’s 
requirements.

DISCHARGE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The committee determined that during the financial year under review it had discharged its legal and other responsibilities 
as outlined in terms of the Act. The board concurred with this assessment.

_________________________
H Wessels

On behalf of the audit committee of the board
Independent non-executive director

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF FINANCE FUNCTION

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the year under review, the audit committee reviewed a representation by the external auditors and, after 
conducting its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditors.

5
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Nature of operations

Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited was incorporated on 19 May 2006 under the laws of the Republic of South Africa.
The principal activities of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited are to:

a) carry on the main business of holding only MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited ordinary shares, cash
and such assets as are received and acquired solely by virtue of or in relation to the holding of MultiChoice South Africa
Holdings Proprietary Limited ordinary shares, and

b) receive and distribute dividends and other distributions in terms of its holding in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings
Proprietary Limited.

Operating and financial review

The financial results of the company are set out on pages 14 - 33

Empowerment transaction

On 4 March 2019, Naspers Limited unbundled its entire investment in the video entertainment segment to its existing
shareholders resulting in a change in the group's ownership from MIH Holdings Limited to MultiChoice Group Limited. As
part of the unbundling the company was given an additional 3.33% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary
Limited for nominal consideration. Refer to note 15.

Share capital

Refer to note 3 for details of the authorised and issued share capital.

Dividends

The board recommends that dividends of 2222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary share be declared.

Directors, secretary and auditors

The directors of the company are listed below and the company secretary is Ms Donna Dickson, who was appointed on 01
April 2019. The registered address and postal address for the secretary is the same as those of the company as detailed on
page 1.

Name
CP Mack
M Langa
PO Goldhawk
H Wessels

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office as auditors in accordance with section 94 of the Companies Act of South
Africa.

On 01 April 2019, Mrs RJ Gabriels stepped down as company secretary for Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited to
focus on her role as the Chief Financial Officer of MultiChoice South Africa Group. 

Date first appointed
05 July 2007
04 August 2006
Passed away on 02 September 2018
10 October 2018

Category
Non-executive
Independent, non-executive
Independent, non-executive
Independent, non-executive

6
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Trading platform

In response to the Registrar of Securities Services (the Registrar) request to regularise our affairs in line with the Financial
Markets Act, 2012 (the FM Act), Phuthuma Nathi (RF) Limited listed its shares on Equity Express Securities Exchange (EESE)
Proprietary Limited on 23 November 2018, a licensed exchange authorised in terms of the FM Act, and ceased trading its
shares on the over-the-counter (OTC) trading platform operated by Singular System Proprietary Limited. The trading process
on the EESE exchange is very similar to that of the OTC trading platform. In line with the company's memorandum of
incorporation, Phuthuma Nathi obtained consent from MIH Holdings Limited to list its shares on the Equity Express
Securities Exchange trading platform.

Events after the reporting period

The Phuthuma Nathi board recommended that a dividend of 2222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary share be paid to
the Phuthuma Nathi shareholders. This will result in a total dividend received by Phuthuma Nathi shareholders of R1bn.
Dividend tax of 20% per share of 444.44 cents will be withheld, with Phuthuma Nathi shareholders receiving a total net
dividend of 1777.78 cents per share, payable in the 2020 financial year (2019: 1564.45 cents). All dividends proposed will
be paid from the company's reserves and are subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGMs on 28 August 2019. If
approved, these dividends will be payable to shareholders recorded in the share register on 28 August 2019 and paid on or
about 6 September 2019.

Going Concern

The directors are satisfied that the company is in sound financial position and cash reserves are accessible in order to enable
the company to meet their foreseeable commitment requirements. On this basis they have considered that the company
has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and therefore deem it adequate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for this reporting period.

Signed on behalf of the board:

M Langa
Chairman
27 June 2019

7
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pwc 

Independent auditor's report 
To the Shareholders of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited (the Company) as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 
What we have audited 

Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited's financial statements set out on pages 14 to 33 comprise: 
• the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019;

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accountingpolicies.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 
January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) respectively. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, 2090 
Private Bag X36, Sunning hill, 2157, South Africa 
T: +27(0) 11 7974000, F: +27(0) 11209 5800, www.pwc.co.za

Chief Executive Officer. T D Shango 
Management Committee S N Madikane, JS Masondo, P J Moth1be, C Richardson, F Tonelli, C Volschenk 
The Company's principal place of business 1s at 4 Lisbon Lane. Waterfall City. Jukske, View, where a list of directors' names 1s available for inspection 
Reg no 1998/012055/21, VAT reg no. 4950174682 
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Our audit approach 
Overview 

Overall materiality 

• R19.3 million, which represents 5% of profit before tax
adjusted for the gain on empowerment transaction.

Audit scope 

Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited 
(MCSAH) was considered to be a.financially significant 
component and subject to a full scope audit. 

Key audit matters 

• Accounting for the additional 3 .3% shareholding acquired in
Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited
(MCSAH)

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias thal represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 
Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 
Overall materiality 

How we determined it 

R19.3 million 

5% of profit before tax adjusted for the gain on empowerment 
transaction 
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Rationale for the 
mate,-iality benchmark 
applied 

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is 
the benchmark against which the performance of the Company is 
most commonly measured by users, and is a generally accepted 
benchmark. MCSAH is a profit driven entity, therefore profit before 
tax has been considered to be the key benchmark in calculating 
materiality and because profit for Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) 
Limited is impacted by the share of profit from MCSAH. The gain 
was added back to the profit before tax, as it is not reflective of the 
ongoing operations of the business. We chose 5% which is consistent 
with quantitative mate1·iality thresholds used for profit-oriented 
companies in this sector. 

How we tailored our audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates. 
The Company owns a 16.67% interest in MCSAH which is accounted for as an investment in associate. 
For purposes of our audit, we considered MCSAH to be a financially significant component and subject 
to a full scope audit. 
In establishing the overall approach to the audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be 
performed by us, as the engagement team and the component auditor from within the PwC network of 
firms. Where the work was performed by the component auditor, we determined the level of 
involvement we needed to have in the audit work at the component to be able to conclude whether 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Company 
financial statements as a whole. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Accounting for the additional 3.3'Jo 
shareholding acquiT'ed in Multichoice 
South Africa Holdings Proprietary 
Limited (11-ICSAH) 

Refer to the following notes in the financial 
�tatements that relate to this key audit matter: 

• Note 1.1 relating to the accounting
policies fol' investments in associates,

• 1Yote 2 relating to investments in
associates. and

• 1\'ote 15 ,-elating the gain on
empowc,-ment tl'ansaction.

As part of the formation of the M ultichoice 
Group Limited, MultiChoice Group Limited 

We obtained an understanding of the 
empowerment transaction by performing the 
following procedures 

• Inspecting the share issue agreement
entered into between MCSAH and
Phuthuma Nathi confirming that 15
million ordinary shares were allocated
to Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF)
Limited, and

• Recalculating the percentage allocated
to Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF)
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allocated for a nominal consideration, an additional 5% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited ("MCSAH") to Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited and Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited (collectively "Phuthuma Nathi") as part of an empowerment transaction. Of this 5%, Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited, was allocated 3.3%. 
Subsequent to this allocation the Company's investment in MCSAH increased to 16.67%. Although the company holds less than 20% of the shares of MCSAH, it still exercised significant influence over MCSAH by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors and the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of MCSAH. This investment has been accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
In accordance with IAS 28 -Investments in 
associates and joint ventures, paragraph 32, when an inYestor acquires an additional stake in an associate, any excess of the fair value of the identifiable assets of the associate over the consideration paid is recognised as a gain on bargain purchase. As the company paid a nominal consideration for the shares acquired, a gain on bargain purchase amounting to R 716 million has been recognised which is included in net profit, with a corresponding increase recognised to the investment in associate. The gain on bargain purchase was determined through a provisional purchase price allocation performed by management's valuation expe1t. These provisional amounts are subject to change based on the final assessment to be undertaken within the next 12 months and may result in a change to the gain recognised. The provisional nominal purchase price allocation for the additional stake is calculated using fair value information at the date when the additional interest is acquired. There is no step up or remeasurement of the previously held interest, because there is no change in the status of the investment. We considered this to be a matter of most significance in the current year audit due to the following: • magnitude of the investment inassociate in relation to total assets, and• the notional purchase price allocationbeing subject to change based on thefinal assessment to be undertaken

Limited and confirmed this to be 3.3%. 
We performed the following procedures to assess the reasonableness of the nominal purchase price allocation: 

• Evaluating management's experts byassessing their competence, capability,and objecth;ty and noted no aspectsrequiring further consideration, and• With the assistance of our valuationexpertise we assessed thereasonableness of the provisionalpurchase price allocation and foundthe results to be "';thin a reasonablerange.

We performed an independent recalculation of the accuracy of the valuation noting no material exceptions; and utilised our internal accounting specialists to assess the accounting applied for the transaction noting no material exceptions. 
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within the next 12 months. 
····································································· ··············································· .......................................................................................... , ...................... . 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled "Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019", which includes the Directors' Report, the Report of the audit committee and the Certificate by the company secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the other sections of the document titled "M ultichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited & Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited Integrated annual report 2019", which is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the.financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whetherdue to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, andobtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for oneresulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing anopinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness ofaccounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accountingand, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as agoing concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, ifsuch disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on theaudit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events orconditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, includingthe disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactionsand events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entitiesor business activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remainsolely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing ofthe audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control thatwe identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be Lhought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, relatedsafeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of mostsignificance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludespublic disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so wouldreasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015,we report that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Phuthuma Nathi Investments(RF) Limited for 13 years.

� tt ivct!Qrt�rG JAc ,PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. ., ( '-'
Director: AM Motaung
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
27 June 2019
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Operating expenses 7 (102)                 (96)                   
Operating loss (102)                 (96)                   

Gain on empowerment transaction 15 715,565          -                       
Share of equity accounted results of associate 2 386,357          1,040,968       

Profit before taxation 1,101,820       1,040,872       

Taxation 8 -                       -                       

Net profit for the year 1,101,820       1,040,872       

Earnings per share based on 45 000 000 issued shares R 24.49 R 23.13
There was no dilution in earnings per share in 2019 (2018: no dilution).

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Net profit for the year 1,101,820       1,040,872       

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Share of changes in associate's other comprehensive income items 2 707,617          (71,539)           

Total comprehensive income 1,809,437       969,333          

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.

16



94

PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 Share capital
 and premium

R'000 

 Other 
reserves *

R'000 

 Accumulated 
profit
R'000 

 Total
R'000 

Balance at 1 April 2017 450,000          248,277          2,289,776       2,988,053       

Net profit for the year -                       -                       1,040,872       1,040,872       
Other comprehensive income for the year (note 2) -                       (71,539)           -                       (71,539)           
Dividends (note 13) -                       -                       (866,669)         (866,669)         

Balance at 31 March 2018 450,000          176,738          2,463,979       3,090,717       

Balance at 1 April 2018 450,000          176,738          2,463,979       3,090,717       

Net profit for the year -                       -                       1,101,820       1,101,820       
Other comprehensive income for the year (note 2) -                       707,617          -                       707,617          
Dividends (note 13) -                       -                       (880,002)         (880,002)         

Balance at 31 March 2019 450,000          884,355          2,685,797       4,020,152       
Notes 3                      

* Other reserves consist of fair value reserve from gains and losses on available-for-sale investments, foreign currency
translation reserve, hedging reserve and share-based payment reserve.

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Cash flow from operating activities 869,080          873,446          
Cash (utilised) / generated from operations 9 (10,922)           6,777               
Dividends received from associate 2 880,002          866,669          

Cash utilised in financing activities (867,047)         (858,091)         
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders 13 (861,647)         (842,880)         
Repayment of preference shares 4 (135)                 -                       
Decrease in amounts owing to investors 5 (5,265)             (15,211)           

Movement in cash for the year 2,033               15,355            

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 144,813          129,458          

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 146,846          144,813          

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The annual financial statements are presented in accordance with, and comply with, International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations issued and
effective at the time of preparing these financial statements. The financial statements are prepared according to the
historical cost convention.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the reporting date
as well as the reported profit or loss for the year. Although estimates are based on management's best knowledge and
judgement of current facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly
significantly.

1.1 Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the company exercises significant influence, but which it does not control or jointly
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
not control or joint control over those policies. Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The company's investment in associates includes goodwill identified on
acquisition.
The compay applies the “cost of each purchase” method for step acquisitions of associates. With this method the cost of an 
associate acquired in stages is measured as the sum of the consideration paid for each purchase plus a share of the 
investee’s profits and other equity movements. Any other comprehensive income recognised in prior periods in relation to 
the previously held stake in the acquired associate is reversed through equity and a share of profits and other equity 
movements is also recorded in equity. Any acquisition-related costs are treated as part of the investment in the associate. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

When the company ceases to exercise significant influence, any retained interest is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in the carrying value recognised in the income statement. This fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of the disposed associate are accounted for as if the company had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the income statement.

The company’s share of other comprehensive income and other changes in net assets of the associate is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. When the company's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any unsecured receivables, the company does not recognise any further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Investments in associates are assessed for impairment where indicators of impairment are present. If impaired, the carrying
value of the company’s investment in the associate is adjusted to its recoverable amount and the resulting impairment loss
is included adjacent to  "Share of equity accounted results of associates" in the income statement.

Profits or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the company and its associate are
recognised in the company's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated, unless the loss provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency of the policies adopted by the company.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in the income statement.

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value which equals the cost or face value
of the asset. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks.

1.3 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

1.4 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the respective
instrument. Such assets consist of cash, equity instruments, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset, or
a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another company on potentially favourable terms. Financial
assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or has been transferred and the
company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

The company assesses at each statement of financial position date, or earlier when such assessment is prompted, whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset may be impaired. If any such evidence exists, the amount of any
impairment loss is established as outlined below.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given 
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward looking information as described above. As for the exposure at 
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial 
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional 
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s 
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.5 Financial liabilities

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the relevant
instrument. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. However, financial
liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing
involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the company, are measured in accordance with
the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) equity investments,
or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Financial liabilities are presented as current liabilities if payment is due or could be demanded within 12 months (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis.

Cumulative redeemable preference shares

The cumulative redeemable preference shares are classified as a financial liability. Financial liabilities at amortised cost are
initially recognised at fair value, excluding transactions costs, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Other payables

Accounts payable are presented as current liabilities since payment is due or could be demanded within 12 months (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.6 Tax
Tax expense

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, the related tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax 

The normal South African company tax rate applied for the year ending 31 March 2019 is 28% (2018: 28%). The current
income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial
position date in South Africa. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
where the applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to tax authorities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxation is provided on the taxable or deductible temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction,
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor the taxable profit
or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences (including carried forward tax
losses) can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities, and when the deferred income taxes relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable company, or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for South African entities as at 31 March 2019 have been calculated using the 28% (2018:
28%) tax rate.

There are no deferred tax assets or liabilities at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

1.7 Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the company's shareholders are recognised as a deduction to equity in the company's financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company's shareholders.

1.8 Dividend withholding tax

Dividend withholding tax is payable at a rate of 20% on dividends distributed to certain shareholders. This tax is not
attributable to the company but is collected and paid to the tax authorities on behalf of the shareholders.

1.9 Security transfer tax

Security transfer tax is provided at a rate of 0,25% on the transfer of listed or unlisted securities. Securities include shares in
companies.

1.10 Functional and presentation currency

The annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the company's functional and presentation
currency.

1.11 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainity
The company considers the fact that it holds less than 20% of the equity shares in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings 
Proprietary Limited and accounts for it as an associate as a significant judgement. This is due to the company's ability to 
exercise significant influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors to the board of directors of MultiChoice 
South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited and has the power to participate in it's financial and operating policy decisions.

1.12 New standards and interpretations

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted in 2019

n IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Effective 01 January 2018) Adoption date March 2019
This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39.  IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial assets 
and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two 
classification categories: amortised cost and fair value.
The IASB has updated IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ to include guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial 
instruments. The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been 
relocated from IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, without change, except for financial liabilities 
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.
The company has assessed the impact of IFRS 9 and there is no impact expected on the 2019 financial statements. IFRS 9 
introduces a forward-looking impairment model, based on expected credit losses, to replace the incurred loss model in 
terms of IAS 39. In terms of IFRS 9, the company's impairment methodology will take forward-looking information, that has 
been demonstrated to be predictive of credit losses, into consideration.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

n Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle (Effective 01 January 2018) Adoption date March 2019
IAS 28 - Clarifies that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an associate or a joint 
venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

None of these standards or interpretations had a significant financial impact on the company.

Interpretations early adopted by the company

The company has not adopted any standards or interpretations early in the current year.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the company

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are not yet effective as at 31 March
2019. The company is currently evaluating the effects of these standards and interpretation, which have not been early
adopted. 
The company has done an initial assessment and tentatively concluded that the implementation of these changes will not
have a material impact on the financial statements.

There are no standards or amendments that have been issued and are not yet effective that are significant to the company.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

2 Investment in associate

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Movement in carrying amount
At the beginning of the year           3,092,267        2,989,507 
Additional investment              715,565                         - 
Share of net profit              386,357        1,040,968 
Share of changes in other reserves              707,617 (71,539)          
Dividends received            (880,002)         (866,669)
At the end of the year 4,021,804         3,092,267      

Analysis of carrying amount
Cost           2,250,000        2,250,000 
Share of post-acquisition reserves           1,771,804           842,267 

4,021,804         3,092,267      

Reconciliation of carrying amount
 2019
R'm 

 2018
R'm 

Share of net assets of associate 1,717                  1,182               
Goodwill on initial acquistion 1,910                  1,910               
Fair value uplift on net identifiable assets 395                     -                   
Carrying amount 4,022                  3,092               

As at the beginning of the financial period the company had 13.33% interest in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary 
Limited, a company incorporated and with its principal place of business in South Africa. The company increased its stake in 
Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited through an additional allocation of 3.33% (valued at R716 million) of the 
company's issued share capital (15 000 000 shares @ R0.0001 per share) on 04 March 2019, to increase its stake to 16.67% as at 
the end of the financial period. 

The company recognised a once off gain on the empowerment transaction of R716 million in the current financial period for the 
additional 3.33% share allocation in the associate for nominal consideration (Refer to note 15).

Although the company holds less than 20% of the equity shares in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, it 
exercises significant influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors to the board of directors of that company 
and has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary 
Limited.

There has been no objective evidence of impairment of the associate in the current or prior years.

The principal activities of MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited is the operation of video-entertainment and 
internet subscriber platforms. This is an unlisted investment that is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Non-current assets 16,040,719       17,046,702    
Current assets 13,989,524       10,053,679    
Total assets 30,030,243      27,100,381   

Non-current liabilities 10,212,214      8,877,387      
Current liabilities 9,517,672         9,354,685      
Total liabilities 19,729,886      18,232,072   

Revenue        40,391,096 40,165,003    
Cost of providing services and sale of goods       (21,438,728)    (21,544,531)
Gross profit 18,952,368      18,620,472   
Other gains                18,773             18,489 
Selling, general and administration costs         (8,550,206)      (7,959,148)
Operating profit        10,420,935     10,679,813 
Finance income              310,006           320,841 
Foreign exchange differences         (1,541,151)           659,995 
Empowerment transaction         (2,564,000)                         - 
Impairment of equity-accounted investments               (60,470)                 (201)
Share of equity-accounted investment results            (110,878)            (96,767)
Profit on sale of business                           -           117,756 
Finance costs            (644,094)         (644,929)
Profit before taxation 5,810,348         11,036,508   
Taxation         (2,344,083)      (3,247,202)
Net profit 3,466,265         7,789,306      
Other comprehensive income 1,727,731         (485,220)        
Total comprehensive income 5,193,996         7,304,086      

3 Share capital and premium 

Authorised
90 000 000 ordinary shares of R0.0000001 each * *

Issued (and fully paid up)
45 000 000 ordinary shares of R0.0000001 each * *
Share premium 450,000            450,000         

450,000            450,000         
* Amount less than R1 000.

Summarised financial information of unlisted associate as per its annual financial statements

As at 31 March 2019 the company’s associate had a contingent liability of R0 million (2018: R342.7 million) as an estimate of 
potential liabilities. 
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

4 Long-term liabilities

-                          135                 
-                          135                 

Preference share liability reconciliation

Opening balance at 01 April 135                     135                 
Preference share redemptions (135)                   -                       
Closing balance at 31 March -                      135                 

5 Other payables

STT and VAT -                          25                    
Accrued expenses 103                    -                       
Ordinary shareholders for dividends (Refer to note 12) 136,852            118,497         
Amounts owing to investors (Refer to note 12) -                          5,265              
Related party payables (Refer to note 10) 36,878               24,492            
Other payables -                          1,071              

             173,833           149,350 

6 Other receivables

Debtors control -                      92                    
Dividend float receivable 14,166               -                   
Sundry debtors 51                       51                    
Intercompany receivable (Note 10) 7,982                  -

22,199               143                  

The dividend float receivable relates to unclaimed dividend float receivables from Singular services for cash held on behalf of 
the company by Singular services to administer the disbursement of unclaimed dividends to shareholders as and when 
shareholders come forward.

Variable rate, cumulative redeemable preference shares with issue price of R10 each

On 21 January 2019, the board of directors issued a  notice of redemption for the voluntary redemption of MIHH preference 
shares in the company as part of Naspers Limited distribution of it's entire issued share capital in MultiChoice Group Limited. 
The redemption price of R10 per MIHH Preference share was recommended by the board which was payable by the company to 
MIHH on the redemption date. The preference shares were redeemed on 27 February 2019 as part of Naspers Limited's 
unbundling and listing of MultiChoice Group Limited. The redemption value of R135 100 was paid to MIH Holdings Proprietary 
Limited on 05 March 2019.

At 31 March 2019, 0 (2018: 13,501) preference shares were in issue.  
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

7 Operating expenses

Audit fees                      102 96                    
                     102                     96 

8 Taxation

South African normal taxation- current year                           - -                       

Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory tax rate 28.0% 28.0%
Earnings from associate recognised post tax -28.0% -28.0%
Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.0%

9 Cash (utilised) / generated from operations

Profit before taxation 1,101,820         1,040,872      
Adjusted for:
Share of equity accounted results of associate (386,357)           (1,040,968)     
Gain on empowerment transaction (715,565)           -                       

                   (102)                    (96)
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables               (22,213)                   145 
Payables                11,393                6,728 

              (10,922)                6,777 

The following items have been charged in arriving at operating profit:

No deferred tax has been recognised on the associate because dividends received from MultiChoice are exempt from tax as the 
company has no intention to dispose of the investment.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

10 Related parties
Amounts due to related parties: Associate

Associate - MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited - refer to note 2
Subsidiary of associate - MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited

MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited (Refer to Note 5)                36,878             24,492 
               36,878             24,492 

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Income 14,104 14,691
Expenses                 (3,744)              (3,265)
Other amounts received / (paid) 2,026              (3,982)

12,386                7,444 

Consulting fees paid in 2019 by other related parties to Goldhawk Corporate Advisory amounted to R230 288 (2018: R84 645). 
The amount of R230 288 paid in 2019 relates to services rendered in the 2018 financial year. Goldhawk Corporate Advisory is a 
company owned by PO Goldhawk.

As per the MOI, directors of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited shall not earn directors fees from either the company or 
any related company as compensation for their duties as Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited directors. 

Transactions with non-executive directors

As per the memorandum of incorporation (MOI), Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited shall not earn any revenue and/or 
incur any expenses related to the trading of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited shares. MultiChoice South Africa 
Proprietary Ltd shall incur all expenses related to the trading of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited shares. 

MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited has earned and incurred the following income and expenses related to the trading 
of Phuthuma Nathi Shares for the year ended 31 March 2019 in terms of the MOI requirements:
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Non-executive directors shareholdings

 2019 2018

Name
 Number of 
shares held 

 Number of 
shares held 

CP Mack *                   5,324                5,324 
M Langa *                   5,451                5,451 

               10,775             10,775 

Amounts due from related parties: 

Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Ltd                   7,982                       -   
                  7,982                         - 

The directors of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited had the following interests in Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) 
Limited ordinary shares as at 31 March:

* Shares were purchased by directors at the fair market value per share.

Amounts due from Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited relate to unclaimed dividend payments made to Phuthuma 
Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Ltd shareholders from the company's unclaimed dividend float account administered by Singular 
services on the company's behalf. 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

11 Financial risk management

Foreign exchange and price risk

Credit Risk

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 146,846            144,813         

Other receivables                22,199                   143 

Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 9

Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Original 
'000

New 
'000

Current financial assets
Other receivables Amortised Cost Amortised Cost                      143                   143 
Current financial liabilities
Other payables Amortised Cost Amortised Cost              149,350           149,350 

The company is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to other receivables. Other receivables primarily 
consists of unclaimed dividend float receivables from Singular services for cash held on behalf of the company by Singular 
services to administer the disbursement of unclaimed dividends to shareholders as and when shareholders come forward. An 
initial float amount of R20 million was paid to Singular services post the migration to the EESE trading platform on 23 November 
2018 for the disbursement of unclaimed dividends, which is replenishable monthly by the company.  The dividend float is 
monitored to ensure that the funds are utilized in the prescribed manner. At 31 March 2019, the maximum amount of credit 
risk that the company is exposed to is as follows:

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, specifically credit risk and liquidity risk.  The company's overall 
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse 
effects on the company's financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the board of 
directors.

The company is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange or price risk.

The company is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to it's cash. It places its cash mainly with major banking 
companies and high-quality institutions that have high credit ratings. The counterparties that are used by the company are 
evaluated on a continuous basis. As at 31 March 2019, the company held the majority of its cash and deposits with local banks 
with a 'Baa3' credit rating (Moody's International's long-term deposit rating).  At 31 March 2019, the maximum amount of 
credit risk that the company is exposed to is as follows:

As at 31 March 2019, the company assessed the credit risk of other receivables to be low. Factors considered in determining the 
expected credit loss allowance are adjusted to reflect current and forward looking information on macroeconomics factors 
affect the ability of the debtor to settle the receivable. The identified impairment loss was considered immaterial.

Measurement category Carrying amount

On the date of initial application, 1 April 2018, the financial instruments of the company were as follows, with any 
reclassifications noted:
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Liquidity risk

Fair value of financial instruments

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 146,846            144,813         

13 Dividends per share

14 Events after the reporting period

During the year a dividend of 1 955.56 cents (2018: 1 925.93 cents) per ordinary share, totaling R880.0 million (2018: R866.7 
million) was declared and R837.1 million (2018: R818.5million) was paid. R42.8 million (2018: R48.2 million) was unclaimed and 
not paid over to shareholders at balance sheet date, and is included in the ordinary shareholders for dividends amount disclosed 
in note 5. In addition, R24.5 million (2018: R24.4 million) was paid out to shareholders relating to prior year unclaimed 
dividends.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash of R136.85 million (2018: R118.5 million) which relates to unclaimed dividends due to 
ordinary shareholders. The board of the company at this time has resolved not to prescribe unclaimed dividends.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash of R0 million (2018: R5.3 million) which relates to cash held on behalf of investors. 
Amounts held on behalf of investors as at 23 November 2018 were transferred to Equity Express Securities Exchange (EESE) as 
part of the move to the new trading platform.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the ability to close out 
market positions. In terms of the articles of association of the company, no limitation is placed on its borrowing capacity. All 
balances due equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The carrying amount of all financial instruments approximate their fair values.

The Phuthuma Nathi board recommended that a dividend of 2222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary share be paid to the 
Phuthuma Nathi shareholders. This will result in a total dividend received by Phuthuma Nathi shareholders of R1bn. Dividend 
tax of 20% per share of 444.44 cents will be withheld, with Phuthuma Nathi shareholders receiving a total net dividend of 
1777.78 cents  per share, payable in the 2020 financial year (2019: 1564.45 cents). All dividends proposed will be paid from the 
company's reserves and are subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGMs on 28 August 2019. If approved, these 
dividends will be payable to shareholders recorded in the share register on 28 August 2019 and paid on or about 6 September 
2019.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

15 Gain on empowerment transaction

Net identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the 
notional purchase price allocation

 2019
R'000 

Tangible net assets 6,347,000          
Brand 7,500,000          
Customer Relationships        13,500,000 
Deferred tax liabilities -5,880,000        
Net identifiable assets 21,467,000       
3.33% fair value of net identifiable assets 715,567             
Consideration -2
Gain on empowerment transaction 715,565             

Following the implementation of the Empowerment Transaction in the current financial year, MultiChoice Group Limited
announced that it had recommended that Phuthuma Nathi shareholders would have the opportunity to exchange 25% of their
Phuthuma Nathi shares for MultiChoice Group Limited shares (before the issue of the additional 5% MultiChoice South Africa
Holdings Proprietary Limited shares to the Phuthuma Nathi companies). This is subject to board and shareholder approvals. As
at the reporting date the company has not recognised any assets or liabilities or movements in equity balances in respect of the
proposed share exchange.

The following provisional purchase price allocation was performed in respect of the  additional 3.33% shareholding  given to the 
company to determine the gain recognised in the company's statement of profit and loss. These provisional amounts are 
subject to change based on the final assessment to be undertaken within the next 12 months and may thus result in a change to 
the gain on empowerment transaction recognised and disclosed below: 

On 4 March 2019, Naspers Limited unbundled its entire investment in the video entertainment segment to its existing 
shareholders resulting in a change in the group's ownership from MIH Holdings Limited to MultiChoice Group Limited. As part of 
the unbundling the company was given an additional 3.33% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited for 
nominal consideration.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

PROMINENT NOTICE

COMPANY INFORMATION

Country of incorporation and domicile: South Africa

Registration number: 2006/036320/06

Registered address: 144 Bram Fischer Drive
Randburg

2194

Postal address: P O Box 1502
Randburg

2125

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
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These annual financial statements have been audited by our external auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. in compliance 
with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act, 2008. Rochelle Gabriels CA(SA) supervised the preparation of the 
annual financial statements.
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CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

DM Dickson
Company secretary 
27 June 2019

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, I, Donna M Dickson, in my capacity as company secretary
of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited, confirm that the company has, for the year ended 31 March 2019, lodged all
returns and notices required of a public company with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, and that all
such returns and notices are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

2
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of
Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited. The annual financial statements presented on pages 1 to 33 have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act of South Africa, and
include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the annual financial statements, they have used the most appropriate accounting
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they
consider to be applicable have been followed. The annual financial statements fairly present the results of operations for
the year and the financial position of the company at year end in accordance with IFRS.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose,
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position and results of the company to enable the directors to ensure that the
annual financial statements comply with the relevant legislation.

The company operates in an established control environment, which is documented and regularly reviewed. This
incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled. Nothing has come to
the attention of the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and
systems has occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the annual financial statements. The directors have no reason to
believe that the company will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash
resources.  These annual financial statements support the viability of the company.

The annual financial statements have been audited by the independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who were
given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the
board of directors and committees of the board. 

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. is presented on pages 8 - 13.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 27 June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

_________________________
DIRECTOR

_________________________
DIRECTOR

3
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2019

n Reviewed the year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt them. In the
course of its review the committee:

- took appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Act;

- considered and, when appropriate, made recommendations on internal financial controls;
- dealt with concerns or complaints relating to accounting policies, the auditing or content of annual financial

statements, and internal financial controls; and
- reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the company's financial statements.
n Reviewed the external audit report on the annual financial statements;
n Verified the independence of the external auditors and nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the auditors for

2019 and noted the appointment of Ms A Motaung as the designated auditor;
n Approved audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditors;
n Approved the non-audit services provided by the external auditors.

Name of committee member  
H Wessels      
M Langa       

CP Mack 
PO Goldhawk*

* PO Goldhawk passed away on 02 September 2018

As the company's only major asset is an investment in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, the board 
deems it appropriate that all its members be appointed to the audit committee.  The audit committee has pleasure in 
submitting this report, as required by section 94 of the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008 ("the Act").

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has discharged the following functions:

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee consists of the non-executive directors of the company. All the members act independently as 
described in section 94 of the  Act.

ATTENDANCE

The external auditors, in their capacity as auditors to the company, attended and reported at the meeting of the audit 
committee. Relevant managers attended meetings by invitation.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS

Audit committee agendas provide for confidential meetings between the committee members and the external auditors.

Qualifications
Chartered Accountant - CA(SA)
Diploma in Offset Litho Printing (London College of Printing) and 
Certificate in Periodical Journalism (University of London) 
LLB - University of Cape Town
Chartered Accountant - CA(SA)

4
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2019

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF FINANCE FUNCTION

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the year under review, the audit committee reviewed a representation by the external auditors and, after 
conducting its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditors.

27 June 2019

The committee satisfied itself that the composition, experience and skills set of the finance function met the company’s 
requirements.

DISCHARGE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The committee determined that during the financial year under review it had discharged its legal and other responsibilities 
as outlined in terms of the Act. The board concurred with this assessment.

_________________________
H Wessels

On behalf of the audit committee of the board

Independent non-executive director

5
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Nature of operations

Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited was incorporated on 21 November 2006 under the laws of the Republic of
South Africa.  The principal activities of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited are to:

a) carry on the main business of holding only MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited ordinary shares, cash
and such assets as are received and acquired solely by virtue of or in relation to the holding of MultiChoice South Africa
Holdings Proprietary Limited ordinary shares, and

b) receive and distribute dividends and other distributions in terms of its holding in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings
Proprietary Limited.

Operating and financial review

The financial results of the company are set out on pages 14 - 33

Empowerment transaction

On 4 March 2019, Naspers Limited unbundled its entire investment in the video entertainment segment to its existing
shareholders resulting in a change in the group's ownership from MIH Holdings Limited to MultiChoice Group Limited. As
part of the unbundling the company was given an additional 1.67% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary
Limited for nominal consideration. Refer to note 14.

Share capital

Refer to note 3 for details of the authorised and issued share capital.

Dividends

The board recommends that dividends of 2222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary share be declared.

Directors, secretary and auditors

The directors of the company are listed below and the company secretary is Ms Donna Dickson, who was appointed on 01
April 2019. The registered address and postal address for the secretary is the same as those of the company as detailed on
page 1.

Name
CP Mack
M Langa
PO Goldhawk
H Wessels

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office as auditors in accordance with section 94 of the Companies Act of South
Africa.

On 01 April 2019, Mrs RJ Gabriels stepped down as company secretary for Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited to
focus on her role as the Chief Financial Officer of MultiChoice South Africa Group. 

Date first appointed
05 July 2007
12 January 2007
Passed away on 02 September 2018
10 October 2018

Category
Non-executive
Independent, non-executive
Independent, non-executive
Independent, non-executive

6
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Trading platform

In response to the Registrar of Securities Services (the Registrar) request to regularise our affairs in line with the Financial
Markets Act, 2012 (the FM Act), Phuthuma Nathi 2 (RF) Limited listed its shares on Equity Express Securities Exchange
(EESE) Proprietary Limited on 23 November 2018, a licensed exchange authorised in terms of the FM Act, and ceased
trading its shares on the over-the-counter (OTC) trading platform operated by Singular System Proprietary Limited. The
trading process on the EESE exchange is very similar to that of the OTC trading platform. In line with the company's
memorandum of incorporation, Phuthuma Nathi obtained consent from MIH Holdings Limited to list its shares on the
Equity Express Securities Exchange trading platform.

Events after the reporting period

The Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 board recommended that a dividend of 2 222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary 
share be paid to the Phuthuma Nathi 2 shareholders. This will result in a total dividend received by Phuthuma Nathi 2 
shareholders of R500 million.
Dividend tax of 20% per share of 444.44 cents will be withheld, with Phuthuma Nathi shareholders receiving a total net 
dividend of 1 777.78 cents per share, payable in the 2020 financial year (2019: 1 564.45 cents). All dividends proposed will 
be paid from the company's reserves and are subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGMs on 28 August 2019. If 
approved, these dividends will be payable to shareholders recorded in the share register on 28 August 2019 and paid on or 
about 6 September 2019.

Going Concern

The directors are satisfied that the company is in sound financial position and cash reserves are accessible in order to enable
the company to meet their foreseeable commitment requirements. On this basis they have considered that the company
has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and therefore deem it adequate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for this reporting period.

Signed on behalf of the board:

M Langa
Chairman
27 June 2019

7
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pwc 

Independent auditor's report 
To the Shareholders of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited (the Company) as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 
'What we have audited 

Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited's financial statements set out on pages 14 to 33 comprise: 
• the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019; 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accountingpolicies.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 
January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) respectively. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, 2090 
Private Bag X36, Sunning hill, 2 157, South Africa 
T: +27(0) 117974000, F: +27(0) 11 209 5800, www.pwc.co.za

Chief Executive Officer· T D Shango 
Management Committee: SN Madikane. J S Masondo. P J Moth1be, C Richardson, F Tonelh. C Volschenk 
The Company's pnnapal place of business 1s at 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Juksket View, where a hst of directors' names 1s available for inspection 
Reg no 1998/012055/21, VAT reg.no 4950174682. 
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Our audit approach 
Overview 

Overall materiality 
• R9.7 million which represents 5% of profit before tax adjusted

for the gain on empowerment transaction.

Audit scope 

Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited 
(MCSAH) was considered to be a.financially significant 
component and subject to a full scope audit. 

Key audit matters 
• Accounting for the additional 1.67°/4 shareholding acquired in

Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited
(MCSAH)

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 
Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 
Overall materiality R9.7 million 

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax adjusted for the gain on empowerment 
transaction 
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Rationale for the 
mate11·ality benchmark 
applied 

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is 
the benchmark against which the performance of the Company is 
most commonly measured by users, and is a generally accepted 
benchmark. MCSAH is a profit driven entity, therefore profit before 
tax has been considered to be the key benchmark in calculating 
materiality and because profit for Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 
(RF) Limited is impacted by the share of profit from MCSAH. The 
gain was added back to the profit before tax, as it is not reflective of 
the ongoing operations of the business. We chose 5% which is 
consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds used for profit
oriented companies in this sector. 

How we tailored our audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates. 
The Company owns an 8.33% interest in MCSAH which is accounted for as an investment in associate. 
For purposes of our audit, we considered MCSAH to be a financially significant component and subject 
to a full scope audit. 
In establishing the overall approach to the audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be 
performed by us, as the engagement team and the component auditor from within the PwC network of 
firms. Where the work was performed by the component auditor, we determined the level of 
involvement we needed to have in the audit work at the component to be able to conclude whether 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Company 
financial statements as a whole. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Accountingf01· the additional 1.67°0 
shareholding acquired in Multichoice 
South Afl'ica Holdings Proprietary 
Limited (JUCSAH) 

ReJe,- to the following notes in the financial 
statements that ,-elate to this key audit matter: 

• Xote 1.1 relating to the accounting
policies for im•estments in associates.

• I\'ote 2 relating to investments in
associates. and

• Note 14 relating the gain on
empowerment tmnsaction.

As part of the formation of the Multichoice 
Group Limited, MultiChoice Group Limited 

We obtained an understanding of the 
empowerment transaction by performing the 
following procedures 

• Inspecting the share issue agreement
entered into between MCSAH and
Phuthuma Nathi confirming that 7.5
million ordinary shares were allocated
to Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF)
Limited, and

• Recalculating the percentage allocated
to Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF)
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allocated for a nominal consideration, an additional 5% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited ("MCSAH") to Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited and Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited (collectively "Phuthuma Nathi") as part of an empowerment transaction. Of this 5%, Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited, was allocated 1.67%. 
Subsequent to this allocation the Company's investment in MCSAH increased to 8.33%. Although the company holds less than 20% of the shares of MCSAH, it still exercised significant influence over MCSAH by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors and the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of MCSAH. This investment has been accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
In accordance with IAS 28 -Investments in 
associates and joint ventu1'es, paragraph 32, when an investor acquires an additional stake in an associate, any excess of the fair value of the identifiable assets of the associate over the consideration paid is recognised as a gain on bargain purchase. As the company paid a nominal consideration for the shares acquired, a gain on bargain purchase amounting to R 358 million has been recognised which is included in net profit, with a corresponding increase recognised to the investment in associate. The gain on bargain purchase was determined through a provisional purchase price allocation performed by management's valuation expert. These provisional amounts are subject to change based on the final assessment to be undertaken within the next 12 months and may result in a change to the gain recognised. The provisional nominal purchase price allocation for the additional stake is calculated using fair value information at the date when the additional interest is acquired. There is no step up or remeasurement of the previously held interest, because there is no change in the status of the investment. We considered this to be a matter of most significance in the current year audit due to the following: • magnitude of the investment in associate in relation to total assets, and• the notional purchase price allocationbeing subject to change based on thefinal assessment to be undertaken

Limited and confirmed this to be 1.67%. 
We performed the following procedures to assess the reasonableness of the nominal purchase price allocation: 

• Evaluating management's experts byassessing their competence, capability,and objectivity and noted no aspectsrequiring further consideration, and• With the assistance of our valuationexpertise we assessed thereasonableness of the provisionalpurchase price allocation and foundthe results to be within a reasonablerange.

We performed an independent recalculation of the accuracy of the valuation noting no material exceptions; and utilised our internal accounting specialists to assess the accounting applied for the transaction noting no material exceptions. 
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within the next 12 months. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled "Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019", which includes the Directors' Report, the Report of the audit committee and the Certificate by the company secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the other sections of the document titled "Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited & Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited Integrated annual report 2019", which is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor·s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 1..vill not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified aboYe and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whetherdue to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, andobtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for oneresulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design auditprocedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing anopinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness ofaccounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accountingand, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related toevents or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as agoing concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to drawattention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, ifsuch disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on theaudit eYidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's repo1t. However, future events orconditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, includingthe disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactionsand events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entitiesor business activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial statements. Weare responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remainsolely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate ·with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate \\�th them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited for 13 years. 

) �

'i 1cettatrc ,.rl-1cc,SQlct-yf( (6 �J�rPricewaterhous�oopers Inc. 1
Director: AM Motaung 
Registered Auditor 
Johannesburg 
27 June 2019 
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Operating expenses 6 (102)                 (96)                   
Operating loss (102)                 (96)                   

Gain on empowerment transaction 14 357,782          -                       
Share of equity accounted results of associate 2 193,416          520,484          

Profit before taxation 551,096          520,388          

Taxation 7 -                       -                       

Net profit for the year 551,096          520,388          

Earnings per share based on 22 500 000 issued shares R 24.50 R 23.13
There was no dilution in earnings per share in 2019 (2018: no dilution).

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.

15
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Net profit for the year 551,096          520,388          

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Share of changes in associate's other comprehensive income items 2 353,602          (35,770)           

Total comprehensive income 904,698          484,618          

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.

16
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 Share capital
 and premium

R'000 

 Other 
reserves *

R'000 

 Accumulated 
profit
R'000 

 Total
R'000 

Balance at 1 April 2017 225,000          124,138          1,146,634       1,495,772       

Net profit for the year -                       -                       520,388          520,388          
Other comprehensive income for the year (note 2) -                       (35,770)           -                       (35,770)           
Dividends (note 12) -                       -                       (433,334)         (433,334)         

Balance at 31 March 2018 225,000          88,368            1,233,688       1,547,056       

Balance at 1 April 2018 225,000          88,368            1,233,688       1,547,056       

Net profit for the year -                       -                       551,096          551,096          
Other comprehensive income for the year (note 2) -                       353,602          -                       353,602          
Dividends (note 12) -                       -                       (440,001)         (440,001)         

Balance at 31 March 2019 225,000          441,970          1,344,783       2,011,753       
Notes 3                      

* Other reserves consist of fair value reserve from gains and losses on available-for-sale investments, foreign currency
translation reserve, hedging reserve and share-based payment reserve.

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.

17
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Note
 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Cash flow from operating activities 451,195          434,393          
Cash generated from operations 8 11,194            1,059               
Dividends received from associate 2 440,001          433,334          

Cash utilised in financing activities (444,634)         (427,619)         
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders 12 (442,708)         (426,276)         
Repayment of preference shares 4 (68)                   -                       
Decrease in amounts owing to investors 5 (1,858)             (1,343)             

Movement in cash for the year 6,561               6,774               

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 20,552            13,778            

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 27,113            20,552            

The notes on pages 19 - 33 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.

18
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The annual financial statements are presented in accordance with, and comply with, International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations issued and
effective at the time of preparing these financial statements. The financial statements are prepared according to the historical
cost convention.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies. These estimates
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the reporting date as well as the
reported profit or loss for the year. Although estimates are based on management's best knowledge and judgement of
current facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly significantly.

1.1 Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the company exercises significant influence, but which it does not control or jointly control.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control
or joint control over those policies. Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence but not
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost,
and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. The company's investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

The compay applies the “cost of each purchase” method for step acquisitions of associates. With this method the cost of an 
associate acquired in stages is measured as the sum of the consideration paid for each purchase plus a share of the investee’s 
profits and other equity movements. Any other comprehensive income recognised in prior periods in relation to the previously 
held stake in the acquired associate is reversed through equity and a share of profits and other equity movements is also 
recorded in equity. Any acquisition-related costs are treated as part of the investment in the associate. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

When the company ceases to exercise significant influence, any retained interest is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in the carrying value recognised in the income statement. This fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequent accounting for the retained interest. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of the disposed associate are accounted for as if the company had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income
statement.

The company’s share of other comprehensive income and other changes in net assets of the associate is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. When the company's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any unsecured receivables, the company does not recognise any further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in
the carrying amount of the investment.

19
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Investments in associates are assessed for impairment where indicators of impairment are present. If impaired, the carrying
value of the company’s investment in the associate is adjusted to its recoverable amount and the resulting impairment loss is
included adjacent to  "Share of equity accounted results of associates" in the income statement.

Profits or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the company and its associate are recognised
in the company's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are eliminated, unless the loss provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency of the policies adopted by the company.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in the income statement.

1.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value which equals the cost or face value of
the asset. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks.

1.3 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

1.4 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the respective instrument.
Such assets consist of cash, equity instruments, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset, or a contractual
right to exchange financial instruments with another company on potentially favourable terms. Financial assets are
derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or has been transferred and the company has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on
the classification of the financial assets.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of
any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

The company assesses at each statement of financial position date, or earlier when such assessment is prompted, whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset may be impaired. If any such evidence exists, the amount of any impairment
loss is established as outlined below.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is 
based on historical data adjusted by forward looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for 
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee 
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts 
expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s understanding 
of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.5 Financial Liabilities

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the relevant instrument.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities are presented as current liabilities if payment is due or could be demanded within 12 months (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis.

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. However, financial
liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the company, are measured in accordance with the specific
accounting policies set out below.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) equity investments, or
(iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective
interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of
a financial liability.

Cumulative redeemable preference shares

The cumulative redeemable preference shares are classified as a financial liability. Financial liabilities at amotised cost are
initially recognised at fair value, excluding transactions costs, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Other payables

Accounts payable are presented as current liabilities since payment is due or could be demanded within 12 months (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.6 Tax
Tax expense

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, the related tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax 

The normal South African company tax rate applied for the year ending 31 March 2019 is 28% (2018: 28%). The current
income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial
position date in South Africa. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
where the applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to tax authorities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxation is provided on the taxable or deductible temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor the taxable profit or loss. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences (including carried forward tax
losses) can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities, and when the deferred income taxes relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable company, or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for South African entities as at 31 March 2019 have been calculated using the 28% (2018:
28%) tax rate.

There are no deferred tax assets or liabilities at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

1.7 Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the company's shareholders are recognised as a deduction to equity in the company's financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company's shareholders.

1.8 Dividend withholding tax

Dividend withholding tax is payable at a rate of 20% on dividends distributed to certain shareholders. This tax is not
attributable to the company but is collected and paid to the tax authorities on behalf of the shareholders.

1.9 Security transfer tax

Security transfer tax is provided at a rate of 0,25% on the transfer of listed or unlisted securities. Securities include shares in
companies.

1.10 Functional and presentation currency

The annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the company's functional and presentation
currency.

1.11 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainity

The company considers the fact that it holds less than 20% of the equity shares in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings 
Proprietary Limited and accounts for it as an associate as a significant judgement. This is due to the company's ability to 
exercise significant influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors to the board of directors of MultiChoice 
South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited and has the power to participate in it's financial and operating policy decisions.

1.12 New standards and interpretations

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted in 2019

n IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Effective 01 January 2018) Adoption date March 2019
This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39.  IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial assets 
and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classification 
categories: amortised cost and fair value.
The IASB has updated IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ to include guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial 
instruments. The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been 
relocated from IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, without change, except for financial liabilities 
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.
The company has assessed the impact of IFRS 9, and there is no impact expected on the 2019 financial statements. IFRS 9 
introduces a forward-looking impairment model, based on expected credit losses, to replace the incurred loss model in terms 
of IAS 39. In terms of IFRS 9, the company's impairment methodology will take forward-looking information, that has been 
demonstrated to be predictive of credit losses, into consideration.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

n Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle (Effective 01 January 2018) Adoption date March 2019
IAS 28 - Clarifies that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an associate or a joint 
venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

None of these standards or interpretations had a significant financial impact on the company.

Interpretations early adopted by the company

The company has not adopted any standards or interpretations early in the current year.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the company

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are not yet effective as at 31 March 2019. 
The company is currently evaluating the effects of these standards and interpretation, which have not been early adopted. 
The company has done an initial assessment and tentatively concluded that the implementation of these changes will not 
have a material impact on the financial statements.

There are no standards or amendments that have been issued and are not yet effective that are significant to the company.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

2 Investment in associate

Movement in carrying amount
At the beginning of the year       1,546,134       1,494,754 
Additional investment          357,782                       - 
Share of net profit          193,416          520,484 
Share of changes in other reserves          353,602 (35,770)         
Dividends received        (440,001)        (433,334)
At the end of the year 2,010,933     1,546,134     

Analysis of carrying amount
Cost       1,125,000       1,125,000 
Share of post-acquisition reserves          885,933          421,134 

2,010,933     1,546,134     

Reconciliation of carrying amount
 2019
R'm 

 2018
R'm 

Share of net assets of associate 858                 591                 
Goodwill on initial acquistion 955                 955                 
Fair value uplift on net identifiable assets 198                 -                  
Carrying amount 2,011             1,546             

As at the beginning of the financial period the company had 6.67% interest in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary 
Limited, a company incorporated and with its principal place of business in South Africa. The company increased its stake in 
Multichoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited through an additional allocation of 1.67% (valued at R358 million) of the 
company's issued share capital (10 000 000 shares @ R0.0001 per share) on 04 March 2019, to increase its stake to 8.33% as 
at the end of the financial period. 

The company recognised a once off gain on the empowerment transaction of R358 million in the current financial period for 
the additional 1.67% share allocation in the associate for nominal consideration (Refer to note 14).

Although the company holds less than 20% of the equity shares in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, it 
exercises significant influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint directors to the board of directors of that company 
and has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of MultiChoice South Africa Holdings 
Proprietary Limited.

There has been no objective evidence of impairment of the associate in the current or prior years.

The principal activities of MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited is the operation of video-entertainment and 
internet subscriber platforms. This is an unlisted investment that is accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Non-current assets 16,040,719    17,046,702   
Current assets 13,989,524    10,053,679   
Total assets 30,030,243   27,100,381   

Non-current liabilities 10,212,214   8,877,387     
Current liabilities 9,517,672     9,354,685     
Total liabilities 19,729,886   18,232,072   

Revenue     40,391,096 40,165,003   
Cost of providing services and sale of goods   (21,438,728)   (21,544,531)
Gross profit 18,952,368   18,620,472   
Other gains            18,773            18,489 
Selling, general and administration costs     (8,550,206)     (7,959,148)
Operating profit    10,420,935    10,679,813 
Finance income          310,006          320,841 
Foreign exchange differences     (1,541,151)          659,995 
Empowerment transaction     (2,564,000)                       - 
Impairment of equity-accounted investments           (60,470)                (201)
Share of equity-accounted investment results        (110,878)           (96,767)
Profit on sale of business                       -          117,756 
Finance costs        (644,094)        (644,929)
Profit before taxation 5,810,348     11,036,508   
Taxation     (2,344,083)     (3,247,202)
Net profit 3,466,265     7,789,306     
Other comprehensive income 1,727,731     (485,220)       
Total comprehensive income 5,193,996     7,304,086     

3 Share capital and premium 

Authorised
90 000 000 ordinary shares of R0.0000001 each * *

Issued (and fully paid up)
22 500 000 ordinary shares of R0.0000001 each * *
Share premium 225,000        225,000        

225,000        225,000        
* Amount less than R1 000.

Summarised financial information of unlisted associate as per its annual financial statements

As at 31 March 2019 the company’s associate had a contingent liability of R0 million (2018: R342.7 million) as an estimate of 
potential liabilities. 

26



191

PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

4 Long-term liabilities

-                     68                  
-                     68                  

Preference share liability reconciliation

Opening balance at 01 April 68                   68                  
Preference share redemptions (68)                 -                     
Closing balance at 31 March -                  68                  

5 Other payables

STT and VAT -                     9                     
Accrued expenses 103                -                     
Amount due to related party (refer note 9) 7,982             -                     
Ordinary shareholders for dividends (refer to note 11) 11,341           14,048           
Amounts owing to investors (refer to note 11) -                     1,858             
Related party payables (Refer to note 9) 8,225             4,867             
Other payables -                     70                  

           27,651            20,852 
6 Revenue

Variable rate, cumulative redeemable preference shares with issue price of R10 each

On 21 January 2019, the board of directors issued a  notice of redemption for the voluntary redemption of MIHH preference 
shares in the company as part of Naspers Limited distribution of it's entire issued share capital in MultiChoice Group Limited. 
The redemption price of R10 per MIHH Preference share was recommended by the board which was payable by the company 
to MIHH on the redemption date. The preference shares were redeemed on 27 February 2019 as part of Naspers Limited's 
unbundling and listing of MultiChoice Group Limited. The redemption value of R67 510 was paid to MIH Holdings Proprietary 
Limited on 05 March 2019.

At 31 March 2019, 0 (2018: 6,751) preference shares were in issue.  
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

6 Operating expenses

Audit fees                  102 96                  
                 102                    96 

7 Taxation

South African normal taxation- current year                       - -                     

Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory tax rate 28.0% 28.0%
Earnings from associate recognised post tax -28.0% -28.0%
Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.0%

No deferred tax has been recognised on the associate because dividends received from MultiChoice are exempt from tax as
the company has no intention to dispose of the investment.

The following items have been charged in arriving at operating profit:
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

8 Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation 551,096        520,388        
Adjusted for:
Share of equity accounted results of associate (193,416)       (520,484)       
Gain on empowerment transaction (357,782)       -                     

               (102)                  (96)
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables                  (68)                  (73)
Payables            11,364              1,228 

           11,194              1,059 

9 Related parties

Amounts due to related parties: Associate

Associate - MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited - refer to note 2
Subsidiary of associate - MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited

MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited (refer to Note 5)              8,225              4,867 
             8,225              4,867 

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Income 8,275             3,293             
Expenses (5,579)           (981)               
Other amounts received/(paid) 662                 (1,052)           

3,358              1,260 

MultiChoice South Africa Proprietary Limited has earned and incurred the following income and expenses related to the 
trading of Phuthuma Nathi Shares for the year ended 31 March 2019 in terms of the MOI requirements:

As per the memorandum of incorporation (MOI), Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited shall not earn any revenue 
and/or incur any expenses related to the trading of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited shares. MultiChoice South 
Africa Proprietary Limited shall incur all expenses related to the trading of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited shares.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Non-executive directors shareholdings

 2019 2018

Name
 Number of 
shares held 

 Number of 
shares held 

CP Mack *          134,276          134,276 
M Langa *                  221                  118 

         134,497          134,394 

Amounts due to related parties: 

Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Ltd              7,982                     -   
             7,982                       - 

10 Financial risk management

Foreign exchange and price risk

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, specifically credit risk and liquidity risk.  The company's overall 
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse 
effects on the company's financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the board of 
directors.

The company is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange or price risk.

Amounts due to Phuthuma Nathi (RF) Ltd relate to unclaimed dividend payments made on behalf of Phuthuma Nathi 
Investments 2 (RF) Ltd shareholders from Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Ltd unclaimed dividend float account 
administered by Singular services on the company's behalf. 

As per the MOI, directors of Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited shall not earn directors fees from either the company 
or any related company as compensation for their duties as Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited directors. 

* Shares were purchased by directors at the fair market value per share.

The directors of Phuthuma Nathi Investments (RF) Limited had the following interests in Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) 
Limited ordinary shares as at 31 March:

Consulting fees paid in 2019 by other related parties to Goldhawk Corporate Advisory amounted to R230 288 (2018: R84 645). 
The amount of R230 288 paid in 2019 relates to services rendered in the 2018 financial year. Goldhawk Corporate Advisory is 
a company owned by PO Goldhawk.

Transactions with non-executive directors
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

Credit Risk

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 27,113           20,552           

Liquidity risk

Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 9

Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Original 
'000

New 
'000

Current financial liabilities
Other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost            20,852            20,852 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the ability to close out 
market positions. In terms of the articles of association of the company, no limitation is placed on its borrowing capacity. All 
balances due equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The carrying amount of all financial instruments approximate their fair values.

Measurement category Carrying amount

On the date of initial application, 1 April 2018, the financial instruments of the company were as follows, with any 
reclassfications noted:

The company is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to it's cash. It places its cash mainly with major 
banking companies and high-quality institutions that have high credit ratings. The counterparties that are used by the 
company are evaluated on a continuous basis. As at 31 March 2019, the company held the majority of its cash and deposits 
with local banks with a 'Baa3' credit rating (Moody's International's long-term deposit rating).  At 31 March 2019, the 
maximum amount of credit risk that the company is exposed to is as follows:
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 2019
R'000 

 2018
R'000 

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 27,113           20,552           

12 Dividends per share

13 Events after the reporting period

During the year a dividend of 1 955.56 cents (2018: 1 925.93 cents) per ordinary share, totalling R440.0 million (2018: R433.3 
million) was declared and R435.7 million (2018: R424 million) was paid. R4.0 million (2018: R9.3 million) was unclaimed and 
not paid over to shareholders at balance sheet date, and is included in the ordinary shareholders for dividends amount 
disclosed in note 5. In addition, R7.0 million (2018: R2.3 million) was paid out to shareholders relating to prior year unclaimed 
dividends.

The Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 board recommended that a dividend of 2 222.22 (2019: 1955.56) cents per ordinary share 
be paid to the Phuthuma Nathi 2 shareholders. This will result in a total dividend received by Phuthuma Nathi 2 shareholders 
of R500 million.
Dividend tax of 20% per share of 444.44 cents will be withheld, with Phuthuma Nathi shareholders receiving a total net 
dividend of 1 777.78 cents per share, payable in the 2020 financial year (2019: 1 564.45 cents). All dividends proposed will be 
paid from the company's reserves and are subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGMs on 28 August 2019. If 
approved, these dividends will be payable to shareholders recorded in the share register on 28 August 2019 and paid on or 
about 6 September 2019.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash of R11.3 million (2018: R14 million) which relates to unclaimed dividends due to 
ordinary shareholders. The board of the company at this time has resolved not to prescribe unclaimed dividends.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash of R0 million (2018: R1.9 million) which relates to cash held on behalf of investors.
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PHUTHUMA NATHI INVESTMENTS 2 (RF) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2019

14 Gain on empowerment transaction

Net identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the 
notional purchase price allocation

 2019
R'000 

Tangible net assets 6,347,000      
Brand 7,500,000      
Customer Relationships     13,500,000 
Deferred tax liabilities -5,880,000    
Net identifiable assets 21,467,000   
1.67% fair value of net identifiable assets 357,783         
Consideration -1
Gain on empowerment transaction 357,782         

The following provisional purchase price allocation was performed in respect of the  additional 1.67% shareholding  given to 
the company to determine the gain recognised in the company's statement of profit and loss. These provisional amounts are 
subject to change based on the final assessment to be undertaken within the next 12 months and may thus result in a change 
to the gain on empowerment transaction recognised and disclosed below: 

Following the implementation of the Empowerment Transaction in the current financial year, MultiChoice Group Limited 
announced that it had recommended that Phuthuma Nathi shareholders would have the opportunity to exchange 25% of 
their Phuthuma Nathi shares for MultiChoice Group Limited shares (before the issue of the additional 5% MultiChoice South 
Africa Holdings Proprietary Limitedshares to the Phuthuma Nathi companies). This is subject to board and shareholder 
approvals. As at the reporting date the company has not recognised any assets or liabilities or movements in equity balances 
in respect of the proposed share exchange.

On 4 March 2019, Naspers Limited unbundled its entire investment in the video entertainment segment to its existing 
shareholders resulting in a change in the group's ownership from MIH Holdings Limited to MultiChoice Group Limited. As part 
of the unbundling the company was given an additional 1.67% stake in MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited 
for nominal consideration.
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NOTICE CONVENING THE PN2 SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting and/or 
the following resolutions, please contact Singular Services on, the PN2 Shareholder help line at 0860 116 226 
or consult your banker, legal advisor or other professional advisor immediately.

All terms used in this Notice of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, including in the resolutions proposed hereunder, 
shall, unless the context otherwise requires or they are otherwise defined herein, have the meanings attributed to 
them in the Circular to which this Notice is attached. Terms defined in one proposed resolution, and used in another 
proposed resolution, shall bear the same defined meanings in both such resolutions.

PN2 SHAREHOLDERS ARE REMINDED THAT:

• if a PN2 Shareholder wishes to vote on the resolutions to be considered at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting, they 
may either: 

 – contact the Call Centre on 0860 116 226 during 07:00 to 18:00 on weekdays (excluding public holidays) to 
advise how they wish to cast their votes (or abstain from casting their votes) at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting 
and thereafter Singular Services will on behalf of the PN2 Shareholders cast their votes (or abstain from 
casting their votes) in accordance with their instructions; or

 – make use of the online voting platform to indicate how they wish their PN2 Shares to be voted at the PN2 
Shareholders’ Meeting (or to abstain from casting a vote on their PN2 Shares) and thereafter Singular Services 
will on behalf of the PN2 Shareholders cast their votes (or abstain from casting their votes) in accordance with 
their online instructions. This online facility is free of charge and is available on the internet. To make use  
of the voting facility, PN2 Shareholders are required to register for the service, via the EESE Website at  
www.EESE.co.za. You will use your username and password to login to the voting platform. PN2 Shareholders 
will also be able to view and download a user guide explaining how to use the online process on the Company’s 
website and the EESE Website at www.EESE.co.za. The online voting platform will be available from 09:00 on 
Wednesday, 25 September 2019 until 17:00 on Friday, 18 October 2019; or

 – advise Singular Services in accordance with their mandate if they wish to attend or participate at the PN2 
Shareholders’ Meeting and Singular Services will issue the necessary letter of representation to them to attend 
the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting; and

• in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending or participating in a meeting of Shareholders 
must present reasonably satisfactory identification to the Chairperson, and the Chairperson must be reasonably 
satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote has been reasonably verified. Accordingly, all 
PN2 Shareholders will be required to provide identification reasonably satisfactory to the Chairperson of the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting in order to participate in and vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. Satisfactory 
forms of identification include valid identity documents or cards, driver’s licences and passports.

A. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING OF PN2 SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given to the PN2 Shareholders recorded in the Register of the Company on Friday, 13 September 2019 
(being the record date for receiving this notice as determined by the PN2 Board), that the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting 
will be held at the offices of PN2 at MultiChoice City, 144 Bram Fischer Drive, Ferndale, Randburg, South Africa 
on Monday, 21 October 2019 at 12:00, for the purpose of considering and if deemed fit, passing with or without 
modification, the resolutions set out below.

Phuthuma Nathi Investments 2 (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2006/036320/06)
Ordinary Short Code: EXPN2

(“PN2” or the “Company”)
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B. RECORD DATE

The PN2  Board determined that, in accordance with the requirements of section  62(3)(a), read with section  59 
of the Companies Act, the Voting  Record  Date, being the date on which PN2 Shareholders must be recorded 
in the Register in order to be eligible to attend and vote at the PN2  Shareholders’  Meeting, will be Friday,  
11 October 2019. Accordingly, the last day to trade PN2 Shares in order to be recorded in the Register to attend and 
vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting will be Friday, 11 October 2019.

RESOLUTIONS

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1

Approval of the Scheme

“RESOLVED THAT, for purposes of the Listings Requirements, the Companies Act, the Takeover Regulations and 
for all other purposes and subject to the Scheme becoming unconditional in accordance with its terms (save for any 
Scheme Condition Precedent relating to this resolution being passed), the following matters are hereby approved in 
all respects:

• pursuant to section 115(2)(a) of the Companies Act, the Scheme of Arrangement in terms of section 114 of the 
Companies Act (set out in the Circular to PN2 Shareholders dated Monday, 16 September 2019), proposed by the 
PN2 Independent Board between PN2 and the PN2 Shareholders on the terms and conditions of the Circular 
(including as such may be varied thereunder), in terms of which, inter alia, if such Scheme of Arrangement 
becomes operative, PN1 will acquire the entire issued ordinary share capital of PN2 (save for the PN2 Shares held 
by Dissenting Shareholders that do not withdraw their respective demands made in terms of sections 164(5) to 
(8) of the Companies Act or that do not allow any offers by the Company to them in terms of section 164(11) of 
the Companies Act to lapse, as more fully described in paragraph 6.6 of the attached Circular) in consideration 
for the Scheme Consideration; and

• subject to the satisfaction or waiver (as the case may be) of all of the Scheme Conditions Precedent, the 
PN2 Delisting.”

Voting requirement

In terms of the Companies Act and the PN2 MOI, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for Special 
Resolution 1 to be adopted is 75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by all PN2 Shareholders (whether 
present in person or by proxy at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting).

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2

Proposed amendments to the PN2 MOI

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to obtaining the written approval of MIHH to make the proposed amendments, the 
conformed copy of the PN2 MOI, placed before this meeting and initialled by the Chairperson for purposes of 
identification in terms of which, inter alia:

• references to “MIH Holdings Limited” and “MIHH” are deleted and replaced with references to “MultiChoice 
Group Limited” and “MCG” where appropriate;

• all references to “MIHH Preference Shares” and “MIHH Preference Share Subscription Agreement” are deleted as 
the MIHH Preference Shares have been redeemed;

• the authorised share capital of PN2 is amended by cancelling the MIHH Preference Shares and deleting 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 titled “Rights and privileges attaching to the MIHH Preference Shares” in its entirety;

• the definition of “Trading Market” is deleted and all references thereto deleted;

• definitions and appropriate provisions are included in order to allow for the MCG Offer and to facilitate the 
Scheme; and

• certain amendments are made in order to align the PN2 MOI with legislative and regulatory updates,

be and is hereby approved and adopted as the PN2 MOI.”

Voting requirement

In terms of the Companies Act and the PN2 MOI, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for Special 
Resolution 2 to be adopted is 75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by all PN2 Shareholders (whether 
present in person or by proxy at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting). In addition, the PN2 MOI currently requires that 
MIHH and MultiChoice South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited must consent to any amendments to the PN2 
MOI, which consent was obtained at the time of the posting of this Notice convening the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.
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C. GENERAL

Electronic Participation

Shareholders may participate in the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting by way of a teleconference call and, if they wish to 
do so:

• must contact the Company Secretary (by email at the address: Donna.Dickson@multichoice.co.za), by no later 
than 12:00 on Friday, 11 October 2019 in order to obtain a pin number and dial-in details for that conference call;

• will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification by prior arrangement with the Company 
Secretary; and

• will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for their telephone call to participate in the 
PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting,

provided that Shareholders will not be able to vote telephonically at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Identification

In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending or participating in a meeting of shareholders 
must present satisfactory identification and the person presiding at the meeting must be reasonably satisfied that 
the right of any person to participate in and vote has been reasonably verified. Accordingly, all PN2 Shareholders will 
be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification to the Chairperson of the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting in 
order to participate in and vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.  

Quorum and Voting Record Date

A quorum for the purposes of considering Special Resolution 1 (Approval of the Scheme), above, shall consist of at 
least three PN2 Shareholders present and sufficient persons being present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of 
all voting rights that are entitled to be exercised on Special Resolution 1 above.

A quorum for the purposes of considering Special Resolution 2 (Amendment of the PN2 MOI), above, shall consist of 
at least three PN2 Shareholders present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 0.5% of all voting rights that are entitled 
to be exercised on Special Resolution 2 above.

The time and date on which PN2 Shareholders must be recorded as such in the Register maintained by Singular 
Systems for the purposes of being entitled to attend, participate in and vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is 
17:00 on Friday, 11 October 2019. Accordingly, the last day to trade PN2 Shares in order to be recorded in the 
Register of PN2 Shareholders to vote at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting will be Friday, 11 October 2019.

Voting procedures

PN2 has a large number of shareholders and it is not possible for all of them to attend the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting. 
In view of this fact and because voting on the resolutions at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting is regarded as of high 
importance, putting all the resolutions to a vote on a poll takes account of the wishes of those PN2 Shareholders who 
are unable to attend the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting in person. A vote on a poll also takes into account the number 
of PN2 Shares held by each PN2 Shareholder, which the PN2 Board believes is a more democratic procedure. All the 
resolutions will be proposed to be put to vote on a poll.

D. APPRAISAL RIGHTS FOR DISSENTING SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with section 164 of the Companies Act, at any time before Special Resolution 1 as set out in this Notice 
is voted on, a Shareholder may give the Company a written notice objecting to such special resolution.

Within 10 Business Days after the Company has adopted Special Resolution 1, the Company must send a notice that 
such special resolution has been adopted to each Shareholder who:

• gave the Company a written notice of objection as contemplated above; and

• has neither withdrawn that notice nor voted in support of Special Resolution 1.

A Shareholder may demand that the Company pay the Shareholder the fair value for all of the PN2 Shares held by 
that person if:

• the Shareholder has sent the Company a written notice of objection;

• the Company has adopted Special Resolution 1; and

• the Shareholder voted against Special Resolution 1 and has complied with all of the procedural requirements of 
section 164 of the Companies Act.



254

The right to receive such fair value is subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, including section 164(9).

A copy of section 164 of the Companies Act is set out in Annexure 6 to the Circular to which this Notice is attached. 
Further detail regarding the process and consequences of a Shareholder exercising its Appraisal Rights are set out 
in paragraph 6.6 of the Circular to which this Notice is attached.

Other business

To transact such other business as may be transacted at the PN2 Shareholders’ Meeting.

By order of the PN2 Board

DM Dickson
Company Secretary

16 September 2019

Business Address and Registered Office

MultiChoice City

144 Bram Fischer Drive

Ferndale, Randburg

South Africa

2196

Trading helpdesk and Transfer Secretaries to PN2

Singular Systems Proprietary Limited

(Registration number 2002/001492/07)

25 Scott Street

Waverley

Johannesburg 

South Africa, 2090

(PO Box 785261, Sandton, 2146)
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